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> POWERING THE FUTURE




With the flip of a switch, RELIABLE electricity lights up
a kitchen in New Hampshire and a family begins their day.

With the touch of a button, a gas furnace in Connecticut
takes the chill out of the air as the local firehouse prepares
a Saturday morning breakfast for the COMMUNITY.

And with the first rays of the sun streaming through

the sky in Massachusetts, solar panels supported by
Northeast Utilities (NU]-sponsored research begin to
convert light to SUSTAINABLE energy.




Each morning represents a FUTURE OF PROMISE

for the more than 2 million customers we serve every day.

> THIS FUTURE IS OURS TO DEFINE




>TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS,

EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND BUSINESS PARTNERS

Energy, Growth, Leadership: In 2007, these three simple
wards became our vision for the future. It is a future where
Northeast Utilities continues to provide the region with
reliable energy as it has done for much of the past century.
It is a future where our growth is helping us deliver
energy solutions for our customers and above-average
returns for our shareholders. It is a future where we continue
our leadership role in the region and provide our employees
the opportunity to develop into tomorrow’s leaders. This vision
is already delivering tangible results for our shareholders
and customers and is enabling us to define our future.

2007 was a good year. Total shareholder return was

14 percent, the result of an 11 percent share price
increase and a 3 percent dividend yield. These results are
ahead of our regulated utility peers and followed a

47 percent total return in 2006. We continue to invest in our
future and that of the region by aggressively implementing
a $4 billion capital program to upgrade our system. It is
this financial stability and growth that enables NU to
provide sound solutions to our customers’ energy needs
and the returns shareholders expect.

QPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE
THE FOUNDATION OF SUCCESS

Disciplined execution of our day-to-day operations and
a diligent focus on our business plan were both critical
to our successful performance in 2007,

We completed the first full year of operation at the Northern
Wood Power project in Portsmouth, NH. This renewable
wood-burning plant is dispatching power below market
prices while injecting millions of dollars in additional
revenue into local economies.

Yankee Gas’ new liquefied natural gas storage facility is
completing its first winter of operation. For customers, the
1.2 billion cubic foot facility gives Yankee Gas greater flexibility
to manage its natural gas supply portfolio, allowing the
company to buy natural gas in periods of low demand and
lower cost and use it during the coldest days of winter when
prices are usually much higher. This past winter the company
saw demand for natural gas reach a near-record high — its
secend highest send-out day. Yankee Gas was able to use
the supplies from the LNG tank rather than buying high cest
gas on the spot market.

We continue to achieve recognition as a leader in new
transmission construction and operation. In the first year
of operation of the 345 kilovolt [kV] Bethel-to-Norwalk
transmission line we reduced congestion charges by
$150 million — creating tangible reliability and cost benefits
far customers. There are more customer benefits to come
as we are ahead of schedule for the construction of the
49-mile Middletown-to-Norwalk transmission line and on
schedule for the Glenbrook Cables project and the Long
Island Replacement Cable project, an 11-mile, 138 kV cable
system linking Norwalk, CT, and Northport, NY.

In addition to our construction projects, we were recently
recognized by the North American Electric Reliability
Corporation Audit Team for our precise and excellent
documentation and preparation following their extensive
review of our transmission system.

At our operating companies, the distribution system is seeing
significant improvements in retiability as a result of our
investments. In addition, our customer service integration
project is well under way and will be rolled out later this
year. We opened the North Call Center in Manchester, NH,
and now can take calls from anywhere in our service
territaries — routing them through either our North or
South centers. Improved computer and customer service
systems will enable us to continue our efforts to ensure

a positive customer experience with every contact.

POWERING THE FUTURE
INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LEADS THE WAY

2007 zarnings from NU's transmission assets represented

a third of our total earnings. As we continue to invest in new
transmission, we expect this segment will continue to grow
and represent about S0 percent of our earnings within the next
five years. We have industry-leading expertise that has enabled
NU to comptlete projects ahead of schedule and under budget.
There is an urgent need for new transmission in our region,
and we are investing billions of dollars to meet this need.

Our partnership with National Grid to build the New England
East-West Solution [NEEWS] will improve reliability and
provide a strong transmission backbone for moving power
throughout the region. This series of transmission projects
will increase Connecticut’s ability to import power and
unlock access to renewable power generation,




Our growth is helping us provide energy solutions for our
customers and the returns that our shareholders expect.

Charles W. Shivery

We recognize there is worldwide demand for transmissicn
facilities similar to those we are building, requiring us to
form strategic partnerships to complete our ambitious
construction plan.

At the end of 2007, NU entered an agreement with Quanta
Services to provide labor for $750 million of our transmis.sion
construction projects. We also continue to maintain a rebust
and diversified program to procure parts with suppliers
from as far away as Japan, Fintand and France, as well 3s
manufacturers in the United States.

Continuing investments in our distribution businesses
provide steady returns and strengthen the electrical systam
so vital to our economy and communities. [n 2007 our
distribution capital investments totaled $500 million acruss
our three-state territory.

PSNH isin the early planning stage for a $250 million Clezn Air
project, a multi-year investment in state-of-the-art technclogy,
to reduce mercury emissions at its Merrimack Station.

In Connecticut CL&P has submitted proposals to build 265 MW
of regulated peaking generation — the first such opportunity
since deregulation.

LEADING WITH ENERGCY

New England faces several energy challenges in the ne«t
decade. As with many regions of the United States, there
is growing demand for power and the unfartunate reality

of high fuel prices. Energy efficiency and conservation rnust
be the first measures to address rising demand. Throuc h its
award-winning, demand side management programs and its
policy partnerships with groups like Environment Northeast,
the Northeast Utilities companies continue to take a very
active leadership role in this area. As the region’s power
needs continue to expand, so does society’s envirenmental
concern; renewable power standards and greenhouse cas
emission reduction targets exist in every state throughout
New England. We continue to actively work with policy
makers and other utilities throughout the region to address
the energy issues of today as we develop solutions

for tomorrow.
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WHERE WE LIVE AND WORK

SUPPORTING OUR COMMUNITIES

NU employees help provide reliable power in New Hampshire,
Massachusetts, Connecticut and across the region. It's
important to remember that this is more than just our service
territory, it is also our home. That is why the Northeast Utilities
Foundation and our employee volunteers maintain a strong
focus on giving back to communities where we live and work.

In 2007 the NU Foundation gave more than $800,000 to local
communities and made a $1 million commitment to the
Connecticut Science Center. The Foundation also was a key
contributar to a $2 million grant to fund an alternative energy
research initiative at the University of Connecticut School
of Engineering. Ta enhance the Foundation’s ongoing role,
we added $3 million te its original $25 million endowment.

In addition to the role our Foundation plays, our operating
companies added more than $2.7 million in charitable
contributions to local erganizations across our three-state
territory, and our employees raised millions of dotlars
more for charities.

THE PATH FORWARD

Qur plan is clear and our objectives achievable. As a
management team and as a company, we will continue
to define the future without losing focus on the pressing
needs of today. That is the essence of Energy, Growth
and Leadership.

Sincerely,

{
Charles W. Shivery

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

March b, 2008




NU uses a helicopter to string high-volfage lines over a new
175-foot-tail steel monopole in Wallingford, Connecticut as
part of a2 $1.4 billion transmission line project running from
~1 Middletown to Norwatk, Connecticut. Using the helicopter

~‘reduces the impact of line construction en the environment

and residents living near the transmission right of way.




> RELIABILITY: PROVIDING ENERGY WHEN YOU NEED IT

What is reliable energy? From a customer’s perspective,

it is trusting that the light will turn on when you flip the
switch, or that the alarm clock will wake you on time eazh
morning. But reliable energy goes well beyond these everyday
conveniences — it is essential to our economy and our vray
of life, now and in the future. As New England’s largest utility
system, it is the most important measure of our success.

That's why — over the next few years — we will invest

%46 billion in new distribution, transmission and generation
projects to meet the region’s growing energy needs aswe
prepare for the future. In 2007 we completed $500 millian
in upgrades to the distribution systems of our three electric
companies — CL&P, PSNH and WMECO — and saw signifizant
improvements in reliability. We also have made significant
progress on the nearly $2 billion investment in the construction
of new major transmission lines in southwest Connecticut.
The Yankee Gas LNG facility entered its first winter of
operation, and we expect customers to see reduced natural
gas costs in the coming years.

Beyond reliability, a stronger grid saves our customers
millions of dollars by reducing congestion costs and
connecting them to competitively priced power from sources
around the region. The Bethel-to-Norwalk project, completing
its first year of operation, has already reduced congestion

charges by $150 miltion — nearly 45 percent of the project’s
total cost. The much larger Middletown-to-Norwalk
transmission project, already 70 percent complete, will serve
even more customers and deliver additional savings. The
Glenbrook Cables project and the Long Island Replacement
Cable project will be completed in the second half of 2008
and will extend the benefits of a stable source of electricity
to southwest Connecticut and the region.

We have also partnered with National Grid and the New
England Independent System Operator to identify a group

of projects that collectively resolve five significant
transmission issues throughout the region. Known as the
New England East-West Solution [NEEWSI, these projects
will provide stronger interconnections across Massachusetts,
Rhode Island and Connecticut. Planning for these projects
is currently under way.

Our diligent efforts to improve reliability have been recognized
throughout the industry and our transmission build-out is
ranked among the nations’ Top 5 by the Edison Electric Institute.

As we look ahead, we remain focused on providing an energy
infrastructure that wilt support continued growth in the
Northeast and on maintaining a role of national leadership
in the delivery of reliable energy.




> SUPPORTING OUR COMMUNITIES

A STRATEGIC BUSINESS INVESTMENT

The communities we serve are more than our places of work —
they are where we live. The same NU employees who keep
the lights on during the harshest of winters and through
driving rain storms in the summers are alse good neighbaors,
the coaches of our local littte league teams and members

of many volunteer organizations in the towns where they live,
Giving back te cemmunities is second nature for NU and

its employees.

Last year, the Northeast Utilities Foundation gave more than
$800,000 to local community initiatives, as well as a

$1 million grant to the Connecticut Science Center to fund
the Center's physical science gallery. The Foundation provided
key funding to support an alternative energy research initiative
at the University of Connecticut School of Engineering. This
funding will be used to pioneer new energy technologies
and create a training ground for students who will become
part of tomorrow’s energy workforce.

We reatfirmed our commitment to the Foundation's mission
last year by adding $3 million to the original endowment of
$25 million, which ensures our future investment in economic
development apportunities, environmental stewardship
and social responsibility initiatives throughout our region.
In addition, our operating companies collectively gave
more than $2.7 million to local organizations and initiatives
while our employees raised millions mare for local charities.
Northeast Utilities is also proud to say itis the largest

taxpayer in many of the hundreds of communities in our
service territories. Last year NU supported its communities
and states with more than $120 million in tax revenue.

Beyond financial support, our commitment to community
may best be demonstrated in other tangible ways — our
active support of events like the Special Clympics of
Connecticut Winter Games. Several key events of the games
are hosted at CL&P's Simsbury Service Center and staffed
by dozens of employee volunteers. The annual United Way
Day of Caring drew more than 500 NU employee volunteers
last year, who spent the day performing hands-on tasks —
making repairs at group homes, buiilding handicapped
accecss ramps, preparing meals and visiting with senior
citizens. We also provide classroom presentations on
electrical safety and energy efficiency at elementary schools
throughout the regien.

Our employees are mentors, scout leaders and volunteer
firefighters. We are proud of their efforts and encourage
them through programs like our Volunteer of the Year award
and Dollars for Doers, which recognizes the outstanding
cammunity service efforts of individual employees and
donatas funding to deserving organizations on his or her behalf.

Investing — literally and figuratively — in the communities
where we live and work is a gratifying part of sur mission,
It is sound business practice and the right thing to do.




NU's $1 million grant to the Connecticut Science Center will allow students
to develop their interest in science as they become our future leaders.




As the world strives to reduce ils collective greenhouse gas erpissions, |

New Hampshire's forests have the palential to offer another important
advantage: a local rencwable fuel source for electricily generaftion.

As a founder and koy parlicipant in The Wood Encrgy Advisory Roundtable,
PSNH works (o onsure thal the stale’s forests are protected while fulfilling
this important new purpese.




> WORKING TOWARD A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

QOur commitment to supporting the region’s growth requires
an equally strong commitment to implementing sustainable
solutions that meet the energy needs of today while praotecting
valuable resources for tomorrow, Achieving this balance
requires an increased reliance on renewable energy sou-ces,
cleaner methods of energy production and sound strategies
for energy efficiency and conservation. ;
Northeast Utilities is continuing to take noteworthy strides
toward a sustainable energy future. PSNH's Northern Wood
project, one of the country’s largest renewable energy
projects, completed its first year of operation. By replacing

a 50 megawatt, coal-fired boiler at Schiller Statien with

an envirenmentally friendly wood-burning system, it
allowed for the economic production of cleaner electric
energy from a renewable resource. PSNH worked witk.
New Hampshire environmental and forestry leaders on
several initiatives to help ensure a continuous supply

of wood from New Hampshire's forests while preserving
the forest’s benefits for future generations.

Renewable energy options such as wind and solar power
are now available to Connecticut customers through
CTCleanEnergyQptions, a program that enables customers
to purchase their energy from a clean energy provider.
PSNH encourages renewable energy investment with
special incentives to customers who own a generator that
uses a renewable energy source. WMECO customers wil.
benefit from the company's support of research and
development of renewable energy options and exploration
of projects to demonstrate the effectiveness and
environmental value of solar energy.
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Energy efficiency and conservation programs are key
elements of a sustainable future. In conjunction with the
Connecticut Energy Efficiency Fund, the company's award-
winning conservation and load management programs
continue to deliver tangible benefits to customers. In focusing
our attention on the future, we're bringing new energy-
saving innovations to the market.

Energy efficiency incentive pregrams helped NU custormers
save nearly $370 million in electric energy costs and eliminate
more than 1.7 million tons of carbon dioxide emissions over
the past five years. With the help of PSNH, Southeastern
Container, a manufacturer and supplier of plastic bottles to
Coca-Cola, reduced energy consumption by 1% percent and
saved $500,000 annually.

In Connecticut, CL&P worked with Stew Leonard’s stores
on a seven-year, energy efficiency program for its three
Connecticut tocations. Over the lifetime of the new technology,
the stores will save 85 million kilowatt hours of electricity
and avoid more than 46,000 tons of carbon dioxide emissions.

In demonstrating its cammitment to the search for new
solutions, NU sponsars the Northeast Energy Efficiency
Partnership Summit, an annual meeting of leaders from
multiple sectors to demonstrate the value of energy efficiency
measures in supporting the region’s economic growth and
environmental goals. By assuming leadership roles like
this, and through partnerships with advocacy grougs like
Environment Northeast, the Northeast Sustainable Energy
Association and CERES, the Northeast Utilities companies
remain on the leading edge of developing sustainable
solutions for our energy future.




A FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

[Thotssands of dollars, except share infarmation and statistical data) 2007 2006
Operating Revenues $5,822,226 $6,877,687
Operating Income $ 539,481 $ 23597
Net Income $ 246,483 $ 470,578
Fully Diluted Earnings per Common Share $ 1.59 $ 3.05
Fully Diluted Common Shares Outstanding (Weighted Average) 155,304,361 154,146,669
Dividends per Share % 0.775 $ 0.725
Sales of Electricity [Regulated Retail, KWH-millians) 36,142 35,620
Electric Customers [Average) 1,897,944 1,885,729
Gas Customers [Average) 202,743 199,377
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net $7,229.945 $6,242,186
Market Capitalization as of Year End $4,855,548 $4,343,205
Share Price as of Year End $ 31N $ 2816

DIVIDENDS PAID / SHARE Fur the Years Ended December 31,

CLOSING SHARE PRICE A Yewr fnd

07 I 50.775
04 IR §0.725
o5 N ©0.675

o4 S $0.625

03 H 0.575

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE

o7 1 I, 531.31
06 1 NG 28.15

05 I, $19.69

04 H I 1585

03 1 520.17

{Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2002 in Northeast Utilities [NU| common shares, S&P 500 index

and S&P Electric Utilities Index with all dividends reinvasted)
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Dscember 31,

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
S&P Electric Utilities $100 $124 $157 $185 $228 $280
NU Common $100 $128 $123 $143 $212 $242
S&P 500 $100 $129 $143 $150 $173 $183
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MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with
our consolidated {inancial statements and the related notes included in
this annual report. References in this exhibit to "NU” or "the company”
are to Northeast Utilities, and the terms "we,” "us” and “our” refer to
NU. All per share amounts are reported on a {ully diluted basis.

The only commeon equity securities that are publicly traded are common
shares of NU. The earnings per share [EPS] of each segment herein-
after discussed does not represent a direct legal interest in the assets
and liabilities allocated to such segment but rather represents a direct
interest in our assels and liabilities as a whote. EPS by segment is a
measure not recognized under accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (GAAP] that is calculated by dividing
the net income or loss of each segment by the average fully diluted
NU cormmon shares outstanding for the period. We use this measure
to provide segmented earnings guidance and believe that this mea-
surement is useful to investors to evaluate the actual financial perfor-
mance and contribution of our business segments. This non-GAAP
measure should not be considered as an alternative to our consoli-
dated fully diluted EPS determined in accordance with GAAP as an
indicator of our operating performance.

The discussion below also references our earnings and EPS excluding
non-cash, negative mark-to-market impacts on our competitive busi-
ness, as well as charges from two significant, discrete impacts that
occurred in 2006, which are the gain from the sale of cur competitive
generation business and a reduction in income tax expense pursuant
to a Private Letter Ruling [PLR] issued by the Internal Revenue Service
[IRS). We also discuss our operating cash flows excluding tax payments
related to the sale of our cornpetitive generation business. We use
these non-GAAP measures to more fully explain and compare the 2007
and 2006 results without the impact of these nen-cash or non-recurring
items. These measures should not be considered as an alternative to
our reported net income/lloss), EPS or operating cash flows determined

in accordance with GAAP as an indicator of our operating performance.

Financial Condition and Business Analysis

Executive Summary
The following items in this executive summary are explained in more
detail in this annual report:

Results, Strategy and Outlook:

 In 2007, we earned $246.5 million, or $1.59 par share, compared
with earnings of $470.6 million, or $3.05 per share, in 2006. Results
for 2006 included a significant, after-tax gain of $314 million,
or $2.03 per share, associated with the sale of our competitive
generation business and a reduction in income tax expense at The
Connecticut Light and Power Company [CL&P] of $74 million, or
$0.48 per share, pursuant to a PLR received from the iRS.

* Our regulated companies, which consist of CL&P, Public Service
Company of New Hampshire [PSNH], Western Massachusetts
Electric Company [WMECO] and Yankee Gas Services Company
[Yankee Gas], earned $228.7 million, or $1.47 per share, in 2007,
including $146.2 millicn, or $0.94 per share, in the distribution and
generation segment twhich includes the gas distribution segment
of Yankee Gas| and $82.5 million, or $0.53 per share, in the trans-
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mission segment. In 2006, our distribution and generation segments
earned $197.5 million, or $1.28 per share. Excluding the aforemen-
tioned reduction in CL&P's tax expense, the distribution and generation
segment earned $123.5 million, or $0.80 per share, in 2006. The
transmission segments of CL&P, PSNH and WMECO earned

$59.8 million, or $0.39 per share, in 2006.

NU Enterprises, Inc. [NU Enterprises] earned $11.7 million in 2007,
or $0.08 per share, compared with earnings of $211.3 million, or
$1.37 per share, in 2006. Excluding NU Enterprises’ portion of the
gain on the sale of our cumpétitive generation business in 2006 and
the negative mark-to-market impacts of $3.8 million and $14.8 million
in 2007 and 2006, respectively, NU Enterprises earnad $15.5 million,

_or $0.10 per share in 2007, and incurred losses of $80.8 million, or

$0.52 per share, in 2006,

NU parent and other companies earned $6.1 million, or $0.04 per
share, in 2007, compared with earnings of $2 million, or $0.01 per
share, in 2006.

In 2007, Yankee Gas completed the construction and the initial filling
of a $108 millien, liquefied naturat gas [LNG] storage and production
facility in Waterhury, Connecticut, which is capable of storing the
equivalent of 1.2 bef of natural gas.

CL&P has currently completed the majority of each of its three
major transmission projects presently under construction in
southwest Connecticut. Two of those projects are expected to be
completed in 2008 and the third in 2009.

We project consolidated 2008 earnings of between $1.65 per share
and $1.90 per share, including earnings of between $1.05 per share
and $1.15 per share at our distributien and generation segments
and between $0.75 per sharé and $0.85 per share at our transmission
segments. We also project breakeven results in our remaining
competitive businesses and a loss of between $0,10 per share and
$0.15 per share for NU parent and other companies.

We project that we can achieve an average compounded annual EPS
growth rate of between 8 percent and 11 percent for the period 2008
through 2012, with 2007 EPS of $1.59 as the base year. This growth
rate assumes that we meet our capital investment and rate base
projections and that we receive appropriate regulatery approvals,
allowed returns and timely rate treatment for those investments.

Legislative, Legal and Regulatory ltems:
¢ On January 2B, 2008, the Connecticut Department of Public Utility

Control (DPUC] approved $77.8 million, or 11.7 percent, and $20.1
million, or 2.4 percent, in annualized increases over CL&P's current
distribution rates, effective on February 1, 2008 and 2009, respectively,
which also represents a 0.9 percent increase on a total rates basis
over December 2007 rates and a 0.4 percent increase on a total rates
basis over February 2008 rates, respectively. The rate decision
included a regulatory return on equity (Regulatory ROE] of 9.4 percent,
which was significantly lower than CL&P's requested amount, and the
approval of substantially all of CL&P's requested distribution segment
capital program of $294 million for 2008 and $288 million for 2009.
Due to the disallowance of certain operating expenses in rates,

we project CL&P’'s Regulatory ROE for 2008 to be lower than the
authorized amount.




= On June 29, 2007, the DPUC approved a rate case settlement
agreement between Yankee Gas, the Connecticut Office of Consumer
Counsel [OCC) and the DPUC's Prosecutorial Division that resulted
in an annualized increase of $22.1 million, or 4.2 percent, in Yankee
Gas's base rates effective on July 1, 2007. The settlernent agreement,
among other terms, provided for recovery of costs associated with
Yankee Gas's LNG storage and production facility.

¢ On May 25, 2007, the New Hampshire Public Utilities Commissien
[NHPUC) approved a distribution and transmission rate case settle-
ment agreement between PSNH, the NHPUC staff and the New
Hampshire Office of Consumer Advocate (OCA). The settlement
agreement allowed for a $37.7 miltion estimated annualized rate
increase beginning on July 1, 2007, aleng with the previous $24.5
million annualized temporary distribution rate increase that was
effective on July 1, 2006. The $37.7 million includes a one-year
revenue increase of approximately $9 million related to additional
revenues to recoup the difference between the temporary and per-
manent rates for the period of July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007.
An additional delivery revenue increase of $3 million took effect on
January 1, 2008, with a final estimated rate decrease of approxi-
mately $9 million scheduled for July 1, 2008. The setilement also
provided for a tracking mechanism which atlows PSNH to recover
retail transmission costs on a timely basis.

* In accordance with the two-year settlement that was implemented
on January 1, 2007, WMECQ's distribution rates increased by $3
million on January 1, 2008.

+ On June 4, 2007, Connecticut Governor Rell signed into law "An Act
Concerning Electricity and Energy Efficiency” (Energy Efficiency Actl.
Among ather provisions, the Energy Efficiency Act requires electric
distribution companies to file integrated resource plans for DPUC
approval, provides incentives for customers to reduce censumption,
particularly during peak toad periods, and requires CL&P and The
United Illuminating Company [Ul] to file propasals with the DPUC to
build cost-of-service peaking generation facilities.

* On January 31, 2008, the trial judge in our engoing litigation with
Consolidated Edison, Inc. [Con Edisonl in connection with our
October 13, 1999 Agreement and Plan of Merger, denied a series
of motions by both us and Con Edison that had been pending for
more than one year, including our mation for an order dismissing
Con Edison’s claim for darnages. The judge ordered the parties to
be triat ready on four days’ notice beginning March 21, 2008. It is not
possible for us to predict either the outcome of this matter or its
ultimate effect on us.

Liquidity:

« Qur liquidity position benefited from the proceeds we received
from the sale of NU Enterprises’ competitive generation assets in
Novermber of 2006 and the issuance of $655 million of long-term
debt in 2007 by our regulated companies. -

= Qur cash capital expenditures totaled $1.1 billion in 2007, compared
with $872.2 mitlion in 2006, most of which was incurred by our
requlated companies in both years. The increase was primarily the
result of higher transmission capital expenditures, particularty at
CL&P. Our cash capital expenditures in 2007 inctuded $826.2 million
by CL&P, $167.7 million by PSNH, $47.3 million by WMECO, $57.5
million by Yankee Gas, and $14 million by other NU subsidiaries.

* We project a total of approximately $4 billion of regulated company
capital expenditures fram 2008 through 2012, including $1.3 billion
in 2008. Over the five-year period, approximately $3 billien is projected
to be spent on transmission and $3 bitlion on distribution and gen-
eration. In 2008, approximately $700 millicn is expected to be spent
on transmission and $600 mitlion on distribution and generation.

« We had consolidated operating cash flows in 2007 of $248.4 millicn,
compared with $407.1 million in 200é. Excluding the federal and
state income tax payments of approximately $400 miltion in 2007
related to the 2004 sale of the competitive generation business,
our consolidated operating cash flows were approximately $650
million in 2007, which is an increase of approximately $243 million
from 2006. This improvement was partially due to an expected reduc-
tion in regulatory refunds paid to CL&P customers during 2007 as
compared o 2004. In addition, the regulated companies made tower
payments to Connecticut Yankee Atomic Power Company (CYAPC),
Maine Yankee Atomic Power Company [MYAPC] and Yankee Atomic
Electric Company [YAEC] {the Yankee Companies) for nuclear
decommissioning and closure costs in 2007 as compared io 2006,
Also impacting cash flows from operations were lower cash payments
related to Select Energy, Inc.’s [Select Energyl] derivative contracts
and changes in working capital items retated to the divestiture of
NU Enterprises’ businesses in 2006.

* We had $15.1 million of cash and cash equivalents on hand at
December 31, 2007, compared with $481.9 million at December 31,
2006, due to a decline in our cash positien from funding our capital
expenditures program and the payment of approximately $400 miltion
in federal and state income taxes in 2007, as described above.

Overview

Consolidated: We earned $244.5 million, or $1.5% per share, in 2007,
compared with earnings of $470.6 miltion, or $3.05 per share, in 2006,
and a loss of $253.5 million, or $1.93 per share, in 2005. Results for
2006 included a significant, after-tax gain of $314 million, or $2.03 per
share, associated with the sale of our competitive generation business
and a reduction in income tax expense at CL&P of $74 million, or $0.48
per share, pursuant to a PLR received from the IRS. Results in 2007
and 2006 included discretionary pre-tax donations to the NU Foundation,
in¢. [Foundation] of $3 million and $25 million, respectively. In 2005,
our competitive businesses incurred 3 significant loss due primarity to
mark-to-market changes in the fair value of NU Enterprises” wholesale
marketing contracts. Since 2005, we have divested most of our
campetitive businesses.
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A summary of our earnings/(losses) by segment for 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows [millions of dollars, except per share amounts);

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Segment Amount Per Share Amount Per Share Amount Per Share
Regulated companies $228.7 $1.47 $257.3 $1.67 $ 1634 $1.24
NU Enterprises 1.7 0.08 2113 1.37 (398.2) (3.03)
NU parent and other companies 6.1 0.04 20 0.01 (18.7] (0.14)
Net Income/lLoss) $246.5 $1.59 $470.6 $3.05 $1253.51 $01.93)

Regulated Companies: Our regulated cormpanies, which are comprised
of CL&P, PSNH, WMECO and Yankee Gas, segment their earnings
between their electric transmission segments and their electric and
gas distribution segments, with PSNH generation included with its
distribution segment. A summary of regulated company earnings by
segment for 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

Far the Years Ended Qecember 31,

{Millions of Dallars] 2007 2006 2005
CL&P Transmission® $ 667 $ 469 $ 293
PSNH Transmission 10.7 83 7.8
WMECO Transmission 5.1 46 40

Total Transmission % 825 $ 598 AN
CL&P Distribution* $ 61.4 $147.6 $ 400
PSNH Distribution and Generation 437 27.0 33.9
WMECO Distribution 18.5 10 1.1
Yankee Gas 22.5 11.9 17.3

Total Distribution and Generation  $146.2 $197.5 $122.3
Net Income - Regulated Companies $228.7 $257.3 $163.4

*After preferred dividends in all years.

The increases in transmission segment earnings in 2007 reflect a
reduction in 2006 fourth quarter earnings as a result of the October 31,
2006 Federal Energy Requlatory Commission [FERC] Return on Equity
{ROE) decision and a higher FERC-approved ROE for 2007. Additionally,
for both 2007 and 2006, earnings increases reflect a higher level of
investrment in our transmission infrastructure, particularly at CL&P,
where we have invested approximately $1 billion since the beginning of
2005. This investment has been made primarily to upgrade the trans-
mission infrastructure of southwest Connecticut, At December 31,
2007, CL&P’s transmission rate base was approximately $1.2 billion.
Under the company’s transmission tariffs, our transmission segment
earnings generally track with the level of rate base,

CL&P's 2007 distribution segment earnings were $86.2 mitlion lower
than in 2006 primarily because of the $74 million reduction in income
tax expense pursuant to the PLR received from the IRS in 2006 related
to the treatment of excess deferred income taxes [EDIT] and unamor-
tized tax credits in connection with the sale of CL&P’s former generating
plants. Excluding the impact of the PLR on 2006 earnings, CL&P's
2007 distribution segment earnings were $12.2 million lower than in
2006. This decrease in earnings was primarily due to the $7.7 million
after-tax benefit in 2006 related to the sale to a third party of competitive
generation assets that CL&P had previously sold to its affiliate,
Northeast Generation Cormpany INGCI: the absence in 2007 of a fixed
procurement fee of approximately $4.6 million [after-tax) that expired
at the end of 2004; higher operations and maintenance expense; higher
interest expense; and higher income tax expense, partially offset by a
$7 million distribution rate increase that teck effect on January 1, 2007
and a 1.7 percent increase in sales. CL&P’s distribution segment
Regulatory ROE was 7.9 percent for 2007 and 7.5 percent for 2006.
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Vie expect CL&P's distribution segment Regulatory ROE will be in
the 8 percent to 8.5 percent range in the first full year of new rates
beginning February 1, 2008 as a result of the DPUC’s final decision
in CL&P's distribution rate proceeding. Due to the February 2008
implementation of new rates, we expect a CL&P distribution segment
Fegulatory ROE of approximately 8 percent in calendar year 2008.

FSNH's distribution and generation segment earnings in 2007 were
$16.7 million higher than in 2006 primarily due to a $24.5 mitlion
annualized temporary rate increase that took effect on July 1, 2006;

a $37.7 million annualized energy delivery rate increase that tock
effect on July 1, 2007; recovery of approximately $4.5 million of pre-tax
ratail transmission costs that were expensed in 2006; the implemen-
tation of a retail transmission cost tracking mechanism; and lower
unitary state incorne taxes, These increases were partialty offset by
higher operations and maintenance expense, higher depreciation, and
higher interest expense. PSNH's distribution and generation segment
Fegulatory ROE was 9.5 percent in 2007 and 6.4 percent in 2006. We
expect PSNH's distribution and generation segment Regulatory ROE
to be towards the low end of a 9 percent to 10 percent range at
approximately 9 percent in 2008.

V/MECOQ's distribution segment earnings in 2007 were $7.5 million
higher than in 2006 primarily due to the impacts of a rate settlement
that became effective on January 1, 2007. The settlement included,
among other things, a $1 million annualized rate increase and the
implementation of several cost tracking mechanisms. The 2007 earnings
also did not include certain charges that negatively impacted us in 2004.
Higher earnings were partially offset by higher depreciation expense.
V/IMECO's distribution segment Regulatory ROE was approximately 9.7
percent in 2007 and 9.6 percent in 2006. We expect WMECO's distribu-
tion segment Regulatory ROE to be towards the low end of a % percent
to 10 percent range at approximately ¥ percent in 2008.

Yankee Gas's 2007 earnings improved significantly from 2006 due to a
$22.1 million net annualized distribution rate increase that took effect
an July 1, 2007 and a 10.3 percent increase in firm natural gas sales
primarily due to unseasonably warm weather in the early and late
months of 2006. Partially affsetting the rate increase and increase in
sales were higher operations and maintenance expense and higher
interest, depreciation and income tax expense. Yankee Gas's Regulatory
FOE was 8.7 percent for 2007 and 5.9 percent in 2006. We expect Yankee
Gas's Regulatory ROE to be at the mid-to-higher end of a 9 percent to
10 percent range in 2008.

For the distribution segment of the requlated companies, a summary of
changes in CL&P, PSNH and WMECO retail electric kilowatt-hour [KWH]
sales and Yankee Gas firm natural gas sales for 2007 as compared to
2006 on an actual and weather normalized basis lusing a 30-year averagel
is as follows:




Electric Firm Natural Gas
CL&P PSKH WMECD Total Yankee Gas

Weather Wuather Weather Weather Weather

Normalized Normalized Normalized Normatized Normalized

Percentage  Percentage  Percentage  Peicentage  Percentage  Percemtage  Percentage  Percentage Perceniage

Increase/ Increasef Increasef Inc easef Inceeasef Increasef Increase/ Increase/  Pescentage  Increase/

[Decrease]  [Decreasel  (Decrease)  (Decreasel  [Decrease)  [Decrease]  [Decrease)  (Decreasel increase  |Decrease)
Residential 28 % 0.4% 29% 1.5% 1.9% (0.31% 2.7% 0.6% 17.0% 66%
Commercial 1.3% 0.8 % 18% 1.6% 1.0% 05% 1.5 % 1.0% 12.1% 3%
Industrial 11.31% {1.5]% [3.4]% (3.21% 12.31% [2.4]% (2.01% (2.11% 1.9% (0.6]%
QOther 69 % 69 % 49 % 49 % - — 62 % 62 % —% - %
Total 1.7% 0.4 % 1.2% 0.6 % 0.6 % [0.4)% 15% 0.4 % 10.3% 31 %

A summary of our retail electric sales in gigawatt hours for CL&P, PSWH and WMECQO, and firm natural gas sales in million cubic feet for Yankee

Gas for 2007 and 2004 is as follows:

Electric Firm Natural Gas
Percentage

Increase/ Percentage

2007 2006 [Decrease) 2007 2004 Increase
Residential 15,051 14,652 27% 13,742 11,743 17.0%
Commercial 15,103 14,886 15% 12,965 11,562 12.1%
Industrial 5,635 5,750 {2.01% 12,193 11.97 1.9%
Other 353 332 6.2 % — — —%
Total 36,142 35,620 15% 38,900 35,276 10.3%

Our electric sales per customer, adjusted for weather impacts, have
been negatively affected by retail rate increases driven by the energy
component of customer bills that began in early 2006. Although the
longer-term trend in custormer usage in our service territory when
energy prices were stable had reflected a generally increasing use per
customer, customers have responded to higher energy prices in recent
years by using less electricity. Even though generation costs stabilized
in 2007, use per custormer on a weather normalized basis did not
change significantly from 2004 levels, reflecting continued conserva-
tion efforts. We cannot determine at this time whether these trends
will continue or the effect they may have on our distribution segment
earnings.

NU Enterprises: NU Enterprises continues to manage to completion its.
remaining wholesale marketing contracts and energy services activities,

Our consolidated statements of income/(lossl for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2004 and 2005 classify the following as discontinued
operations:

« NGC, including certain components of Northeast Generation
Services Company,

¢ The Mt. Tom generating plant [ML Tom) previously owned by Holyoks
Water Power Company (HWP),

 Select Energy Services, Inc. [SESI] and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
HEC{Tobyhanna Energy Project, Inc. and HEC/CJTS Energy Center
LLC.

= A portion of the former Woods Electrical Co,, Inc. [Woods Electrical]

+ Select Energy Contracting, Inc. lincluding Reeds Ferry Supply Co.,
Inc.} {SECI), and

» Woods Network Services, Inc, (Woods Network).

NU Enterprises earned $11.7 millien in 2007 on revenues of $97.7
mitlion, compared with $211.3 million in 2006 on revenues of $901.8

million, and a loss of $3%8.2 million in 2005 on revenues of $1.9 billion.
NU Enterprises’ results for the past three years have been significantly
affected by our decision in 2005 to divest our competitive businesses.
NU Enterprises’ earnings in 2007 were primarily the result of higher
than expected margins and the favorable resolution of certain legal
and centract issues, partially offset by the $3.8 millian {$6.4 million
pre-tax) negative impact of mark-to-market charges an the remaining
wholesale marketing contracts.

NU Enterprises’ higher earnings in 2004 were attributable to the after-tax
gain on the sale of the competitive generation business, partialy offset

by $70.3 million of losses at NU Enterprises’ retail marketing segment,
which was sold on June 1, 2006. The significant loss in 2005 was primarity
attributable to pre-tax mark-to-market charges of $425.4 million on NU
Enterprises’ wholesale marketing contracts. As of December 31, 2007,
the majority of NU Enterprises’ wholesale marketing contracts had either
expired or been divested. NU Enterprises’ remaining two wholesale mar-
keting sales contracts and related sourcing contracts have been marked
to market and, based on current market prices, will have a moderatety
negative impact on cash flows until they expire in 2008 and 2013. NU
Enterprises’ only other remaining contract is a wholesale purchase
contract that expires in 2012, which is not marked to market.

NU Parent and Other Companies: NU parent and other companies
earned $6.1 million, or $0.04 per share, in 2007, compared with earnings
of $2 million, or $0.01 per share, in 2006, and a loss of $18.7 million, or
$0.14 per share, in 2005. The improvement in 2007 results compared
with 2006 and 2005 was due to higher interest income earned on cash
balances that NU companies borrowed from NU parent through the NU
Money Pool [Pooll or that NU parent invested in outside money market
funds. Earnings on Pool investments are eliminated in consolidation
along with the carresponding interest expense for the Pool borrowers.
Managerment expects that NU parent earnings witl decline in 2008, since
NU parent’s cash has been used to make equity investments in the
regulated companies to support capital expenditures.
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Future Outlook
We project consolidated 2008 earnings of between $1.65 per share and
$1.90 per share.

Regulated Companies: We project 2008 earnings of between $1.05 per
share and $1.15 per share for the distribution and generation segment
and between $0.75 per share and $0.85 per share for the transmission
segment,

NU Parent and Other Companies: We project a loss of between
$0.10 per share and $0.15 per share in 2008 for NU parent and other
companies. NU parent net interest expense is expected.tc increase
due to the decrease in NU's cash investments.

NU Enterprises: We project approximately breakeven results in 2008
for NU Enterprises. For information regarding sensitivity analyses of
NU Enterprises remaining wholesale contracts, see ltem 7.A., "Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” included in our repaort
on Form 10-K.

Long-Term Growth Rate: We project that we can achieve an average
compounded annual EPS growth rate of between 8 percent and 11
percent for the period 2008 through 2012, with 2007 EPS of $1.59 as
the base year. This growth rate assumes that we meet our capital
investment and rate base projections and that we receive appropriate
regulatory approvals, allowed returns and timely rate treatment for
those invesiments. We currently expect transmission segment garnings
to be approximately 50 percent of total earnings by 2012,

Liquidity

Consolidated: During 2007, our liquidity position, benefited from the
proceeds we received from the sale of NU Enterprises’ competitive
generation assets in Novermnber of 2006 and the issuance of $455 million
of long-term debt by the regulated companies, including $45 million in
long-term barrowings under the regulated companies revelving credit
line. At December 31, 2007, NU parent had $27 million of letters of credit
(LOC} issued and $42 million borrowed under its $500 miltion revolving
credit line. At December 31, 2007, the regulated companies had $37
million of short-term debt borrowed under their $400 million revolving
credit line, and CL&P had $20 million sotd under its $100 million facility
for the sale of accounts receivable.

We had $15.1 miltion of cash and cash equivalents on hand at
December 31, 2007, compared with $481.9 million at December 31,
2006. The decline primarily resulted fram funding our capital expendi-
ture program in 2007 and the payment of approximately $400 million
in federal and state income taxes in 2007 related to the 2006 sale of
the competitive generation business. CL&P and WMECO accrued the
majority of their portions of these tax obligations in 2000 upon the sale

cf their generation assets to NGC, but due to the intercompany nature
cf the sales, the federal and state income tax payments were deferred
at that time. It was not until we sold NGC to an unaffiliated third party
in Novernber of 2006 that CL&P and WMECD were required to pay
t1ese taxes.

We had consolidated operating cash flows in 2007 of $248.4 million,
compared with $407.1 million in 2006 and $441.2 million in 2005.
Excluding the federal and state income tax payments of approximately
3400 million in 2007 related to the 2006 sale of the competitive
generation business, our consolidated operating cash flows were
approximately $630 million in 2007, which was an increase of
approximately $243 million from 2006. This improvement was partially
due to an expected reduction in regulatory refunds related to Competitive
Transition Assessment [CTA] made to CL&P customers during 2007
as compared to 2006. In addition to lower regulatory refunds paid, the
ragulated cornpanies rmade lower payments to the Yankee Companies
for nuclear decommissioning and closure costs in 2007 as compared
to 2006, primarily as a result of the extension of the collection period
for decommissioning and closure costs at CYAPC. Also impacting cash
flows from operations were lower cash payments related tc Select
Energy’s derivative contracts and changes in working capital items
ralated to the divestiture of NU Enterprises’ businesses in 2004. In
2008, we project consolidated operating cash flows of approximately
4500 million, rising to between approximately $800 millian and $850
rillion in 2012. These projections assume that we receive timely
racovery of our capital investments and purchased power costs
tarough appropriate rates,

Al four of the regulated companies issued long-term debt in 2007.
CL&P issued $500 million of first martgage bonds, PSNH issued $70
raillion of first mortgage bands, WMECO issued $40 million of unsecured
rotes and Yankee Gas borrowed $45 million for a 30-month term under
the requlated cornpanies’ revolving credit facility. The fixed rate securities
were issued for terms of 10 years and 30 years with coupons ranging
f-om 5.375 percent to 4.7 percent.

In 2008, we expect that NU parent, CL&P, PSNH and Yankee Gas will
issue a total of approximately $700 million of long-term debt, Most

cf the debt will be issued by the regulated companies te finance their
capital programs. NU parent plans to issue up to $200 mitlion of debt,
primarily to refinance $150 million of senior notes that mature on June 1,
2008 and are included in long-term debt - current portion on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2007,

A summary of the current credit ratings and outlooks by Moody's
Investors Service (Moody'sl, Standard & Poor's [S&P] and Fiteh Ratings
(Fitch) for NU parent and WMECQ's senior unsecured debt and CL&P
and PSNH's first mortgage bonds is as follows:

Moody's S&P Fitch
Current Qutlook Current Outlook Current Qutlook
NU Parent Baa2 Stable BBB- Stable BBB Stable
CL&P A3 Stable BBB+ Stabie A- Stable
PSNH Baal Stable BBEB+ Stable BBB+ Stable
WMECO Baa? Stable BBB Stable BBB+ Stable
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All three rating agencies reaffirmed their credit ratings for NU parent,
CL&P, PSNH and WMECO in 2007. The only credit ratings change in
2007 occurred when, as part of a comprehensive reassessment of utility
secured debt ratings, S&P raised PSNH's secured debt ratings by one
notch to BBB+.

If NU parent’s senior unsecured debt.ratings were to be reduced to a
sub-investment grade level by either Moody's or S&P, Select Energy
could, under its remaining contracts, be required te provide collateral
or LOCs in the amount of approximately $70.4 mitlion to various unai-
filiated counterparties and collateral or LOCs in the amount of approx -
mately $23.4 million to several independent system operators and
unaffiliated local distribution companies [LDCs) at December 31, 2007.
If such a downgrade were to occur, NU parent would currently be able
to provide that collateral.

NU parent last issued comman equity in December of 2005 when

it sold 23 mitlion common shares at a price of $1%9.09 per share.
Proceeds from that issuance, from the sale of our competitive genera-
tion assets, and from the issuance of regulated company long-term
debt were utilized to fund the regulated companies capital programs
in 2006 and 2007. We expect further debt issuances and growth in
operating cash flows will finance our 2008 capital pregram. We alsa
believe that we can maintain our existing credit ratings and access
to debt capital. At December 31, 2007, our ratio of conselidated total
debt to total capitalization was 54.6 percent. To maintain those credit
metrics, NU parent expects to issue approximately $500 million of
equity from 2009 through 2012 with approximately half of that amount
expected to be issued in 2009 and the remainder expected to be issued
later in the period. ’

NU parent paid common dividends of $121 million in 2007, compared
with $112.7 million in 2006 and $87.6 million in 2005. The increase

in common dividends paid from 2005 to 2007 reflects a 7.1 percent
increase in the amount of NU parent’s cammon dividend that took
effect in the third quarter of 2006 and another 6.7 percent increase
that took effect in the third quarter of 2007, as well as a higher
number of shares outstanding in 2007 and 2006 as a result of NU
parent’s common share issuance in December of 2005. On February 12
2008, our Board of Trustees approved a quarterly dividend of $0.20 pe -
share, or $0.80 per share on an annualized basis, payable on March 31,
2008 to shareholders of record as of March 1, 2008.

We expect to continue our current policy of dividend increases, subject
to the approval of our Board of Trustees and our future earnings and
cash requirements. in general, the regulated companies pay approxi-
mately 60 percent of their cash earnings to NU parent in the form of
common dividends. in 2007, CL&P, PSNH, WMECO, and Yankee Gas
paid $79.2 million, $30.7 million, $12.8 million, and $12.7 million,
respectively, in common dividends to NU parent. In 2007, NU parent
contributed $570.7 million of equity to CL&P, $44.2 million to PSNH,
$13.6 million to WMECO and $52.8 million to Yankee Gas. At
December 31, 2007, NU parent had $44.1 million invested in the
Pool and will continue to infuse equity into the regulated companies
as their capital needs and structure dictate. At December 31, 2007,
the Pool had a balance of $0.6 millton invested externally.

NU parent’s ability to pay dividends may be affected by certain state
statutes, the leverage restrictions in its revolving credit agreement

and the ability of its subsidiaries to pay dividends to it. The Federal
Power Act limits, untess a higher amount is approved by the FERC, the
payment of dividends by CL&P, PSNH and WMECO to their respective
retained earnings balances, and PSNH is required to reserve an addi-
tional amount under certain FERC hydreelectric license conditions. In
addition, certain state statutes may impose additienal limitations on
the regulated companies. CL&P, PSNH, WMECO and Yankee Gas also
have a leverage restriction under their revolving credit agreement.

Cash capital expenditures included on the accompanying consolidated
statements of cash flows and described in the liquidity section of

this management's discussion and analysis do not include amounts
incurred but not paid, cost of removat, the allowance for funds used
during construction [AFUDC] related to equity funds, and the capital-
ized portion of pension expense or incomne. Qur cash capital expen-
ditures 1otaled $1.1 billien in 2007, compared with $872.2 million in
2006, most of which was incurred by our regulated companies in both
years. Qur cash capital expenditures in 2007 included $824.2 million by
CL&P, $157.7 million by PSNH, $47.3 million by WMECO, $57.6 million
by Yankee Gas, and $16 million by other NU subsidiaries. In 2006, cash
capital expenditures included $567.2 million by CL&P; $126.7 millien
by PSNH; $42.8 million by WMECO; $87.6 million by Yankee Gas, and
$47.9 million by other NU subsidiaries. The increase in the regulated
companies cash capitat expenditures was primarily the result of high-
er tfransmission capital expenditures, particularly at CL&P.

Regulated Companies: The regulated companies maintain a $400
million credit facility that expires on Novernber 6, 20*0. There were
$45 miltion of long-term borrowings by Yankee Gas outstanding under
that facility at December 31, 2007. In addition, there were $10 million
and $27 million in short-term borrowings by PSNH and Yankee Gas,
respectively, outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2007, The
weighted-average interest rate on these shert-term borrowings at
December 31, 2007 was 7.25 percent.

In addition to this revolving credit facility, CL&P has an arrangement
with a financial institution under which CL&P can sell up to $100 million
of its accounts receivabte and unbilled revenues. There was $20 million
sold under that facility at December 31, 2007. For more information
regarding CL&P’s sale of receivables, see Note 1L, "Sumimary of
Significant Accounting Policies - Sale of Custorner Receivables,” to the
consolidated financial statements.

impact of Credit Markets: As previously discussed, we plan to issue
approximately $700 million of long-term debt in 2008 and have entered
into forward interest rate swaps to hedge exposure to market rates

for these planned issuances. Due to the overall uncertainties in the
market, however, the credit spreads on these issuances may be higher
than we have experienced in the past. We believe that the credit markets
will continue to be supportive of our debt issuances and that, despite
volatility in treasury rates and credit spreads, we will be able to issue
this debt at campetitive rates.

Certain bond insurers have experienced increasing ratings pressure
and are on negative watch by the credit rating agencies. Credit ratings of
certain of our Pollution Controt Revenue Bonds {PCRBs) are enhanced
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with bond insurance. We do not expect the financial condition of the
bond insurers to have a material impact on us, although concerns
regarding the bond insurers’ credit strength could increase interest
expense associated with $151 million of PCRBs that we may remarket
in 2008. PSNH has $8% million of PCRBs that have a variable rate.
We are considering fixing this rate through the 2021 maturity date of
the bonds. CL&P has $62 million of PCRBs with a fixed rate through
October 1, 2008. We will consider fixing the interest rate on these
bonds at that time.

N Enterprises: The werking capital and LOCs required by NU
Enterprises are currently used to support Select Energy’s remaining
wholesale contracts. As these wholesale contracts expire or are exited,
NU Enterprises’ liquidity requirements will continue to decline.

Business Development and Capital Expenditures
Consolidated: Our consolidated capitat expenditures, including amounts
incurred but nat paid, cost of removal, AFUDC, and the capitalized
portion of pension expense or income, totaled $1.3 billion in 2007,
compared with $945.8 million in 2006 and $814.2 million in 2005. These
amounts include $16 million, $17.6 mitlion and $25.6 million in 2007,
2004 and 2005, respectively, that related to our corporate service
company and other affiliated companies that support the regulated
companies.

Regulated Companies:

We project a total of approximately $6 billion of regulated company
capital expenditures from 2008 through 2012, which also includes
amounts incurred but not paid, cost of removal, AFUDC, and the
capitalized portion of pension expense or income [all of which are
predominantly non-cash factors in determining rate bage}, A summary
of these estimated capital expenditures for the regulated companies’
transmission segment and distribution and generation segments

by company for 2008 through 2012, including corporate service
companies capital expenditures on behalf of the regulated companies,

is as follows imillions of dollars):
Year

2008 2009 2000 20M 2012 Totals

CL&P:

Transmission $ 538 $ 311 $155 $ 420 % 530

Distribution 334 291 289 298 297
PSNH:

Transmission 108 h8 55 108 72 401

Distribution and-

generation 167 143 153 172 252 887

WMECD: .

Transrission 50 137 222 135 104 648

$1,954
1,509

Distribution 35 40 34 34 34 177
Yankee Gas:

Distribution 56 40 60 61 68 305
Totals -

Transmission 696 504 432 463 706 3,003
Totals -

Distribution and

generation 592 534 536 365 651 2878

Corporate service
companies 22 28 18 1% 14 103

Totals $1.210 $1,068  $986 $1247 $1371 $57982
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CL&P’s distribution capital expenditures will primarily address its
aging distribution infrastructure, and increase reliability and system
capacity. Costs of these capital expenditures have increased from prior
years due to higher costs for transformars, cables, conductors, and
other materials.

The significant increase in capital spending at PSNH in 2011 and 2012
reflects the planned installation of a wet scrubber at PSNH's coal-fired
460-megawatts (MW) Merrimack Station to reduce mercury and sulfur
emissions. As a result of 2006 state legislation, PSNH must complete
installation of that scrubber by July 1, 2013. PSNH expects that the full
estimated cost of $250 millien for that installation will be recoverable
through PSNH's energy rate.

Actual levels of capital expenditures could vary from the estimated
amounts for the companies and periods above. Based on these
estimated capital expenditures, we project our transmission and
distribution and generation rate base at December 31st of each year
will be as follows [millions of dollarsl:

Year
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
CL&P:
Transmission $1.763 $2168  $2199  $2515 $2.828
Distribution 2,130 2,296 2,450 2,584 2,705
PSNH:
Transmission 295 306 367 N 458
Distribution and
generation 1,078 1,174 1,251 1,326 1,408
WMECQ:
Transmission 114 242 422 549 406
Distribution 396 423 A48 474 503
Yankee Gas:
Distribution 493 728 748 773 804
Totals -
Transmission 2172 2,716 2,988 3.435 3.892
Totals -
Distribution and
generation 4,297 4,623 4,897 5,157 5,422
Totals $6,469  $733% 47885 $8592 $9.314

Several factors may impact the regulated companies’ rate base
amcunts above, including the level and tiring of capital expenditures
and plant placed in service, regulatory approvat of rate increases and
oher factors.

Transmission Segment: OQur transmission rate base totaled approxi-
mately $1.5 billion at December 31, 2007, including approximately $0.3
b llien of incurred construction costs, or construction work in progress
(CWIP, compared with approximately $1.0 billion at December 31, 2006,
ircluding approximately $0.1 billion of CWIP. In addition, the transmission
segment recarded $406 million and $162 million of CWIP at December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively, that were not in rate base. The projected
transmission rate base amounts reflected above include CWIP for 50
parcent of the southwest Connecticut projects [Middletown to Norwalk,
Connecticut; Norwalk to Stamford, Connecticut; and Norwatk, Connecticut
to Northport-Long tsland, New York] and, assuming FERC will aliow
related CWIP in rate base, 100 percent of the New England East-West
(MEEWS] 345 kilovolt {KV) and 115 KV Overhead projects and the 115

KV Springfield Underground Cables project referred to below. The CWIP
amounts included in rate base for these projects are $242 million, $124
million, $238 million, $437 million, and $450 million, respectively, for the
2008 1o 2012 periods.




A summary of irangmission segment capital expenditures by company
in 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows [millions of dollars]:

For the Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

CL&P $660.6  $4156  $2153
PSNH 80.7 361 28.5
WMECO 19.3 13.0 12.9
Other 1.2 08 0.4 _
Totals $761.8  $4655  $257.3

The increases in ransmission segment capital expenditures in 2007
as compared with 2006 and 2005 primarily relate to CL&P, which is
undertaking a significant enhancement of its transmission system

in southwest Connecticut. CL&P completed one major transmission
project, the 21-mile 345 KV/115 KV transmission project between
Bethel, Connecticut and Norwalk, Connecticut, in 2006 and has three
major projects currently under construction in southwest Connecticut,
including:

o A 69-mile, 345 KV/115 KV transmission project from Middletown to
Norwalk, Connecticut. CL&P's portion of this project is estimated
cost approximately $1.03 billion. At December 31, 2007, CL&P’s portion
of this project was approximately 62 percent complete and by the
end of February of 2008, was approximately 70 percent complete. As o
December 31, 2007, CL&P had capitalized $593 million associated
with this project. Although the project is scheduled to be completec
at the en)d of 2009, construction of the project is currently ahead of
schedule, and CL&P has reviewed the remaining work to determine:
whether it can be completed at an earlier date. As a result of this
review, we now expect t¢ completé this project in mid-200%. This
early completion date would not have a significant impact on our
earnings guidance.

* A two-cable, nine-mile, 115 KV underground transmission project
between Norwalk and Stamford, Connecticut [Glenbrook Cabtes),
construction of which began in October of 2006. This project is
estimated to cost approximately $223 million. This project is
scheduled to be completed by the end of 2008. At December 31,
2007, this project was approximately 49 percent complete, and at
the end of February of 2008, was approximately 74 percent complete
As of December 31, 2007, CL&P had capitalized $133 mitlion
associated with this project.

* The replacement of the 138 KV, 11-mile undersea electric transmission
cable between Norwalk, Connecticut and Northport-Long Island,
New York [Lang Island Replacement Cablel. CL&P and the Long
Island Power Authority each own approximately 50 percent of the
line. CL&P's portion of the project is estimated to cost $72 million.
After the final regulatory permits were received, marine constructior
activities commenced in October of 2007, and the project is expected
to be placed in service in the second half of 2008, The pre-existing
cables were decommissioned in September of 2007, and approxi-
mately %4 percent of the cables was removed as of December 31,
2007, including all portions located in Connecticut. Installation of the
new cable began in early February of 2008. At December 31, 2007,
the project was approximately 63 percent complete, and at the end
of February of 2008, was approximately 72 percent complete. As of
December 31, 2007, CL&P had capitalized $45 million associated
with this project, including the cost of the new cable, which was
delivered in the fourth quarter of 2007.

In addition to our current transmission construction in southwest
Connecticut, we continue to work with 1S0-NE to refine the design
criteria of our next series of major transmission projects: (i) the New
Engtand East-West 345 KV and 115 KV Overhead project [NEEWS
Overhead project] and liil the 115 KV Springfietd Underground Cables
project {Springfield Underground Cables project].

The NEEWS Overhead project includes three 345 KV transmission
upgrades that will collectively address the region’s transmission needs
and better connect the major east-west {ransmission interfaces in
Southern New England: 1] the Greater Springfield 345 KV Reliability
Project, 2} the Central Connecticut Reliability Project, and 3} the
Interstate Reliability Project. A fourth upgrade, Mational Grid's Rhode
Island Reliability Project, is also inctuded in the NEEWS Overhead project.
In early 2007, we entered into a formal agreement with National Grid to
plan and permit these projects and expect the ISO-NE technical review
process with respect to the NEEWS Overhead project to conclude by
mid- to late- 2008. We will make the filing of the first project applications
with the various state siting authorities shortly after receiving the technical
approvals from I1SO-NE. We continue to work with 1S0-NE to ensure that
the design of these projects balances needs and reliability, operational
flexibility, and cost. At this time, we expect the siting process for the
NEEWS Overhead project to be completed by 2010 and to complete con-
struction in 2013. We have not yet updated our detailed estimate of the
tatal cost for the NEEWS Overhead project, and the timing of expendi-
tures is highly dependent upon receipt of technical and siting approvals.

The second major transmission project, the Springfield Underground
Cables project, consists of a significant upgrade of the 115 KV electrical
system around Springfield, Massachusetts to address thermal overload
and voltage issues. WMECO received a favorable vote from the ISO-NE
Reliability Committee regarding the project’s technical feasibility in
December 2007, and WMECO filed the siting application immediately
thereafter with the Massachusetts siting agencies. We expect the siting
process to be completed in 2009 and expect WMECO to complete the
project by the end of 2011,

Assuming that virtually all of the 345 KV portions of the NEEWS

Overhead project are constructed overhead and on existing rights of way,

we are maintaining our estimate of our share of the cast of the NEEWS
Overhead project at approximately $1.05 billion, We are also maintaining
our estimate of the cost of the Springfield Underground Cables project
at approximately $350 million at this time. However, as we continue to
review the designs of the NEEWS Qverhead project and the Springfield
Underground Cables project with 1S0-NE over the coming months, we
expect these figures to change. We anticipate that we will have additional
information an the scope and costs of these projects by mid-2008.

In October of 2004, the Bethet, Connecticut to Norwalk 345 KV
transmission project was completed and energized and it has operated
reliably since then. In addition to improving reliability, we believe the
completion of that project is the primary reason for the decrease in
Connecticut congestion costs, which were lower by nearly $150 million
in the project’s first full year of operation.
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Distribution and Generation Segment: A summary of distribution and
generation segment capital expenditures by company in 2007, 2006
and 2005 is as follows [millions of dollars]:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2004 2005
CL&P $283.3 $210.3 $254.6
PSNH 123.6 109.6 143,64
WMECO 34.0 30.0 324
Yankee Gas 63.7 89.9 78.5
Other 0.5 23 1.0
Totals $505.0 $442.1 $510.1

Capital expenditures at Yankee Gas above included $12 million spent
on its LNG starage and production facility in Waterbury, Connecticut in
2007. The facility was placed in service in July of 2007 on budget with a
final cost of approximately $108 millien and was filled with LNG by the
end of October of 2007 to serve customers in the 2007/2008 heating
season. The capital cost of this facility has been included in Yankee
Gas's rates since July 1, 2007.

Strategic [nitiatives: We are evaluating certain development projects
that would benefit our customers, such as new regulated generating
facilities, investments in advanced metering infrastructure [AMI]
systems to provide time-of-use rates to our customers, and trans-
mission projects to better interconnect new renewable generation in
northern New England and Canada with scuthern New England, as
well a5 interconnections within New Hampshire. The estimated capital
expenditures and projected rate base amounts discussed above do not
include expenditures related to these initiatives.

Transmission Rate Matters and FERC Regulatory Issues
CL&P, PSNH and WMECQO and most other New England utilities,
generation owners and marketers are parties to a series of agree-
ments that provide for coordinated planning and operation of the
region’s generation and transmission facilities and the market rules by
which these parties participate in the wholesale markets and acquire
transmission services. Under these arrangements, ISC-NF, a non-
profit corperation whose board of directors and staff are independent
from all market participants, has served as the Regional Transmission
Organization for New England since February 1, 2005. IS0-NE works to
ensure the reliability of the New England transmission system, admin-
isters the independent system operator tariff (IS0 Tariff], subject to
FERC approval, oversees the efficient and competitive functioning

of the regional wholesale power market and determines which portion
of the costs of our major transmission facilities are regionalized
throughout New England.

Transmission - Wholesale Rates: Wholesale transmission revenues
are based on fermula rates that are approved by the FERC. Most af
our wholesale transmission revenues are collected under the ISO-NE
FERC Electric Tariff No. 3, Transmission, Markets and Services Tariff
(Tariff No. 3}. Tariff No. 3 includes Regicnal Network Service [RNS| and
Local Network Service [LNS] rate schedules to recover transmission
and other services. The RNS rate, administered by ISO-NE and billed
to all New England transmission users, is reset on June 1st of each
year and recovers the revenue requirements asscciated with trans-
mission facilities that benefit the New England region. The LNS rate,
which we administer, is reset on January 1st and June 1st of each year
and recovers the revenue requirements for local transmission facilities
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asd other transmission costs not recovered under the RNS rate,
including 50 percent of the CWIP that is included in rate base on the
remaining three southwest Connecticut projects (Middletown-Norwalk,
Glenbrook Cables and Long Island Replacement Cable). The LNS rate
calculation recovers totat transmission revenue requirements net of
revenues received from other sources [i.e., RNS, rentals, etc.), thereby
ensuring that we recover all regional and local revenue requirement's
as prescribed in Tariff No. 3. Both the RNS and LNS rates provide for
annual true-ups to actual costs. The financial imnpacts of differences
bztween actual and projected costs are deferred for future recovery from
or refund to retail customers. At December 31, 2007, the LNS rates were
ir an underrecovery position of approximately $23 million, which will be
recovered from LNS customers in mid-2008. We believe that these rates
will provide us with timely recovery of transmission costs, including
costs of our major transmission projects.

FERC ROE Decision: As a resutt of an order issued by the FERC on
October 31, 2004 relating tc incentives on new transmission facilities
in New England [FERC ROE decision], we recorded an estimated regu-
latory liability for refunds of $25.6 million as of December 31, 2006.

Ir 2007, we completed the customer refunds that were calculated in
accordance with the corpliance filing required by the FERC ROE deci-
sion and refunded approximately $23.9 million to regional, local and
localized transmission customers. The $1.7 miltion positive pre-tax
difference ($1 million after-tax) between the estimated regulatory
ligbility recorced and the actual amount refunded was recognized in
earnings in 2007.

Parsuant to this FERC ROE decision, the New England transmission
owners submitted a compliance filing that calculated the refund amounts
for transmission customers for the February 1, 2005 to October 31,
2006 time period. Subsequently, on July 26, 2007, the FERC disagreed
with the ROEs the transmission owners used in their refund calcula-
tions for the 15-month period between June 3, 2005 and September 3,
2006, rejected a portion of the compliance filing. and required another
compliance filing within 30 days. On August 27, 2007, we submitted

a revised compliance filing with the other New England transmission
owners, which outlined the regional refund process to compiy with the
FERC's July 26, 2007 order. In addition, the transmission owners filed
a request for rehearing claiming that the FERC improperly set the
floor for refunds based on the lower rates that the FERC approved in
its October 31, 2004 order, rather than the last approved rates, for the
period from June 3, 2005 to September 3, 2006. The FERC denied this
request on January 17, 2008, and the transmission owners have until
March 17, 2008 to appeal, if they so choose.

The transmission segment of our regulated companies refunded
approximately $2.2 miltion of revenues and interest related to the
July 26, 2007 order lapproximately $1.4 million after-tax), while the
distribution segment of ur regulated companies received a net afler-
tax benefit of approximately $0.3 million as a result of these refunds.
The refunds, net of tax benefits, totaling $1.1 million after-tax were
recorded in 2007.

Legislative Matters

Environmental Legislation: The Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative
(RGGI is a cooperative effort by certain northeastern states, inctuding
Massachusetts, New Hampshire and Connecticut, to develop a regional
program for stabilizing and reducing Carbon Diexide [CO,] emissions




from fossil fuel-fired electric generators. This initiative proposed to
stabilize CO, emissions at current levels and requires a 10 percent
reduction by 2018 from the initial 2009 permitted levels. Each signatory
state committed to propose for approval legisiative and regulatory
mechanisms to implement the program.

On December 28, 2007, the Connecticut Department of Environmental
Protection [DEP) reteased draft RGGI regutations and conducted a
public hearing on February 8, 2008. The DEP plans to have these rules
finalized by May of 2008 and to participate in a proposed open regiona.
auction of CO, allowances in June of 2008. The DEP has proposed an
auction of 91 percent of allocated CO, allowances, with the remainder
set aside for certain clean energy projects. The DEP has aiso proposed
the first compliance period affecting facitities to begin on January 1,
2009. Although neither CL&P nor Yankee Gas currently have any facili-
ties subject to the RGGI program, CL&P expects the cost of purchased
energy supply to increase due to RGG requirements, NU Enterprises
has a purchase contract with a facility that expires in 2012. This facilitv
will likely be required to purchase CO, allowances.

On August 10, 2007, the Massachusetts DEP and the Division of Energy
Resources reteased draft RGG! regulations. Final regulations are
expected in early 2008, and Massachusetts also plans to participate

in the June 2008 regional auction. Although WMECO has no facilities
that would be subject to this rule, it also expects the cost of purchased
energy ioc increase.

PSNH is our only regulated company that currently owns generation
assets that could be subject to the RGG! standards. In New Hampshira,
draft legistation has been proposed during the 2008 session that is
consistent with the RGGI initiative. However, at this time, because the
draft tegislation has not yet been finalized and because the cost of CO,
allowances under RGGI cannot be identified with any certainty, we are
unable to determine the actual cost and its impact on customer rates
in New Hampshire.

Many states and environmental groups have challenged certain of

~ the federat laws and regutations relating to air emissions as not bging

‘ sufficiently strict. As a result, it is possible that state and federal
regulations could be developed that will impose mere stringent
ymitations on emissions than are currently in effect.

Connecticut:
2007 Legislation: On June 4, 2007, Connecticut Governar Rell signed
into law the Energy Efficiency Act. Among other provisions, the Act:

= Required electric distribution companies to file an integrated
resource plan with the Connecticut Energy Advisory Board [CEAB).
CL&P and Ul filed a joint plan on January 2, 2008. The CEAB has
120 days to apprave or modify it before forwarding the plan to the
DPUC;

* Provides incentives for customers to reduce consumption, particu-
larly during peak load periods;

» Requires electric distribution companies, including CL&P, to file
proposals with the DPUC to build cost-of-service peaking generaticn
facilities. CL&P filed a qualification submission with the DPUC on
February 1, 2008 and expects to file a detailed proposal en or about
March 3, 2008;

* Requires the DPUC to allow CL&P and other Connecticut electric
distribution companies to buy generatian assets that are for sale in
Connecticut if the purchase is in the public interest;

» Requires the DPUC to decouple electric and natural gas distribution
revenues from sales volumes in future rate cases in an effort to
align the interests of customers and the utilities in pursuit of
conservation and energy efficiency;

* Requires CL&P and other Connecticut electric distribution
companies to offer advanced metering to customers which will
support time-based pricing; and

« Allows LDCs to enter into bilateral contracts as a mechanism to
meet their standard service obligations.

Subsequent regulatory developments that resulted from the passage of
the Energy Efiiciency Act are described in "Regulatory Developments
and Rate Matters,” included in this Management's Discussion and
Analysis.

In 2007, the DPUC approved $85 million for energy efficiency and
renewable programs to restore, in effect, funding to previously autho-
rized levels. The fund is allocated 80 percent to CL&P and 20 percent
to Ul, and will be used to prepay securitization obligations previously
incurred by Connecticut. This will enable CL&P to increase its annual
energy efficiency spending by approximately $20 million beginning in
mid-2008. CL&P anticipates it will be allowed to earn incentives on
these higher levels of spending.

New Hampshire:

2007 Legislation: On May 11, 2007, New Hampshire Governor Lynch
signad a law establishing renewable portiolio standards for electricity
sold in the state and requiring that, beginning in 2008, increasing
percentages of the electricity sold te retail customers have direct
ties to renewable energy sources, with the highest percentage of 23.8
percent reached by 2025. PSNH will be required to comply with these
standards, and presently plans to meet them through the purchase
of Renewable Energy Certificates or through Alternative Compliance
Payments allowed under state law. PSNH expects that the additional
costs incurred in meeting this new reguirement will be recovered
through their energy service [ES] rates.

Additionally, cn July 17, 2007, Governor Lynch signed a law which:

= Directed the state Site Evaluation Committee to develop new rules
for siting renewable facilities by October 1, 2007;

» Adds utility ownership of distributed renewable generation and
demand-side management to the topics that the legislature’s
standing State Energy Policy Committee should examine; and

+ Directs the NHPUC to encourage upgrades to the iransmission
system in northern New Harmpshire.

An NHPUC report detailing the current transmission infrastructure in
northern New Hampshire and steps needed to upgrade it to accommo-
date additional renewable generation was forwarded to the legislature
on December 1, 2007. This report indicated that a $200 miltion invest-
ment in this infrastructure woutd be needed to develop 400 to 500
additional MW of renewable generation. We are currently evaluating
this development opportunity for PSNH and have not yet identified any
specific investments.
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Regulatory Developments and Rate Matters

Regulated Companies’ Transmission Revenues - Retail Rates: A
significant portion of our transmission segment revenue comes from
IS0-NE charges to the distribution segments of CL&P, PSNH and
WMECO, which recover these costs through rates charged to their
retail customers. CL&P and WMECO each have a retail transmission
cost tracking mechanism as part of their rates, and PSNH implemented
a transrnission cost adjustment mechanism [TCAM) that was effective
on a retroactive basis beginning on July 1, 2006 as part of its February 24,
2007 rate case settlernent agreement. These tracking mechanisms
allow the companies to charge their retail customers for transmission
charges on a timely basis.

Forward Capacity Market: On March 6, 2006, ISO-NE and a broad
cross-section of critical stakeholders from around the region, including
CL&P and PSNH, filed a comprehensive settlement agreement al the
FERC proposing an auction-based forward capacity market (FCM]
mechanism in place of the previously proposed locational installed
capacity mechanism, an administratively determined electric generation
capacity pricing mechanism. The settlement agreement provided for

a fixed levet of compensation to generators from December 1, 2006
through May 31, 2010 without regard to location in New England, and
annual forward capacity auctions, beginning in 2008 for the 1-year
period beginning on June 1, 2010, and annually thereafter. On June 14,
2006, the FERC approved the March of 2006 settlement agreement,
and the payment of fixed compensation to generators began on
December 1, 2006. The FERC denied rehearing of the decision on
October 31, 2006. Several parties have challenged the FERC's approval
of the settlemment agreement, and that challenge is now pending in the
Court of Appealé. CL&P, PSNH and WMECO are currently recovering
retated costs from their customers.

The first forward capacity auction concluded in early February of 2008
for the capacity year of June of 2010 through May of 2011. The bidding
reached the establishment minimum of $4.90 per kilowatt-month
with 2,047 MW of excess remaining capacity, which means the effective
capacity price will be $4.25 per kilowatt-month compared to the
previously established price of $4.10 for the capacity year preceding
June of 2010. These costs are recoverable in all jurisdictions through
the currently estabtished rate structures.

Connecticut - CL&P:

Distribution Rates: On January 1, 2007, CL&P implemented a $7 million
annualized increase in distribution rates, the fourth of four annual
increases in distribution rates approved by the DPUC in December of
2003. On July 30, 2007, CL&P filed an application with the DPUC to
raise distribution rates by approximately $18% million (later revised to
$182 million) effective on January 1, 2008, and approximately $21.9
million effective in January of 2009. In its application, CL&P cited a
weak actual Regulatory ROE, which has been significantly lower than
its 7.8 percent authorized Requlatery ROE since the end of 2004, and
requested an authorized Regulatory ROE of 11 percent. The application
also cited the December 31, 2007 expiration of $30 million of refunds
per year to customers for four years totaling $120 million from previous
averrecoveries and the need to upgrade CL&P’s aging distribution
facitities. On January 28, 2008, the DPUC approved $77.8 million, or
11.7 percent, and $20.1 million, or 2.6 percent, in annualized increases
over CL&P's current distribution rates, effective on February 1, 2008
and 2009, respectively, which also represent a 0.9 percent increase
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on a total rates basis over December of 2007 rates and a 0.4 percent
increase on a total rates basis over February of 2008 rates, respec-
tively. These increases are based on an authorized Regulatory ROE of
9.4 percent. In addition, the DPUC approved substantially all of CL&P's
requested distribution segment capital program of $2%4 million for
2008 and $288 million for 2009.

As required by the Energy Efficiency Act, CL&P's rate case application
included a proposal to implement distribution revenue decoupling from
the volume of electricity sales. CL&P proposed using a revenue per
customer tracking mechanism in its rate case filing. In lieu of this pro-
posal, the DPUC authorized a rate design that includes greater fixed
recovery of distribution revenue, As compared to previous tariffs, this
authorization intends for CL&P to recover proportionately greater rev-
enue through the fixed customer and demand charges and proportion-
ately lesser revenue through the per KWH charges. The OPUC intends
for this rate design to leave CL&P's distribution revenue recovery less
sasceptible lo changes in KWH sales and KWH usage per customer.

Time-of-Use Rates: On March 30, 2007, CL&P filed a metering com-
pliance plan with the DPUC that would meet the DPUC's objective of
making time-of-use rates availabte to all CL&P customers, CL&P's
filing discussed the technology, implementation options and costs
camparing an open AMI system deployed on a geographic basis to

a fixed automated metering reading netwark systern deployed on a
usage-based priority schedule, The ptan provided for full deployment
by 2010. On July 2, 2007, CL&P fited a revised AMI plan consistent with
the requirements of the Energy Efficiency Act, which provided for a less
ajgressive implementation schedule.

On December 19, 2007, the DPUC issued a final decision on CL&P's
eompliance plan that authorizes a pilot pragram invalving 10,000 AMI
meters and a rate design pilot to test new time-of-use and reai-time
rates to determine customer acceptance and load response to various
p-icing structures. CL&P will file a plan to implement the pilot by
March 15, 2008 and is required to submit a report on the technical
capability of the meters, customer response to the pilot and other

related results by December 1, 2009. The costs associated with the

prlot are authorized to be recovered from customers, initially through
CL&P's Federally Mandated Congestion Charges [FMCC].

Standard Service and Last Resort Service Rates: CL&P’s residential
and small commercial customers who do not choose competitive
suppliers are served under Standard Service [SS) rates, and large
cornmercial and industrial customers who do not choose competitive
suppliers are served under Last Resort Service [LRS) rates. On January 1.
2007, CL&P's combined average SS and LRS rates increased approxi-
mately 10.4 percent and remained in effect untit July 1, 2007. On July 1,
2007, CL&P's combined average S5 and LRS rates decreased approxi-
mately 3.5 percent and remained in effect until January 1, 2008, On
January 1, 2008, CL&P’s combined average S5 and LRS rates decreased
approximately 1.1 percent. CL&P is fully recovering the costs of its S5
and LRS services on a timely basis.

FMCC Filings: On August 2, 2007, CL&P filed with the DPUC its semi-
annual reconciliation to docurnent actual FMCC charges lincluding
Energy Independence Act charges, as defined below], Generation
Sarvice Charge [GSCI revenue and expenses and Energy Adjustment
C.ause [EAC} charges for the period January 1, 2007 through June 30,
2007. For the first half of 2007, the filing identified overrecoveries total-
ing approximately $64 million related to these charges. On January 23,




2008, the DPUC issued a final decision covering this period that
approved all costs as filed. On February 5, 2008, CL&P filed with the
DPUC its semi-annual FMCC, GSC and EAC reconciliation for the period
July 1, 2007 through December 31, 2007, which also contained the
revenue and cost information from the January 1, 2007 through June 30,
2007 period. This filing identified overrecoveries totaling approximately
$105 miltion for the full year 2007. Of this total, approximately $88 millior:
was included in the annual CL&P rate change effective January 1, 2008
Therefore, there is a net remaining overrecovery of approximatety $17
million to be given to our customers in the future.

CTA and SBC Reconciliation: On March 30, 2007, CL&P fited its 2006
CTA and System Benefits Charge [SBC} reconciliation, which compared
CTA and SBC revenues to revenue requirements, with the OPUC. On
Decernber 27, 2007, the DPUC approved CL&P's request to caollect SBZ
revenues at an annual level of $37.6 million, effective on January 1, 2008.

Energy Independence and Energy Efficiency Acts: In April of 2007,
pursuant to Public Act 05-01, "An Act Concerning Energy Independence”

. [Energy Independence Act], CL&P entered into a 15-year agreement

beginning in 2010 to purchase energy, capacity and renewable energy
credits from a biomass energy plant yet to be built. The agreement
has been approved by the DPUC. CL&P's annual payments under this
agreement will depend on the price and quantity of energy purchased
and are currently estimated to be approximately $15 million beginning
in 2010 escalating to $20 miltion in 2025. CL&P and Ul have signed

a sharing agreement, which has been filed with and approved by the
DPUC, under which they will share the costs and benefits of this
contract and other contracts under this pragram, with 80 percent to
CL&P and 20 percent to UL, CL&P's portion of the costs and benefits of
this contract will be paid by or returned to CL&P's customers.

On January 30, 2008, the DPUC approved contracts with seven addi-
tional renewable energy projects including biomass, landfill gas and
fuet cell projects generating a total of 109 MW of renewable energy.
CL&P's share of the future costs of such contracts will be paid by
CL&P's customers. A third round of solicitations is expected to be
conducted by the Connecticut Clean Energy Fund (CCEF) for an
additional 26 MW of renewable energy generation to be selected by
October 1, 2008,

Also pursuant to the Energy Independence Act, the DPUC conducted a
request for proposal process and selected three generating projects to
be built or modified that would be eligible to sign contracts for differ-
ences [CfDs] with CL&P and Ul for a total of approximately 782 MW ol
capacity. The process also selected one new demand response project
for 5 MW. The CfDs obligate the utilities to pay the difference betweer
a set capacity price and the value that the projects receive in the IS0-
NE capacity markets. The contracts are for periods of up to 15 years
and are subject 1o another similar sharing agreement between CL&P
and Ul. These contracts have heen approved by the DPUC and signed
by CL&P or UI, whichever is the primary obligor. CL&P’s portion of
the costs and benefits of these contracts will be paid by or refunded
to CL&P's customers. The costs to CL&P under these agreements
will depend on the capacity prices that the projects receive in the 1SO-
NE capacity markets. For further information, see Note %, "Derivative
Instruments,” to the consolidated financial staternents.

The Energy Efficiency Act requires Connecticut electric distribution
companies to negotiate in good faith to potentially enter into cost-
of-service based contracts for the energy associated with the three

above-mentioned generation projects that were awarded CIDs by the
DPUC, for terms equivalent to the term lengths of the associated CiDs.
These energy contracts must be approved by the DPUC if it finds that
they will stabilize the cost of electricity for Connecticut ratepayers.
Depending on its terms, a long-term contract to purchase energy from
a project that is also under a CfD could result in CL&P consolidating
these projects into its financial statements. CL&P would seek to
recover from customers any costs that result from consolidation of a
oroject. As of this date, only cne of the three CfD project devetopers
has requested that CL&P enter into negoliations for a potential energy
purchase agreement.

Customer Service Docket: On February 27, 2007, the DPUC issued

a final decisicn in a docket examining the manner of operation and
accuracy of CL&P's electric meters. While finding that the meters
generally aperated within industry standards, the DPUC imposed sig-
nificant new testing, analytical and reporting requirements on CL&P.
The DPUC alsec found that CL&P failed to be responsive to customer
complaints by refusing meter tests or not atlowing customers to speak
with supervisors, The decision acknowledges recent corrective actions
taken by CL&P but requires changes in numerous CL&P customer
service practices. The decision also places substantial new tracking
and reporting obligations on CL&P. The decision does not fine CL&P
but holds that possibility open if CL&P fails to meet benchmarks to be
established in this docket.

Connecticut - Yankee Gas:

Yankee Gas Rate Relief: On June 29, 2007, the DPUC approved a rate
case settlement agreement between Yankee Gas, the OCC and the
DPUC's Prosecutorial Division that resulted in an annualized increase
of $22.1 million, or 4.2 percent, in Yankee Gas's base rates effective on
July 1, 2007. The $22.1 million increase is net of expected pipeline and
commadity cost savings primarily from the operation of Yankee Gas's
1.2 bef LNG storage facility. The decision allows Yankee Gas to recover
the costs related to this facility and higher cost-of-service and includes
an authorized Regulatory ROE of 10.1 percent. Yankee Gas's new rates
do not reflect the revenue decoupling required by the Energy Efficiency
Act, since the rate case was filed before the legislation was passed.

New Hampshire:

Delivery Service Rate Case: On May 25, 2007, the NHPUC approved a
distribution and transmission rate case settlement agreement between
PSNH, the NHPUC staif and the OCA. The settlement agreement
included, among other items, a transmission cost tracking mechanism,
effective on July 1, 2004, to be reset annually, and an allowed distribution
ROE of 9.67 percent. The settlement agreement allowed for a $37.7
million estimated annualized rate increase [$24.5 million for distribution
and $11.2 million for transmission in base rates subject to tracking)
beginning on July 1, 2007, along with the previous $24.5 million annual-
ized temporary distribution rate increase that was effective on July 1,
2006. The $37.7 million includes a one-year revenue increase of
approximatety $9 million related to additional revenues to recoup the
difference between the temporary and permanent rates for the period
of July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007. An additional delivery revenue
increase of $3 million took effect on January 1, 2008 with a final esti-
mated rate decrease of approximately $9 million scheduted for July 1,
2008. The settlement agreement enabled PSNH to fund a $10 million
annual reliability enhancement pregram and more adequately fund its
major storm cost reserve.
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The pre-tax earnings impact of the approximately $9 million of adgitional
revenues related to the July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007 time period
was or wilt be recognized as follows: approximately $4.5 million
attributable to 2006 retail transmission expense was recognized in the
second guarter of 2007; $3 miltion attributable to distribution costs
from July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007 will be recognized over the
12-month pericd beginning on July 1, 2007; and the remaining $1.5
millien of revenue wilt be captured as part of the 2007 retail transmission
tracker and will be offset by an equal amount of retail transmission
expenses.

SCRC/ES Reconciliation and Rates: On May 1, 2007, PSNH filed its
2006 stranded cost recovery charge {SCRCI/ES reconciliation with the
NHPUC. On November 3, 2007, PSNH, the NHPUC Staff, and the OCA
filed a proposed settlement with the NHPUC. On December 7, 2007, .-
the settlement, which did not have a material impact on our 2007
earnings, was approved by the NHPUC.

On September 7, 2007, PSNH filed a petition with the NHPUC requestring
a change in its SCRC rate for the period January 1, 2008 through

December 31, 2008. The NHPUC issued an orger on December 17, 2007,

approving its SCRC rate of $0.0072 per KWH far 2008,

On September 7, 2007, PSNH filed a petition with the NHPUC
requesting a change in its default ES rate for the period January 1,
2008 through December 31, 2008. The NHPUC issued an order on

December 28, 2007, approving an ES rate of $0.G882 per KWH for 2008.

As part of its order approving the ES rate, the NHPUC approved an
increase in the allowed return on generation assets from 9.42 percent
to 9.81 percent effective on January 1, 2008.

TCAM Rates: On June 1, 2007, PSNH filed a petition with the NHPUC
seeking to establish a TCAM rate consistent with the rate case settle-
ment agreement that was approved by the NHPUC on May 25, 2007.
The TCAM rate filing was amended on June 6, 2007 to reflect updates
to wholesale transmission rates that were made available to PSNH
after the initial June 1, 2007 filing. The NHPUC issued an order on
June 29, 2007 appreving a TCAM rate of $0.00752 per KWH for the
period July 1, 2007 through fune 30, 2008.

Massachusetts:

Rate Case Settlement: On December 14, 2006, the Massachuseits
Department of Public Utilities [formerty the Department of
Telecommunications] [DPU] approved a rate case settlement agree-
ment that included distribution rate increases of $1 million beginning
on January 1, 2007 and an additional $3 million increase beginning

on January 1, 2008. On January 1, 2008, WMECO adjusted its rates

te include the distribution increase, new basic service contracts, and
changes in several tracking mechanisms. The net impact of this rate
adjustment is an average 4.2 percent increase in customers' total bills.

Contingent Matters:

The items summarized below contain contingencies that may have an
impact on our net income, financial position or cash flows. See Note
BA, "Commitments and Contingencies - Regulatory Developments
and Rate Matters,” to the consolidated financial statements far further
information regarding these matters.
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* Procurement Fee Rate Proceedings: CL&P submitted to the DPUC
its proposed methedology fo calculate the variable incentive portion
of the procurement fee, which was effective through 2004, and
requested approval of the pre-tax $5.8 mitlion 2004 incentive fee. We
have not recorded amounts related to the 2005 or 2006 procurement
fee in earnings, although we estimate that if CL&P’s methodology
is upheld, CL&P would record after-tax amounts of $3.3 million for
2006 and $3.6 million for 200% in 2008.

We have recovered the $5.8 million pre-tax ameunt, which was
recorded in 2005 earnings through the CTA reconciliation process.

If the DPUC does not allow recovery of $5.8 million for procurement
fees in its final decision, then CL&P would record a loss and estab-
lish an ebligation to refund its customers. Hearings were held on
December 10, 2007 and January 3, 2008. The new schedule calls for
a draft decision in this docket to be issued on March 7, 2008.

¢ Purchased Gas Adjustment: In 2005 and 2006, the DPUC issued
decisions regarding Yankee Gas's Purchased Gas Adjustment (PGA]
clause charges and required an audit of approximately $11 million
in previously recovered PGA revenues associated with unbilled
sales and revenue adjustments for the period of Septemnber 1, 2003
through August 31, 2005. The audit has cencluded, and a final report
has been submitted. A DPUC hearing was held on October 9, 2007.
There is currently no final schedute in this case. We believe the
unbilled sales and revenue adjustments and resulting charges to
customers through the PGA clause for this period were appropriate
and that the appropriateness of the PGA charges to customers for
the time period under review will be approved.

* Transition Cost Reconciliations: WMECO filed its 2005 transition
cost reconciliation with the DPU on March 31, 2006 and filed its 2004
transiticn cost reconcitiation with the DPU on March 31, 2007, The
CPU opened a proceeding for these filings and evidentiary hearings
were held on August 29, 2007. The briefing process was completed
during October of 2007. The timing of the decision in this docket is
uncertain. Management does not expect the outcome of the DPU's
review of these fitings to have a material adverse impact on WMECO's
net inceme, financial position or cash flows.

Deferred Contractual Obligations

We have significant decommissioning and plant closure cost obligations
to the Yankee Companies, which have completed the physical decom-
missicning of all three of their facilities and are now engaged in the
long-term storage of their spent fuel. The Yankee Companies coliect
decommissioning and closure costs through wholesale, FERC-approved
rétes.charged under power purchase agreements with several New
England utilities, including our efectric utility companies. These
cumpanies recover these costs through state regulatory commission-
approved retail rates. A summary of each of cur subsidiary’'s owner-
ship percentage in the Yankee Companies at December 31, 2007 is as
follows:

CYAaPC YAEC MYAPC
CL&P 34.5% 24.5% 12.0%
P5SNH 5.0% 7.0% 5.0%
WMECO 2.5% 7.0% 3.0%
Tetals 49.0% 38.5% 20.0%




Our percentage share of the abligation to support the Yankee Companies
under FERC-approved rate tariffs is the same as the ownership
percentages above.

CYAPC: Under the terms of the settlement agreement between CYAPC,
the DPUC, the OCC, and Maine regulators, the parties agreed to a
revised decommissioning estimate of $642.9 million [in 2006 dollars).
Annual collections began in January of 2007, and were reduced from tha
$93 million originally requested for years 2007 through 2010 to lower
levels ranging from $37 million in 2007 rising to $44 million in 2015. Thz
reduction to annual collections was achieved by extending the collection
period by 5 years through 2015 by reflecting the proceeds from a settlement
agreement with Bechtel Power Corporation, by reducing collections in
2007, 2008 and 2009 by $5 million per year, and making other adjust-
ments. We believe CL&P and WMECO will recaver their shares of this
obligation from their customers. PSNH has recovered its share of these
casts from its customers.

YAEC: On July 31, 2006, the FERC approved a settlement agreement
with the DPUC, the Massachusetts Attorney General and the Vermont
Department of Public Service previously filed by YAEC. This setilement
agreement did not materially affect the level of 2006 charges. Under
the settlement agreement, YAEC agreed to reduce its Novernber 2005
decommissioning cost increase from $85 million te $79 million. Other
terms of the settlement agreement include extending the coltection
period for charges through Decernber 2014, reconciling and adjusting
future charges based on actual decontamination and decommissionirg
expenses and the decommissioning trust fund's actual investment
earnings. We believe that our $24.9 million share of the increase in
decommissioning costs will ultimately be recovered from the customers
of CL&P and WMECOQ [approximately $19.4 miltion and $5.5 million
for CL&P and WMECO, respectivelyl. PSNH has recovered its share of
these costs from its customers.

MYAPC: MYAPC is collecting revenues from CL&P, PSNH, WMECD
and other owners that are adequate to recover the remaining cost of
decommissioning its plant, and CL&P and WMECQ expect to recover
their respective shares of such costs through future rates. PSNH has
recovered its share of these costs from its customers.

Spent Nuclear Fuel Litigation: In 1998, CYAPC, YAEC and MYAPC filed
separate complaints against the United States Department of Energy
[DOE] in the Court of Federal Claims seeking menetary damages
resulting from the DOE’s failure to begin accepting spent nuclear fuel
for disposal by January 31, 1998 pursuant to the terms of the 1983
spent fuel and high level waste disposal contracts between the Yankez
Companies and the DOE. In a ruling released on October 4, 2008, the
Court of Federal Claims held that the DOE was liable for damages to
CYAPC for $34.2 million through 2001, YAEC for $32.9 million through
2001 and MYAPC for $75.8 million through 2002. The Yankee Companies
had claimed actual damages for the same periods as follows: CYAPC
$37.7 million; YAEC: $60.8 mitlion; and MYAPC: $78.1 million. Most

of the reduction in the claimed actual damages related to disallowed
spent nuclear fuel pool operating expenses.

The Court of Federal Claims, following precedent set in another case,
did not award the Yankee Companies future damages covering the
period beyond the 2001/2002 damages award dates. In December of
2007, the Yankee Companies filed lawsuits against the DOE seeking
recovery of actual damages incurred in the years following 2001/2002,

In December of 2004, the DOE appealed the ruling, and the Yankee
Companies filed a cross-appeal. The refund to CL&P, PSNH and
WMECO of any damages that may be recovered from the DOE will
be realized through the Yankee Companies’ FERC-approved rate
settlement agreements, subject to final determination of the FERC.
The appeal is expected to be argued in 2008 with a decision from the
Court of Appeals to follow.

CL&P, PSNH and WMECGO's aggregate share of these damages is

$44.7 million. Their respective shares of these damages are as follows:

CL&P: $29 million; PSNH: $7.8 million; and WMECO: $7.9 million.
CL&P, PSNH and WMECG cannot at this time determine the timing
or amount of any ultimate recovery from the DOE, through the Yankee
Companies, on this matter. However, we do believe that any net
settlement proceeds we receive would be incorporated into FERC-
approved recoveries, which would be passed on to our customers,
through reduced charges.

NU Enterprises Divestitures

We have exited most of our competitive businesses. NU Enterprises
continues to manage to completion its remaining wholesale marketing
contracts and energy services activities.

Wholesale Marketing Business: During 2007, Select Energy continued
to manage its remaining obligations in the PJM power poot and a long-
term contract with the New York Municipal Power Agency (NYMPA,
which will expire in 2013. Four of the five wholesale sales contracts
that were remaining in the PJM pool at the beginning of 2607 expired
on May 31, 2007. The remaining PJM wholesale sales contract will
expire on May 31, 2008. The NYMPA and PJM contracts, as well as the
related supply contracts, are derivatives that have been marked to
market through earnings and have a negative fair value of $94 million
as of December 31, 2007. In addition to the PJM and NYMPA contracts,
Select Energy’s anly other long-term wholesale obligation is a non-
derivative contract to purchase the output of a certain generating facility
in New England through 2012. As a non-derivative contract, the fair
value of the contract has nct been reflected on the balance sheet, and
the contract has not been marked to market. Based on the current
estimated value of this non-derivative contract, when combined with
the fair value of the derivative contracts at December 31, 2007, we
believe, under present conditions, that the estimated total net cash
cost at December 31, 2007 to exit the remaining wholesale contracts if
served out or settled at the same time is approaching break-even.

Retail Marketing Business: On June 1, 2006, Select Energy sold its
retail marketing business and paid $24.4 million in 2006 and $14.7
million in 2007 to the purchaser, completing our obligation.

Competitive Generation Business: We completed the sale of NU
Enterprises competitive generation assets an November 1, 2006.

Energy Services Businesses: Most of NU Enterprises’ energy services
husinesses were sold in 2005 and 2004. In 2007, the energy services
businesses recorded an after-tax gain of approximately $2.6 million
related to the favorable resolution of certain legal and contract issues.

Also in 2007, the remaining contracts of SECH and former Woods
Electrical were wound down. For further infermation regarding these
companies, see Note 3, "Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations,” to the consolidated financial statements.
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In connection with the sale of the retail marketing business, the
competitive generation business and certain of the energy services
businesses, we provided various guarantees and indemnifications to
the purchasers of those businesses. See Note 8H, "Commitments and
Contingencies ~ Guarantees and Indemnifications,” to the consolidated
financial staternents for information regarding these items.

NU Enterprises Contracts

Wholesale Derivative Contracts: At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the
fair values of NU Enterprises’ [through its subsidiary Select Energyl
wholesale derivative assets and derivative liabilities, which are subject
to mark-to-market accounting, are as follows:

Az December 31, 2007 and 2006, the sources of the fair values of
wholesale derivative contracts are inctuded in the fallowing tables:

[Millions of Dotlars) Fair Value of Wholesate Contracts at December 31, 7007

Maturity in

Maturity Less Maturity of One Excess Total Fair

Sources of Fair Value  than OneYear  to Four Years  of Four Years Value

P-ices actively quoted $167  $10020 % 14 $ (3.5}
P-ices provided by

external sources {24.00 (38.8) (13.4) 176.2)

Model-based - 4.3 (18.6) 14.3)

Totals $(28.7) $(34.7)  $(30.8) $(94.0

{Millions of Dollars] Fair Value of Wholesale Contracts at December 31, 2006

Maturity in

Cecember 31, Maturity Less Maturity of Ore Excess Total Fair
(Millions of Dollars) 2007 2006 Sources of Fair Value  than DneYear  to FourYears  of Four Years Value
Current wholesale derivative assets $362 § 434 Prices actively quoted $ 6.9 $1120 % 9l $ {200
Long-term wholesale derivative assets 7.2 22.3 Prices provided by
Current wholesale derivative liabilities [64.91 (82.3) external sources (32.2] 144.8) 12.7) (89.7i
Long-term wholesale derivative liabilities (72.5) (110.1) Model-based 0.4 35 {20.7] (16.8)
Portfolio pasition $(94.00  $(126.5]  Totals $(38.7)  $[52.5]  $135.3) $0126.5)

Numerous factors could either positively or negatively affect the
realization of the wholesale derivative net fair value amounts in cash.
These factors include the amounts paid or received to exit some or all
of these derivative contracts, the volatility of carnmodity prices until
the derivative contracts are exited or expire, the outcome of future
transactions, differences between expected and actual volumes, the
performance of counterparties, and other factors.

Select Energy has policies and procedures requiring all of its whole-
sale derivative energy positions to be valued daily and segregating
responsibilities between the individuals actually transacting lfront
office) and those confirming the trades [middle officel. The middle
office is responsible for determining the portfolio’s fair value
independent fram the front office.

The methods Select Energy used to determine the fair value of its
wholesale derivative contracts are identified and segregated in the
table of fair value of wholesale derivative contracts at December 31,
2007 and 2006. A description of each method is as follows: 1) prices
actively quoted primarily represent New York Mercantile Exchange
futures and swaps that are marked to closing exchange prices; and 2}
prices provided by external sources primarily include over-the-counter
forwards and options, including bilateral contracts for the purchase or
sale of electricity, and are marked to the mid-point of bid and ask
market prices. The mid-points of market prices are adjusted to include
all applicable market information, such as prior contract settlements
with third parties. Currently, Select Energy also has a derivative contract
for which a portion of the contract's fair value is determined based on
a model. The model utilizes natural gas prices and a conversion factor
to electricity for off-peak prices in 2012 and for all prices in 2013.
Broker quotes for electricity at locations for which Setect Energy has
entered inlo transactions are generally available through the year 2011
for all prices and through 2012 for on-peak prices.

Generally, valuations of short-term derivative contracts derived from
quotes or other external sources are more reliable should there be a
need to liquidate the contracts, while valuations for longer-term deriv-
ative contracts are less certain. Accordingly, there is a risk that deriva-
tive contracts will not be realized at the amounts recorded.
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For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the changes in fair
velue of these derivative contracts are included in the following table:

Tetal Portfalio Fair Value
Years Ended December 31,
[Milligns of Dollars) 2007 2006
Fair value of wholesale contracts outstanding
at the beginning of the year $1126.50  ${230.1)
Contracts realized or otherwise settled
during the year 38.9 189
Changes in fair value recorded:
Fuel, purchased and net interchange power (6.4) [15.4]
Operating revenues - 0.1
Fair vatue of wholesale contracts outstanding
at the end of the year $ (94,00  $(126.5)

For further information regarding Select Energy’s derivative contracts,
see Note 5, "Derivative Instruments,” 10 the consolidated financial
statements.

Counterparty Credit: Counterparty credit risk relates to the risk of
loss that Select Energy would incur because of non-performance by
ccunterparties pursuant to the terms of their contractual obligations.
Select Energy has established credit policies with regard to its coun-
terparties to minimize overall ¢redit risk. These policies require an
evaluation of potential counterparties’ financial condition [including
credit ratingsl, collateral requirements under certain circumsiances
{including cash advances, LOCs, and parent guarantees), and the use
of standardized agreements that allow for the netting of positive and
negative exposures associated with a singte counterparty. This evalua-
titm results in Select Energy establishing ¢redit limits prior 10 entering
into contracts. The appropriateness of these limits is subject to our
ccntinuing review. Concentrations among these counterparties may
affect Select Energy's overall exposure to credit risk, either positively
or negatively, in that the counterparties may be similarly affected by
changes to economic, regulatory or other conditions, At December 31,
2007, Setect Energy’s counterparty credit exposure to wholesale and
trading counterparties of approximately one percent was collateralized,
approximately 21 percent was rated BBB- or better and approximately
7€ percent was non-rated, The composition of Select Energy's credit
portfolio has shifted from being largely investment grade-rated to
being mostly non-rated. This is largely due to the exit from the New




England wholesale and retail pertfolios and the expiration of PJM
obligations. The bulk of the non-rated credit exposure is comprised
of one counterparty that is a creditworthy, non-rated public entity.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Regulated Companies: The CL&P Receivabtes Corporation [CRC is &
wholly-owned subsidiary of CL&P. CRC has an agreement with CL&P
to purchase their accounts receivable and unbilled revenues and has
an arrangement with a highly-rated financial institution under which
CRC can sell up to $100 million of an undivided interest in accounts
receivable and unbilled revenues. At December 21, 2007, there were
$20 mitlion of these sales. At December 31, 2006, CL&P had made nc
such sales.

CRC was established for the sole purpose of acquiring and selling
CL&P’s accounts receivable and unbilled revenues and is included in
CL&P's and NU's consolidated financial statements. On July 3, 2007,
CL&P extended the bank commitment under the Receivables Purchase
and Sale Agreement with CRC and the financial institution through
June 30, 2008 and extended the facility termination date to June 21,
2012, CL&P's continuing involvement with the receivables that are

sold to CRC and the financial institution is limited to the servicing of
those receivables.

The transfer of receivables to the financial institution under this
arrangement qualifies for sale treatment under Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS| No. 140, "Accounting for Transfers and
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities ~ A
Replacement of SFAS No. 125.”

While a part of our cash management facilities, this off-balance sheet
arrangement is not significant to our liquidity. There are no known
events, demands, commitments, trends, or uncertainties that will, or
are reasonably likely to, result in the termination or material reduction
in the amount available to us under this off-balance sheet arrangement.

NU Enterprises: We have various guarantees and indemnification
obligations outstanding on behalf of former subsidiaries in connection
with the exit from the NU Enterprises businesses, See Note 8H,
“Commitments and Contingencies - Guarantees and Indemnifications.,”
to the consolidated financial statements for information regarding the
maximum exposure and amounts recorded under these guarantees
and indemnification obligations.

Enterprise Risk Management

We have implemented an Enterprise Risk Management [ERM) methori-
ology for identifying the principal risks t¢ the company. ERM involves
the application of a well-defined, enterprise-wide methodology that
will enable our Risk and Capital Comrnittee, comprised of our senior
officers, to oversee the identification, management and reporting of
the principal risks of the business. However, there can be no assur-
ances that the ERM process will identify every risk or event that could
impact our financial candition or results of operations. The findings of
this process are periodically discussed with-our Board of Trustees.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates, assumptions and at times
difficult, subjective or complex judgments. Changes in these estimates,
assumptions and judgments, in and of themselves, could materially
impact our financial statements. Qur management communicates

to and discusses with our Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees
all critical accounting policies and estimates. The following are the
accounting policies and estimates that we believe are the most critical
in nature. See Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,”
to our consolidated financial statements for other accounting poticies,
estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consotidated
financial statements.

Accounting for Environmental Reserves: Environmental reserves are
accrued using probabilistic assessments when it is probable that a
liability has been incurred and an amount can be reasonably estimated.
Adjustrments made to envirenmental reserves could have a significant
effect on earnings. Our approach estimates the liabitity based on the
most likely action plan from a variety of available remediation options,
ranging from no action to remedies ranging from establishing institu-
tional centrols to full site remediation and long-term monitoring. Our
approach estimates the liabilities associated with each pessible action
ptan based on findings through various phases of site assessments.

These estimates are based on currently available information from
presently enacted state and federal environmental laws and regulations
and several cost estimatas from third-party engineering and remediation
contractors. These amounts also take into cansideration prior experience
in remediating contaminated sites and data released by the United
States Environmental Protection Agency and ather organizations.
These estimates are subjective in nature partly because there are usually
several different remediation options from which to choose when
working on a specific site. These estimates are subject to revisions in
future periods based on actual costs or new infarmation concerning
gither the level of contamination at the site or newly enacted laws and
regulations. The amounts recorded as environmentat liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets represent our best estimate of the liability
for environmental costs based on current site information from site
assessments and remediation estimates. These liabilities are estimated
on an undiscounted basis.

We remain in the process of evaluating additional potential remediation
requirements at a river site in Massachusetts containing tar deposits.
HWP is at least partially responsible for this site, and substantial
rermediation activities at this site have already been conducted. These
activities are the subject of ongoing discussions with the Massachusetts
Department of Environmental Protection. The ultimate remediation
requirements and costs will depend, among other things. on the level
and extent of the remaining tar required to be removed, the extent of
HWP's responsibility and the related scope and timing, all of which are
difficult to estimate because of a number of uncertainties at this time.
Therefore we cannot predict the outcome of this matter or its ultimate
effect on us. HWP's share of the remediation costs related to this site
is not recoverable from ratepayers. There were ne changes to the
enviranmental reserve for this site in 2007. Any additional increase to
the environmental remediation reserve for this site would be recorded
in earnings in future periods when it is reasonably estimable and
probable, and potential increases may be material.
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Income Taxes: Income tax expense is calculated in each reporting
period in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process
involves estimating actual current tax expense or benefit as well as the
income tax impact of temporary differences resulting from differing
treatment of items, such as timing of the deduction and expenses for
tax and book accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred
tax assets and liabilities that are recorded on the consolidated balance
sheets. Adjustments made to income tax estimates can significantly
affect our consolidated financial statements. Actual income taxes could
vary from estimated amounts due to the future impacts of various
items, including changes in tax laws, cur financial conditions in future
periods and the final review of filed tax returns by taxing authorities.
We must assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be recovered
from future taxable income, and te the extent that recovery is not likely,
a valuation allowance is established. Significant judgment is required
in determining income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities
and valuation allowances.

We account for deferred taxes under SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for
Income Taxes.” We have established a regulatory asset for temporary
differences recorded as deferred tax liabilities that will be recovered
in rates in the future. The regulatory asset amounted to $335.5 mil-
lion and $308 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Regulatory agencies in certain jurisdictions in which our regulated
companies operate require the tax effect of specific temporary dif-
ferences to be “flowed through™ to utility customers. Flow through
treatment means that deferred tax expense is not recorded on the
censolidated statements of income/{loss). Instead, the tax effect of the
temporary difference impacts both amounts for income tax expense
currently included in customers’ rates and the company’s net income.
Flow through treatment can result in effective income tax rates that
are significantly different than expected income tax rates.

A reconciliation of expected tax expense at the statutory federal
income tax rate to actual tax expense recorded is included in Note 16,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Income Taxes,” to the
consolidated financial statements.

Effective on January 1, 2007, we implemented Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB] Interpretation No. [FIN] 48, "Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an Interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109.” FIN 48 applies to all income tax positions reflected on our
balance sheets that have been included in previous tax returns or are
expected to be included in future tax returns. FIN 48 addresses the
methodology to be used prospectively in recognizing, measuring and
classifying the amounts assaciated with tax positions that are deemed
to be uncertain, including related interest and penalties. As a result of
implementing FIN 4B, we recognized a cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle of $41.8 million as a reduction to the January 1,
2007 balance of retained earnings.

The determination of whather a tax position meets the recognition
thresheld under FIN 48 is based on facts, circumstances and information
available to us. Once a tax position meets the recognition threshotd,
the tax benefit is measured using a cumulative probability assessment.
Assigning probabilities in measuring a recognized tax position and
evaluating new information or events in subsequent periods could
change previcus conclusions used to measure the tax position estimate.
This requires significant judgment. New information or events may
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include tax examinations or appeals, devetopments in case law,
settlements of tax positions, changes in tax law and regulations, rulings
by taxing authorities and statute of limitation expirations. Such information
or events may have a significant impact on our net income, financial
position and cash flows.

Dzrivative Accounting: Certain regulated companies” contracts for the
purchase or sale of energy or energy related products are derivatives,
along with all but one of Select Energy's remaining wholesale marketing
contracts.

The application of derivative accounting under SFAS Na. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended, is
complex and requires our judgment in the following respects: election
and designation of the normal purchases and sales exception, identification
of derivatives and embedded derivatives, identifying hedge relationships,
assessing and measuring hedge ineffectiveness, and determining the
fair value of derivatives. All of these judgments, depending upon their
timing and effect, can have a significant impact on our consolidated
earnings.

The fair value of derivatives is based upen the contract terms and
cenditions and the underlying market price or fair value per unit. When
quantities are not specified in the contract, the company determines
whether it is a derivative using amounts referenced in default provisions
and other relevant sections of the contract. The estimated quantities
to be served are updated during the term of the contract, and such
updates can have a material impact on mark-to-market amounts.

The judgment applied in the election of the normal purchases and sales
exception land resulting accrual accounting] includes the conclusion
that it is probable at the inception of the contract and throughout its
term that it will result in physical delivery and that the quantities wil
be used or sold by the business over a reasonable period in the narmal
course of business. We currently have elected normal on many regulated
ccmpany derivative contracts. If facts and circumstances change and
we can no longer support this conclusion, then the normal exception
ard accrual accounting is terminated and fair value accounting is applied.

In 2007, CL.&P entered into CfDs with owners of plants to be built or
modified. The CfDs are derivatives that are required to be marked to
market on the balance sheet. However, due to the significance of the
non-observable capacity prices associated with modeling the fair
values of these contracts, their initial fair values were not recorded

in CL&P’s financial statements pursuant to EITF Issue No. 02-3,
“lssues Involved in Accounting for Derivative Contracts Held for
Trading Purposes and Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk
Management Activities.” This guidance applies to initial fair values
orly, and not to subsequent changes in value. Subsequent changes

in the values of these contracts were substantial, primarity due 1o
reductions in the expected market prices of capacity. Accordingly, at
December 31, 2007, we estimated and recorded on CL&P's balance
sheet approximately $110 million of total negative changes in fair value
of the derivative contracts since inception. The initial estimated negative
fair values of these contracts of approximately $100 million will be
rezorded as part of the effect on derivatives of implementing FAS 157
in the first quarter of 2008. The $110 million net change in cantract
value was recorded as a regulatory asset as the costs of the contracts
ar= recoverable from CL&P’s customers. Significant judgment was




involved in estimating the fair values of the contracts, including pro-
jections of capacity prices and reflecting the probabilities of cash flows
considering the risks and uncertainties associated with the contracts.

Our regutated companies, particularly CL&P and PSNH, have enterec
into agreements which are derivatives and do not meet the normal
purchases and sales exception. These cantracts are marked to market
and included in derivative assets and liabilities on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. The offset to these derivatives are
recorded as regulatory assets or liabilities as these amounts are
recoverable from or refunded to our customers as they are incurred.
The measurement af many of these contracts is extremely complex, ¢s
contracts are long-dated and many of the variables, such as discount
rates, future energy and energy-related product prices, and the risk
associated with projects that have not been completed. require
significant management judgment.

For further information, see Note 1E, "Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies - Derivative Accounting,” and Note 5, "Derivative
Instruments,” to the consolidated financial statements,

Goodwill and Intangible Assets: SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” requires that goodwill balances be reviewed for
impairment at least annually by applying a fair value-based test. The
testing of googwill for impairment reguires us to use estimates and
judgment, We have selected October 1st of each year as the annual
goodwill impairmeni testing date. Goodwill impairment is deemed to
exist if the net boek value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated far
value and if the implied fair value of geedwill based on the estimated
fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying amount of the
goodwill. If goodwill is deemed to be impaired, it is written off to the
extent it is impaired.

We completed our impairment analysis as of Octeber 1, 2007 for the
Yankee Gas goodwill batance of $287.6 million and determined that n2
impairment exists. In performing the required impairment evaluation
we estimated the fair value of the Yankee Gas reporting unit and
compared it to the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including
goodwilt. We estimated the fair value of Yankee Gas using discounted
cash flow methodologies and an analysis of comparable companies or
transactions. This analysis requires the input of several critical
assumptions, including future growth rates, cash flow projections,
operating cost escalation rates, rates of return, a risk-adjusted dis-
count rate, and long-term earnings and merger multiples of compa-
rable companies. We determined the discount rale using the capital
asset pricing model methodology. This methodology uses a weighted
average cost of capital in which the return on equity is calculated
using risk-free rates, stock premiums and a beta representing specific
market volatility. The component of the discount rate that changed the
most from year to year is the beta, which increased in both 2006 and
2007. All of these assumptions are critical to the estimate and can
change from period to peried.

Updates to these assumptions in future periods, particularly changes
in discount rates, could result in future impairments of goodwill,
Although our recent evatuations have not resulled in impairment,

the estimated fair value of Yankee Gas is highly sensitive to changes

in assumptions. Holding all other assumptions censtant, if the risk
adjusted discount rate increased by 0.3 percent from approximately 7.2
percent to approximately 7.5 percent, then the estimated fair value of
Yankee Gas would be equal to its carrying value.

Revenue Recognition: The determination of energy sales to individual
customers is based on the reading of meters, which occurs on a
systematic basis throughout the month. Billed revenues are based on
these meter readings and the bulk of recorded revenues is based on
actual bitlings. At the end of each month, amounts of energy delivered
to custorners since the date of the last meter reading are estimated,
and an estimated amount of unbilled revenues is also recorded.

Unbilted revenues represent an estimate of electricity or gas delivered
to customers that has not yet been billed. Unbilled revenues are
inctuded in revenue on the statement of income/(loss) and are assets
on the balance sheet that are reclassified to accounts receivable in the
following month as customers are billed. Such estimates are subject
to adjustment when actual meter readings become available, when
changes in estimating methodology occur and under other circum-
stances. There were no changes in estimating methodelogy in 2007.

The regulated companies estimate unbilled revenues monthly using
the daily load cycle [DLC] method. The DLC method allocates bilted
sales to the current calendar menth based on the daily load for each
billing cycle. The billed sales are subtracted from total calendar month
sales to estimate unbitled sales. Unbilled revenues are estimated by
first allocating sales to the respective rate classes, then applying an
average rate to the estimate of unbilled sales.

The estimate of unbilled revenues is sensitive to numerous factors, such
as energy demands, weather and changes in the compaosition of
customer classes that can significantly impact the amount of revenues
recorded. Estimating the impact of these factors is complex and
requires our judgment. The estimate of unbilled revenues is important
to our consolidated financial statements, as adjustments to that estimate
could significantly impact operating revenues and earnings.

For fusther information, see Note 10, "Surmmary of Significant Accounting
Policies - Revenues,” to the consolidated financial statements and
“Transmission Rate Matters and FERC Regulatory Issues”™ to this
Management's Discussion and Analysis.

Regulatory Accounting: The accounting policies of the regulated
companies conform to GAAP applicable to rate-regulated enterprises
and historically reftect the effects of the rate-making process in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 71, "Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of
Regulation.”

During 2007, several items of a regulatory nature required our judgment,
These itemns included:

* Procurement Fee: CL&P submitted to the DPUC its proposed meth-
odology to calculate the variable incentive portion of the procurement
fee, which was effective through 2006, and requested approval of the
$5.8 million 2004 incentive fee. We have not recorded amounts related
to the 2005 or 2006 procurement fee in earnings, though we estimate
that if CL&P's methodology is upheld, CL&P would record after-tax
amounts of $3.3 millien for 2006 and $3.6 million for 2005 in 2008.

We have recovered the $5.8 mitlion pre-tax amount, which was
recorded in 2005 earnings through the CTA reconciliation process.
If the DPUC does not allow recovery of $5.8 million for procurement
fees in its final decision, then CL&P would record a loss and estab-
lish an obligation to refund its customers.
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For more information, see Note BA, "Commitments and
Cenlingencies - Regulatory Developments and Rate Matters,” to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

» Yankee Gas Unbilled Revenues: The DPUC is currently auditing a
PGA adjustment related to two separate Yankee Gas's unbilled sales
and revenue adjustments. The maximum amount under audit by the
DPUC is $11 million. Based on the facts of the case, the supple-
mental information provided to the DPUC and the consultants’ final
report, we believe the appropriateness of the PGA charges to cus-
tomers for the time period under review will be approved, and we
have not reserved for any refund to customers. If the DPUC does not
approve the calculation, we would record a decrease to earnings.

The application of SFAS No. 71 results in recording regulatory assets
and liabilities. Regulatory assets represent the deferral of incurred
costs that are probable of future recovery in customer rates. In some
cases, we record regulatory assets before approval for recovery has
been received from the applicable regulatory commission. We must
use judgment to conclude that costs deferred as regulatory assets are
probabte of future recovery. We base our conclusion en certain factors,
including but not limited to changes in the regulatory environment,
recent rate orders issued by the applicable regulatory agencies and the
status of any potential new legislation, Regulatory liabilities represent
revenues received from customers to fund expected costs that have not
yet been incurred or probable future refunds to customers.

We use our best judgment when recording requlatory assets and liabili-
ties; however, regulatory commissions can reach different conclusions
about the recovery of costs, and those conclusions could have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements. We believe it is prob-
able that the regulated companies will recover the regulatory assets
that have been recorded. If we determined that we could no longer apply
SFAS No. 71 to our operations, or if we could not conclude that it is
probable that revenues or costs would be recovered or reflected in future
rates, the revenues or costs would be charged to income in the period in
which they were incurred. If we determine that a regulatory asset is nc
longer probable of recovery in rates, then SFAS No. 71 requires that we
record the charge in earnings at that time.

For further information, see Note 1F, "Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies - Regulatory Accounting.” to the consolidated
financiat statements.

Pension and PBOP: OQur subsidiaries participate in a uniform non-
contributory defined benefit retirement plan {Pension Plan] covering
substantially all our reguiar employees. In addition to the Pension
Plan, we also participate in a postretirement benefits other than pen-
sions {PBOP] Plan to provide certain health care benefits, primarily
medical and dental, and life insurance benefits to retired employees.
For each of these plans, the development of the benefit obligation, fair
value of plan assets, funded status and net periodic benefit credit or
cost is based on several significant assumptions. If these assumplions
were changed, the resulting changes in benefit cbligations, fair values
of plan assets, funded status and net periodic expense could have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Pre-tax periodic pension expense for the Pension Plan was $17.4 million,
$52.7 million and $42.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2004 and 2005, respectively. The pension expense amounts exclude one-
time iterns such as Pension Plan curtailments and termination benefits.
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The pre-tax net PBOP Plan cost, excluding curtailments and termina-
tion benefits, was $38.4 mitlion, $50.7 million and $49.8 million for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Long-Term Rate of Return Assumptions: In developing our expected
long-term rate of return assumptions for the Pension Plan and the
P3OP Plan, we evaluated input from actuaries and consultants, as
wzll as long-term inflation assumptions and our historical 25-year
compounded return of 11.8 percent. Dur expected long-term rates of
return on assets are based on certain target asset allocation assump-
tions. We believe that 8.75 percent is an appropriate aggregate long-
term rate of return on Pension Plan and PBOP Plan assets [life assets
and non-taxable health assets) and 4.85 percent for PBOP health
assels, net of tax, for 2007. We will continue to evaluate these actuarial
assumptions, including the expected rate of return, at least annually
and will adjust the appropriate assumptions as necessary. The Pension
Plan’s and PBOP Plan’s target asset allocation assumptions and
expected long-term rates of return assurnptions by asset category are
as follows:

At December 31,
Pension 8enelits Postretiremeni Benefits
2007 2006 2007 and 2004
Target  Assumed Target  Assumed Target  Assumed
Asset  Rate of Asset  Rate of Asset  Rateof

Allocation Return  Allocation  Return  Allocation  Return

Equity Securities:
United States 40% 9.25% 45%
MNon-United States  17%  9.25% 14%
Emerging markets 5% 10.25% 3% 10.25%

9.25% 55% 9.25%
9.25% 11% 9.25%
2% 10.25%

Private 8% 14.25% 8% 14.25% - -
Debt Securities:
Fixed income 25% 5.50% 20% 5.50% 27% 550%
High yield
fixed income - - 5% 7.50% 5% 7.50%
Real Estate 5% 7.50% 5% 7.50% — —

The actual asset allocations at December 31, 2007 and 2006 approxi-
mated these target asset allocations. We routinely review the actual
asset allocations and periodically rebalance the investments to the
ta-geted asset allocations when appropriate. For information regarding
actual asset allocations, see Note 6A, “Employee Benefits - Pension
Benefits and Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,” to the
consolidated financial statements.

Pension and other post-retirement benefit funds are held in external
trusts. Trust assets, including accumulated earnings, must be used
exclusively for pension and post-retirernent benefit payments.
Investment securities are exposed to various risks, including interest
rate, credit and overall market volatility. As a result of these risks, it is
reasonably probable that the market values of investment securities
could increase or decrease in the near term, resulting in a material

i pact on the value of our pension assets. Increases or decreases

in the market values coutd materially affect the current value of the
trusts and the future level of pension and other-post retirement benefit
expense. The current conditions in the credit market could negatively
irr pact the assets in our trusts, but at this time we still believe that the
B8.75 percent rate and the 6.85 percent rate for respective Pension and
PEOP Plan assets are appropriate long-term rate of return assumptions.




Actuarial Determination of Expense: We base the actuarial determi-
nation of Pension Plan and PBOP Pltan expense an a market-related
value of assets [MRVA), which reduces year-to-year volatility. This
MRVA calculation recognizes investment gains or losses over a four-
year period from the year in which they occur. Investment gains or
losses for this purpose are the difference between the expected return
calculated using the MRVA and the actual return based on the fair
value of assets. At December 31, 2007, total investment gains to be
recagnized in the MRVA over the next four years are $106.7 million and
$1.5 million, for the Pension Plan and the PBGP Plan, respectively. As
these asset gains are reflected in MRVA over the next four years, they
wilt be subject to amortization with other unrecognized gains/losses.
The Plans currently amortize unrecognized gains/losses as a compone 1t
of pension and PBOP expense over 12 years, which is the average
future service lives of the employees at December 31, 2007. At
December 31, 2007, the net actuarial loss subject to amortization ove-
the next 12 years was $65.2 million and $109.6 million, respectively,
which excludes $106.7 miltion and $1.5 million of previous investrmen:
gains not currently reflected in the MRVA for the Pension Plan and
PBOP Plan, respectively.

Discount Rate: The discount rate that is utilized in determining future
pension and PBOP obligations is based on a yield-curve approach
where each cash flow related to the Pension Plan er PBOP Plan liability
stream is discounted at an interest rate specifically applicable to the
timing of the cash flow. The yield curve is developed from the top quartile
of AA rated Moody's and S&P’s bands without callable features out-
standing at December 31, 2007. This pracess calculates the present
values of these cash flows and calculates the equivalent single discount
rate that produces the same present value for future cash flows. The
discount rates determined on this basis are 6.6 percent for the Pension
Plan and 6.35 percent for the PBOP Plan at December 31, 2007.
Discount rates used at December 31, 2004 were 5.9 percent for the
Pension Plan and 5.8 percent for the PBOP Plan.

Expected Contributions and Forecasted Expense: Due to the effect of
the unrecognized actuarial lgainsl/losses and based on the long-term
rate of return assumptions and discount rates as noted above as well
as various other assumptions, we estimate that expected contributior s
to and forecasted lincome}/expense for the Pension Plan and PBOP
Plan wiil be as follows lin millions):

Pension Plan Postretirement Plan
Forecasted
Eipected Expense/ Expected  Forecaster
Year Conliibutions [income} Contributions Expenst
2008 $— $27 $346.2 $36.7
2009 $— $3.3 $33.7 $33.7
2010 $— $(8.0) $313 $31.2

Future actual Pension and PBOP expense will depend on future
investment performance, changes in future discount rates and various
other factors related to the populations participating in the plans and
amounts capitalized. Beginning in 2007, we made an additionat
contribution to the PBOP Plan for the amounts received from the
federal Medicare subsidy. This amount was $3 million in 2007 and

is estimated to be $4 million in 2008.

Sensitivity Analysis: The following represents the in¢rease/ldecrease]
to the Pension Plan’s and PBOP Plan’s reported cost as a result of 3
change in the following assumptions by 50 basis points [in millions):

At December 31,
Pension Plan Cost Postrstirement Plan Cost

Assumption Change 2007 2006 2007 2006
Lower long-term

rate of return $11.1 $10.2 $1.1 $0.9
Lower discount rate $12.9 $15.0 $1.4 $1.4
tower compensation

increase $(6.9) $(7.31 N/A N/A

Plan Assets: The market-related value of the Pension Plan assets has
increased by $103.2 million to $2.5 billion at December 31, 2007, The
Projected Benefit Obligation {PBO] for the Pension Plan decreased by
£77.7 million to $2.3 billion at December 31, 2007. These changes have
changed the funded status of the Pension Plan on a PBQ basis from an
overfunded position of $21.6 miilion at December 31, 2004 to an over-
funded position of $202.5 million at Decernber 31, 2007. The PBO includes
expectations of future employee compensation increases. We have not
made any employer contributions to the Pension Plan since 1991,

The accumulated benefit obligation [ABO] of the Pension Plan was
approximately $454 million less than Pension Plan assets at December 31,
2007 and approximately $260 million less than Pension Plan assets
at December 31, 2006. The ABO is the obligation for employee service
and compensation provided through December 31, 2007.

The value of PBOP Plan assets has increased by $11.5 million to $278.1
million at December 31, 2007. The benefit obligation for the PBOP Plan
has decreased by $10.3 million to $459.6 million at December 31, 2007,
These changes have decreased the underfunded status of the PBOP
Plan on an accumulated prejected benefit obligation basis from $203.3
million at December 31, 2006 to $181.5 million at December 31, 2007
We have made a contribution each year equal to the PBOP Plan's
postretirement benefit cost, excluding curtailment and termination
benefits.

Health Care Cost: The health care cost trend assumption used to
project increases in medical costs was 8.5 percent for 2008, decreasing
one half percentage point per year to an ultimate rate of 5 percent in 2015.
The effect of increasing the health care cost trend by one percentage
point would have increased service and interest cost components of
the PBOP Plan cost by $1 million in 2007 and $1.2 million in 2006.
Changes in the long-term health care cost trend assurmption could
have a material impact on our financial statements.

Presentation: In accordance with GAAP, our consotidated financial
statements include all subsidiaries over which control is maintained
and would inctude any variable interest entities [VIE] for which we are
the primary beneficiary. Determining whether we are the primary
beneficiary of a VIE is complex, subjective and requires our judgment.
There are certain variables taken into consideration to determine
whether we are considered the primary beneficiary of a VIE. A change
in any one of these variables could require us to reconsider whether or
not we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE.

The Energy Independence Act requires the DPUC to investigate the
financial impact on distribution companies of entering inio long-term
contracts for capacity or contracts to purchase renewable energy products
from new generating plants. We reviewed each contract to determine
the appropriate accounting treatment based on the terms of the
contracts. Determining whether or not consolidation is required
involves our judgment.
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Pursuant to the Energy Independence Act, in April of 2007 CL&P
entered into a 15-year agreement beginning in 2010 to purchase energy,
capacity and renewable energy credits from a biomass energy plant
yet to be built, We evaluated whether entering inte the contract would
require consolidation and determined that cansolidation of the project
would not be required. The review of this contract required significant
management judgrent.

In 2007, the DPUC approved two CL&P contracts associated with the
capacity of two generating projects to be built or modified and two
capacity-related contracts entered into by U, one with a generating
project to be built and one with a new demand response project. The
contracts, referred to as CfDs, obligate the utilities to pay the difference
between a set capacity price and the value that the projects recaive in
the 1SO-NE capacity markets for periads of up to 15 years beginning
in 2009. CL&P has an agreement with Ul under which it will share the
costs and benefits of these four CiDs with 80 percent to CL&P and

20 percent to Ul. The ultimate cost to CL&P under the contracts will
depend on the capacity prices that the projects receive in the ISO-NE
capacity markets. We determined that these contracts do not require
consalidation.

Changes in facts and circumstances resulting in reevaluation of the
accounting treatment of these contracts could have a significant
impact on the accompanying consclidated financial statements,

Other Matters

Consolidated Edison, Inc. Merger Litigation:
Certain gain and loss contingencies exist with regard te the merger
agreement between us and Con Edison and the related litigation.

In 2001, Con Edison advised us that it was unwilling to close its merger
with us on the terms set forth in the 1999 merger agreement [Merger
Agreement). In March of 2001, we filed suit against Con Edison seeking
damages in excess of $1 billion.

In a 2005 opinion, a panel of three judges at the Secend Circuit held
that our shareholders had no right to sue Con Edison for its alleged
breach of cur Merger Agreement. This ruling left intact the remaining
claims between us and Con Edisen for breach of contract, which
inctudes our claim for recovery of costs and expenses of approximately
$32 million and Con Edison’s ctaim for damages of at least $314 million.
Any damage award would include pre-judgment interest from the date
of the filing of the claim. Our request for a rehearing was denied in
2006. We opted not to seek review of this ruling by the United States
Supreme Court. In April of 2084, we filed our motion for partial
summary judgment on Con Edison’s damage claim. On January 31,
2008, the trial judge denied a series of motions by both us and Con
Edison that had been pending for more than one year, including our
motion for an order dismissing Con Edison’s synergy damage claim.
The judge ordered the parties to be trial ready on four days’ notice
beginning March 21, 2008. It is not possible for us to predict either

the outcome of this matter or its ultimate effect on us.

For further information regarding other commitments and contingencies,
see Note 8, "Commitments and Contingencies,” to the consolidated
{financial statements.
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Accounting Standards lssued But Not Yet Adopted:

Fair Value Measurements: On September 15, 2006, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements,” which establishes a frame-
wark for identifying and measuring fair value and is required to be
implemented in the first quarter of 2008. The statement defines fair
value as the price that woutd be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability [an exit price] in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. SFAS No. 157 provides
a fair value hierarchy, giving the highest priority to quoted prices in
active markets, and is applicable to fair value measurements of
derivative contracts that are subject to mark-to-market accounting and
to other assets and liabilities that are reported at fair value or subject
to fair value measurements.

SIFAS No. 157 will be implemented prospectively with adjustments to
fair values of derivatives in Select Energy’s remaining portfolio reflected
in earnings on January 1, 2008, similar to a change in estimate. These
adjustments are expacted to increase derivative liabilities due to the
requirement to reflect the price that we would expect to pay a market
participant to exit the contracts, partially offset by a reduction in
derivative liabilities to reflect our nonperformance risk. We expect the
pre-tax effect on earnings of implementing this new standard te be
tess than $10 miltion.

We are currently evaluating the effects of implementing SFAS No. 157
on our consalidated balance sheet. These effects will include adjust-
ments to reflect the initial fair value of CL&P's derivative contracts that
ware in a gain or loss positien at inception that was not recognized
under previous accounting standards. SFAS No. 157 requires these
adjustments to be recorded in retained earnings as of January 1, 2008.
Hawever, the cost or benefit of the contracts is expected to be fully
recovered from or refunded to CL&P's customers. Therefore, adjust-
ments to reflect these previously unrecorded balances will be recorded
as regulatory assets or liabilities. In addition, updates to the fair values
of our regulated companies’ previously recorded derivatives to reflect
their exit prices and nonperformance risk will also be recorded as
regulatory assets or liabilities.

The Fair Value Option: On February 15, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS
N3, 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities - including an amendment of FAS 115.” SFAS No. 159 allows
entities to choose, at specified election dates, to measure at fair value
eligible {inancial assets and liabilities that are not otherwise required
to be measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effective in the first quarter
of 2008, with the effect of application 1o eligible items as of January 1,
2008 required to be reflected as a cumulative-effect adjustment to

the opening balance of retained earnings. If a company elects the fair
velue option for an eligible item, changes in that item'’s fair value at
subsequent reporting dates must be recognized in earnings. We are
currently evaluating whether or not to elect the {air value option for our
securities held in trust as of January 1, 2008. As of January 1, 2008,
securities held in trust fer the Supplementat Executive Retirement
Plan [SERP] and non-SERP benefit plans had unreatized gains includ-
ed in accumelated other comprehensive income of approximately

%3 million after taxes that would be recorded as a cumulative-effect
atjustment to retained earnings if SFAS No. 159 is implemented.
Implementation of SFAS No. 159 for WMECD's securities held in its
prior spent nuclear fuel trust is not expected to have a material effect
on the financial statements.




Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments:
Information regarding our contractual obligations and commercial cornmitments at December 31, 2007 is summarized annuaily through 2012 and
thereafter as follows:

{Millions of Doltars} 2008 2009 2010 201t 2012  Thereafter Totals
Long-term debt maturities la) (b] $ 1543 $ 993 $ 43 % 43 % 2673 $28148 % 33443
Estimated interest payments on existing debt lc) 190.7 186.3 182.1 181.7 171.2 2,185.3 3.097.3
Capital leases id] (et 3.5 3.6 1.8 19 2.0 17.4 30.2
Operating leases lel [f] 305 27.5 241 9.1 14.5 473 163.0
Required funding of other postretirement

benefit obligations ] 34.2 337 N3 299 2B.4 N/A 159.5
Estimated future annual regulated company costs lel lg} 1,131.4 520.3 539.4 726.7 681.8 2,187.6 5.787.2
Estimated future annual NU Enterprises costs (el lg] 233.1 29.7 KYA] 31.2 323 324 3905
Other purchase commitments [f] () 11167 - - — - - 1,116.7
Totatls Iil $2,894.4 $900.4 $815.1 $994.8 $1,197.5 $7.2845 $14,088.7
fal Included in our debt agreements are usual and customary positive, negative and financial covenants. Non-compliance with certain covenants, for example the timely

payment of principal and interest, may constitute an event of default, which could cause an acceteration of principal payments in the absence of receipt by us of a
waiver or amendment. Such acceleration would change the obligations outlinad in the table of contractual obligations and cemmercial commitments.

tb

Lang-term debt excludes $294.3 million of fees and interest due for spent nu:lear fuel disposal costs, a positive $4.2 million of net changes in fair value and a
negative $4.9 million of net unamortized premium and discount as of December 31, 2007.

Estimated interest payments on fixed-rate debt are calculated by multiplying the coupon rate on the debt by its scheduled netional amount outstanding fer the period
of measurement. Estimated interest payments on floating-rate debt are calct lated by multiplying the most recent floating-rate reset on the debt by its scheduled
notional amount outstanding for the period of measurement. This same rate s then assumed for the remaining life of the debt. Interest payments on debt that have
an intevest rate swap in place are estimated using the effective cost of debt r2sulting from the swap rather than the underlying interest cost on the debt, subject to
the fixed and floating methodologies.

le

[d

The capital lease obligations include imputed interest of $15.5 million as of December 31, 2007.

We have no pravisions in our capital or operating {ease agreements or agreeinents related to the estimated fuiure annual regulated company or NU Enterprises
costs that could trigger a change in terms and conditions, such as acceleration of payment obligatians.

[e!

ify Amounts are not included on our consolidated balance sheets.

Other than the net mark-to-market changes on respective derivative contracts held by both the regulated companies and NU Enterprises, these obligations are not
included on our cansolidated batance sheets. Estimated costs for 2008 are higher than costs in future years due to the timing of Select Energy purchase commitments
and completion of transmission segment development projects. For further information on these estimated future annual costs, see Note 80, "Commitments and
Cantingencies - Lang-Term Contractual Arrangements,” to the consolidated ‘inancial statements.

fy

th

Amount represents apen purchase orders, excluding those obligations that are included in the capital leases, operating leases, estimated future annual regulated
company costs and the estimated future annual NU Enterprises costs. These payments are subject to change as certain purchase orders include estimates based on
projected quantities of material and/or services that are provided on demand, the timing of which cannot be determined, Because payment timing cannot be determined,
we include all open purchase order amounts in 2008.

{il Excludes FIN 48 unrecognized tax benefits of $121.1 million as of December 131, 2007, as we cannot make reasenably reliable estimates of the periods or the potential
amounts of tash settlement with the respective taxing authorities.

Rate reduction bond amounts are non-recourse to us or our subsidiaries
have no required payments over the next five years and are not included
in this table. The regulated companies’ standard offer service contracis
and default service contracts also are not included in this table. The
estimated payments under interest rate swap agreements are not
included in this table as the estimated payment amounts are not
determinable. In addition, there are no Pension Plan contributtons
expected and therefore there are no amounts included in this table.
For further information regarding our contractual obligations and
commercial commitments, see the consolidated statements of
capitalizaticn and Note 4, "Short-Term Debt,” Note 6A, "Employee
Benefits - Pension Benefits and Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions,” Note 8D, "Commitments and Contingencies - Long-Term
Contractual Arrangements,” Note 11, "Leases,” and Note 12, "Long-
Term Debt,” to the consolidated financial statements.

Forward Looking Statements: This discussion and analysis includes
statements concerning our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives,
goals, strategies, assumptions of future events, financial performance
or growth and other statements that are not histerical facts. These
statements are “forward looking statements” within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, You can generally
identify these “forward looking statements” through the use of words

or phrases such as “estimate,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” "plan,”
“project,” "believe,” "forecast,” "should,” "could,” and similar expressions.
Forward looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that may
cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those
included in the forward looking statements. Factors that may cause
actual results to differ materially from those included in the forward
looking statements include, but are not limited to, actions by state and
federal regulatory bodies, competition and industry restructuring,
changes in economic conditions, changes in weather patterns, changes
in laws, regulations or requlatory policy, changes in levels or timing of
capital expenditures, developments in legal or public policy doctrines,
technological developments, changes in accounting standards and
financial reporting regulations, fluctuations in the value of our remaining
competitive etectricity positions, actions of rating agencies, and other
presently unknown or unforeseen factors. Other risk factors are
detailed from time to time in our reports to the Securities and Exchange
Commission. We undertake no obligation to update the information
contained in any forward looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the date on which such statements are made or
to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Web Site: Additional financial information is available through our web
site at www.nu.com.
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Results of Operations

The components of significant income statement variances for the past two years are provided in the table below (millions of dollars].

2007 over/lunder] 2004 2006 over/[under] 2005

tncome Statement Variances Armount Percent Amount Percent
Operating Revenues $(1,055) (15§% $1469) (61%
Operating Expenses:
Operation -

Fuel, purchased and net interchange power (1,280) (28] (8%8i [16]

Other operation 1152) f14) 109 11

Restructuring and impairment charges i8) (98] 128) [78)
Maintenance 18 9 16 9
Depreciation 25 10 16 7
Amortization 24 la) (1871 92)
Amortization of rate reduction bonds 13 7 12 7
Taxes other than incorne taxes 1 1 3 i
Total operating expenses [1,359) (20 (957} (13
Operating income/lloss) 304 {al 488 fal
Interest expense, net 2 1 — —
Other income, net (3) (4] 10 18
Income/(loss} from continuing operations before income tax expense/|benefit} 29¢ (al 498 fal
Income tax expense/(benefit) 186 (a) 108 59
Preferred dividends of subsidiary — - - -
income/(loss] from continuing operations 113 85 390 (al
Income from discontinued operations (3371 (100] 333 la)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax benefit — — 1 100
Net income/(loss) $ (224] {481% $ 724 lal%

la) Percent greater than 100.

2007 Compared to 2006

Net income is $224 million lower in 2007 due to the two significant
gains in 2006 which did not occur in 2007, These gains were an after-
tax gain of $314 million associated with the sale of the competitive
generation business and the CL&P $74 million income tax reduction
associated with the PLR. The negative impact on net income of the
2006 gains was partially offset by the $107 million higher earnings of
NU Enterprises due to the $96 million loss in 2006,

Operating Revenues

Operating revenues decreased $1.04 billion in 2007 primarily due to
lower revenues fram NU Enterprises ($794 million) and lower rev-
enues from the regulated companies ($261 million). NU Enterprises’
revenues decreased $7%4 million due to the exit from components of
the competitive businesses during the latter part of 2006. The lower
regulated revenues are being driven by the recavery of a lower level
of CL&P distribution related expenses passed through to customers
through regulatory tracking mechanisms.

Revenues from the regulated companies decreased $261 miltion due
to lower distribution segment revenues [$344 million), partially offset
by higher transmission segment revenues ($83 million). Distribution
segment revenues decreased $344 million primarily due to lower elec-
tric distribution revenues ($405 million}, partially offset by higher gas
distribution revenues [$61 million). Transmission segment revenues
increased $83 million primarily due to a higher transmission invest-
ment base and higher operating expenses which are recovered under
FERC-approved transmission tariffs,
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Lower electric distribution revenues include the components of CL&P,
P3NH and WMECQ retail revenues which are included in regulatory
commission approved tracking mechanisms that track the recovery of
certain incurred costs ($447 million). The distribution revenue tracking
components decrease of $447 million is primarily due to the pass
through of lower energy supply costs ($305 million], lower CL&P
revenue associated with the recovery of delivery-related FMCC [$104
million], a decrease in PSNH's SCRC revenues mainly as a result of a
rote decrease that went into effect July 1, 2006 [$76 million] and lower
wholesale revenues ($28 millian), partially effset by higher retail trans-
migsion revenues {$43 million], WMECO's higher transition cost recov-
eries {$15 million] and WMECQ's pension and default service revenues
(48 million). The tracking mechanisms atlow for rates te be changed
pariodically with over-collections refunded to customers or under-
collections coltected from customers in future periods.

The distribution component of electric distribution segment revenues
which flows through to earnings increased $42 million primarily due to
an increase in retail rates [$31 million] and retail sales [$11 million).
Retail KWH electric sales increased by 1.5 percent in 2007 compared
with 2006 [a 0.4 percent increase on a weather normalized basis). Firm
gas sales increased 10.3 percent in 2007 compared with 2006 (a 3.1
pzrcent increase on a weather normalized basis).




Fuel, Purchased and Net Interchange Power

Fuel, purchased and net interchange power expenses decreased $1.2€
billion in 2007 due to lower expenses at NU Enterprises ($875 miltion}
and lower costs at the requlated companies [$405 million). NU Enterprises
fuel expenses decreased due to the exit from significant components
of the competitive businesses. Fuel expense from the regulated com-
panies decreased primarily due to tower fuel, purchased and net inter-
change power expenses at CL&P, PSNH and WMECQ [$431 million],
mainly due to a decrease in standard offer supply costs as a result of a
reduction in load caused by custormer migration to third party suppliers,
partially offset by higher Yankee Gas fuel expense [$26 million).

Other Operation

Other operation expenses decreased $152 million in 2007 primarily due tu
lower NU Enterprises expenses [$107 million] and lower regulated com-
panies distribution and transmission segment expenses [$49 million).

NU Enterprises’ expenses decreased $107 million primarily due to the
exit from components of the competitive businesses during the latter
part of 2006 and the $25 miltion donation to the NU Foundation in 2004

Lower regulated company distribution and transmission segment
expenses of $49 million are primarily due to lower reliability must

run [RMR) expenses at CL&P [$133 million), partially offset by higher
Energy Independence Act {EJA) expenses which are tracked and recov-
ered through the requlatory tracking mechanisms [$29 million), higher
administration and general expenses at CL&P, WMECO and PSNH ($2:
million), higher retait transmission expenses at PSNH and WMECO ($2
million} and Summer Savings Rewards Program which was implement -
ed in 2007 at CL&P as a result of a legislative act [$14 millioni.

Restructuring and Impairment Charges

See Note 2, "Restructuring and Impairment Charges,” to the consoli-
dated financial statements for a description and explanation of these
charges.

Maintenance

Maintenance expenses increased $18 million in 2007 primarily due
to higher transmission segment expenses ($7 million] and regulated
company distribution [$46 million].

Higher transmission segment expenses of $7 million in 2007 are primarily
due to higher levels of employee suppart, compliance inspections,
deferred maintenance, training, and unplanned repairs to transmission
cables at CL&P.

Higher regulated company distribution expenses of $6 millicn in 2007
are primarily due to higher tree trimming [$3 million), equipment
maintenance [$2 million] and underground line network inspection
activities [$2 million].

Depreciation

Depreciation increased $25 million in 2007 primarily due to higher
distribution and transmission depreciation expense as a result of
higher plant balances from the ongoing construction program.

Amortization

Amartization increased $24 million in 2007 for the distribution segment
primarily due to higher recovery of transition costs for CL&P [$32 mitlion}
and WMECO [$20 million} and the 2006 $18 millicn credit associated
with the deferral of retail transmission costs for WMECO, partially
offset by PSNH {$46 million). The PSNH decrease is primarily due to
lower ES over recoveries, tower amortization levels of stranded costs,
and the deferral of retail transmission costs.

Amortization of Rate Reduction Bonds

Amaortization of rate reduction bonds increased $13 million in 2007.
The higher portion of principal within the rate reduction bonds payment
results in a corresponding increase in the amortization of rate reduction
bonds.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense increased $2 million in 2007 primarily due to higher
interest for the regulated company distribution and transmission seg-
ments [$22 million], partially offset by lower interest at NU Enterprises
($19 million]. The higher regulated company distribution and transmis-
sion segment interest is primarily due to long-term debt issuances for
all four of the regulated companies. In 2007, $455 million of tang-term
debt was issued by the requlated companies consisting of $500 million
for CL&P, $70 million for PSNH, $40 million for WMECO and $45 million
for Yankee Gas.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net decreased $3 million, primarity due to a lower
CL&P Traditienal Standard Offer procurement fee {$11 miltion} and
the absence of the gain on sale of investrnent in Globix Corporation
(Globix) in 2006 [$3 million), partially oifset by higher EIA incentives
(%4 million], higher equity in earnings of regional nuclear generating
and transmission companies [$4 million), and higher AFUDC equity
[$4 million]) mainly as a result of higher eligible construction work in
progress.

Income Tax (Benefit)/Expense

Income tax expense increased $186 million primarily due to an
increase in pre-tax earnings and lower favorable tax adjustments;
partially offset by a decrease in flow through regulatory amortizations.
In 2006, a significant portion of the tax adjustments included a $74
million tax benefit to remove deferred tax balances associated with the
IRS PLR. Prior year flow through regulatory amortizations were higher
as a result of the regulatory recovery of tax expense associated with
nondeductible acquisition costs.

Income/lLoss) from Discontinued Operations

See Note 3, "Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations,” to the
censolidated financial statements for a description and explanation of
the discontinued operations.
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2006 Compared to 2005

Operating Revenues

Operating revenues decreased $44% million in 2006 primarily due to
lower revenues from NU Enterprises {$967 million), partiatly offset by
higher revenues from the regulated companies for both the distribution
segment [$450 million] and transmission segment [$48 million].

NU Enterprises revenues decreased $967 million due to the exit from
significant components of the competitive businesses during 2006.

Distribution revenues increased $450 million primarily due to higher
electric distribution revenues ($500 million), partially offset by tower
gas distribution revenues ($4% million). Higher electric distribution
revenues include the components of CL&P, PSNH and WMECD retail
revenues which are included in requlatory commission approved tracking
mechanisms that track the recovery of certain incurred costs ($485
million]. The distribution revenue tracking components increase of
$485 million is primarily due to the pass through of higher energy
supply costs [$564 million) and higher CL&P FMCC charges ($36 million),
partially offset by lower PSNH SCRC revenues {$85 million] and lower
wholesale revenues primarily due to the expiration or sale of CL&P
market-hased contracts [$41 million). The tracking mechanisms allow
for rates to be changed periodically with overcollections refunded to
customers or undercollections collected from customers in future
periods.

The distribution component of these electric distribution segments
and the retail transmission component of PSNH which flow through
to earnings increased $14 million primarily due to an increase in
regulated retail rates, partially offset by a decrease in retail sales. The
distribution retail electric sales were negatively affected by weather
impacts in 2006 as compared with 2005 and by price elasticity driven
by higher energy prices in 2004. Retail KWH electric sales decreased
by 4.0 percent in 2006 compared with 2005 [a 1.6 percent decrease on
a weather normalized basis). Absent the impacts of weather, manage-
ment believes the decline in sales is primarily due to higher energy
prices in 2005.

The increase in electric distribution revenues is partially offset by
lower gas distribution revenues of $49 million primarily due to lower
sales volumes. Firm gas sales decreased 11.2 percent in 2006 com-
pared with 2005 primarily due to unseasonably warm weather in
January, November and December of 2006 and customer reaction to
higher energy prices. On a weather normalized basis, firm gas sales
decreased 3.2 percent.

Transmisston segment revenues increased $48 million primarily due to
a higher transmission investment base and higher operating expenses
which are recovered under FERC-approved transmissicn tariffs.

Fuel, Purchased and Net Interchange Power

Fuel, purchased and net interchange power expenses decreased
$898 million in 2004 primarily due to lower costs at NU Enterprises
{$1.44 billion}, partially offset by higher purchased power costs for
the regulated companies distribution segment [$554 mitlion].

NU Enterprises lower costs of $1.44 billion are primarily due to the
exit from significant components of the competitive businesses which
includes lower mark-to-market expenses of $414 million,
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The $554 million increase in distribution purchased power costs is
primarily due 1o higher standard offer supply costs for CL&P and
V/MECO {$523 million] and higher expenses for PSNH primarity due to
higher energy costs [$72 million). The increase in distributicn purchased
power costs is partially offset by lower Yankee Gas expenses as a
rasult of lower gas sales [$39 million).

Cther Operation

Cther operation expenses increased $109 million in 2006 primarily due
1o higher regulated companies distribution and transmission segment
expenses [$80 millien] and higher NU Enterprises’ expenses [$29 million).

Higher distribution and transmission expenses of $80 million are
primarily due to higher expenses that are recovered in the distribution
regulatory rate tracking mechanisms. These costs include higher
distribution RMR costs and other power pool related expenses [$63
million} and higher CL&P conservation and load management expenses
of $15 million. Distribution and transmission general and administrative
e<penses increased primarily due to higher employee related costs

($19 million), higher regulatory commission, outside service and other
administrative costs [$6 miltion], partially offset by the absence of 2005
emiployee termination and benefit plan curtailment costs ($23 million] of
which $21 million relates to regulated distribution that impact earnings.

NU Enterprises’ expenses increased $29 million primarily due to a
charge to record the retail marketing business at its fair value less
cost to setl [$53 million) and a denation of $25 million to the NU
Faundation, partially offset by lower expenses resulting from the exit
from the competitive businesses [$49 miltion).

Restructuring and Impairment Charges

Sze Note 2, "Restructuring and Impairment Charges,” to the
cuonsolidated financial statements for a description and explanation
of these charges.

Maintenance

Maintenance expenses increased $16 million in 2006 primarily due to
higher PSNH generation costs [$7 million) primarily as a result of a
planned overhaul of a generating plant in 2006 and higher CL&P main-
tenance costs ($6 mitlion] primarily due to storm-related tree trimming
and overhead line maintenance expenses.

Depreciation

Dapreciation increased $16 million in 2006 primarily due to higher
distribution and transmission depreciation expense [$19 million] as
a result of higher plant balances from the angoing construction
program. This increase is partially offset by tower NU Enterprises’
depreciation [$4 million] from the competitive businesses not
classified as discontinued operations.

Amortization

Amortization decreased $187 million in 2006 for the regulated companies
distribution segment primarity due to PSNH distribution ($92 million],
CL&P distribution [$71 million] and WMECO distribution {$24 million].
The PSNH decrease is primarily due to completing the recovery of

its non-securitized stranded costs as of June 30, 2004. The CLL&P
decrease is primarily due to lower amortization related to distributicn’s




recovery of transition charges ($70 million). The WMECQ decrease

is primarily due to the deferral of transmission costs [$18 millioni,
mainly as a result of higher RMR costs, and the deferral of transition
costs [$5 million] as a result of lower transition revenues and higher
transition costs.

Arortization of Rate Reduction Bonds

Amortization of rate reduction bonds increased $12 million in 2006.
The higher portion of principat within the rate reduction bonds payrnent
results in a corresponding increase in the amortization of regutatory
assets.

Taxes Other Than Income Taxes

Taxes other than income taxes increased $3 million in 2006 primarily
due to higher distribution and transmission property taxes 1$7 million}
and higher Connecticut gross earnings tax [$3 mitlion] primarily cue
to higher CL&P distribution revenues. These increases are partially
offset by lower NU Enterprises’ other taxes [$4 million) from the
competitive businesses not classified as discontinued operations.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net increased $10 millien in 2006 primarily due to a

net decrease in non-competitive investment write-downs [$7 millioal,
higher investment income {$6 million), CL&P EIA incentives [$5 million)
and a $3 million gain associated with the sale of 2,7 million shares of
Glebix. These increases are partially offset by a lower CL&P procure-
ment fee income ($7 millien] and the CYAPC regulatory asset writz-off
[$3 miilion].

Income Tax [Benefit)/Expense

Included in the notes to the consotidated financial statements is a rec-
onciliatien of actual and expected tax expense. The tax effect of tem-
porary differences is accounted for in accordance with the rate-m.aking
treatrnent of the applicable regulatory commissions. In prior years, this
rate-making treatment has reguired the company to provide the cas-
tomers with a portion of the tax benefits associated with acceleraled
lax depreciation in the year it is generated (flow through depreciation).
As these flow through differences turn around, higher tax expense is
recorded.

Incomne tax benefit decreased $108 million in 2006 due to higher pre-tax
earnings [$175 million] and the regulatory recovery of tax expense
associated with nondeductible acquisition costs [$11 million}; partiatly
offset by favorable tax adjustrments of $74 million to remove unamor-
tized investment tax credits and EDIT deferred tax balances and

%6 million related to generation plant sold to an affiliate.

Income from Discontinued Operations

NU's consolidated statements of income/[loss) for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 present the operations for NGC, Mt. Tom,
SESI, Farmer Woods Electrical - portion sold, Former Woods Elecirical
- remaining contracts, SECI-NH, SECI-CT and Wooeds Network as
discontinued operations as a result of meeting the criteria requiring
this presentation. Under this presentation, revenues and expenses of
these businesses are included net of tax in income from discontinued
operations on the consolidated statements of income/(loss) and all
prior periods are reclassified. The 2006 income from discontinued
operations includes the approximately $314 mitlion gain an the sale of
the campetitive generation business. See Note 3, "Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations,” te the consolidated financial statements
for a further description and explanation of the discontinued
operations. '

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net of Tax
Benefit _

A cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax benefit [$1 million]
was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2009 in connection with the
adoption of FIN 47, which required NU to recognize a liability for the
fair value of Asset Retirement Obligations.
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COMPANY REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for the preparation, integrity, and fair
presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements of
Northeast Utilities and subsidiaries [NU or the Companyl and of other
sections of this annual report. NU's internal controls over financial
reporting were audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal controls over financial reporting. The Company’s internal
control framework and processes have been designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparatian of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. There are
inherent Limitations of internal conirols over financial reporting that
could allow material misstatements due te error or fraud to occur and
not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by emptoyees during the
normal course of business. Additionally, internal controis over financial
reporting may become inadequate in the future due to changes in the
business environment.
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Under the supervision and with the participation of management,
inctucing our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, NU conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internat
centrols over financiat reporting based on criteria established in
Interral Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsering Qrganizations of the Treadway Commission [COSO].
Based on this evaluation under the framework in CO50, management
concluded that our internal controls over financial reporting were
effective as of December 31, 2007.

February 28, 2008




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of Northeast Utilities: ,

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and
consolidated statements of capitalization of Northeast Utilities and
subsidiaries [the "Company”] as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and
the retated consolidated statements of income/lloss), comprehensive
income/[toss), shareholders” equity, and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2007. We also have audited thz
Cempany's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31
2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control ~ Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsering Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible
for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Company Report on internal Controls over Financial Repdrting. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial staternents and
an opinion on the Company's internal controt over financial reporting
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial staternents are
free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Qur
audits of the financial statements included examining, cn a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the acceunting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. Gur audit of internal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's pringipal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing
similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reascnable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation

of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(1] pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of

the assets of the company; (2] provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company: and (3! provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acguisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial
reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
managerment override of controls, material misstatements due to

. error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal |
control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the :
risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes |
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the poticies or
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to |
above present fairly, in atl material respects, the financial position

of Northeast Utilities and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and
2004, and the resuits of their operations and their cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained,

in all material respects, effective internat control over financiat
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

As discussed in Note 1.6., the Company adopted Financial Accounting
Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes - an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, as of
January 1, 2007.

Hartford, Connecticut
February 28, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Al December 31,
[Thousands of Dollars) 2007 2006
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 15,104 $ 481,911
Special deposits 18,871 48,524
Investments in securitizable assets 308,182 375,655
Receivables, less provision for uncollectible
accounts of $25,529 in 2007 and $22,349 in 2006 401,283 361,200
Unbitled revenues 101,860 88,170
Taxes receivable 13,850 -
Fuel, materials and supplies 210,850 173,882
Marketable securities - current 703,816 67,546
Oerivative assets - current 105,517 88,4699
Prepayments and other 39,923 45,305
Assets held for sale - 158
1,286,256 1.731.05%
Property, Plant and Equipment:
Electric utility 7,594,606 7129526
Gas utility 977,290 858,941
Other 310,535 299,389
8,882,431 8,287,874
Less: Accumnulated depreciation: $2,483,570 for electric and
gas utility and $178,193 for other in 2007; $2.440,544 for
electric and gas utility and $174,562 for other in 2006 2,661,763 2,615,106
6,220,668 5,472,770
Construction work in progress 1,009,277 569,416
7,229,945 6,242,186
Deferred Debits and Other Assets;
Regulatary assets 2,057,083 2449132
Goodwill 287,591 287,591
Prepaid pension 202,912 21,647
Marketable securities - long-term 53,281 50,843
Derivative assets - leng-term 298,001 271,755
Other 147,153 249,031
3,065,621 3,329,999
Totat Assets $11,581,822 $11.303,234

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31,
(Thousands of Lollars) 2007 2006
Liabilities and Capitalization
Current Liabilities:
Noites payable to banks $ 79,000 % -
Long-term debt - current portion 154,284 4877
Accounts payable 598,544 569,940
Accrued taxes - 364,659
Accrued interest 56,592 53,782
Derivative liabitities - current 71,601 125,781
Other 246,125 244,734
Liabilities of assets held for sale - &2
1,206,150 1,363,835
Rate Reduction Bonds 917,436 1,177,158
Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities:
Accumulated deferred income taxes 1,067,490 1,099,433
Accumulated deferred investment tax credits 28,845 32,427
Deferred contractual obligations 222,908 271,528
Regulatory liabilities 851,780 809,324
Derivative liabilities - long-term 208,461 148,557
Accrued postretirement benefits 181,507 203,320
Cther 383,611 322,840
2,944,602 2,887,429
Capitalization:
Long-Term Debt 3,483,599 2,960,435
Preferred Stock of Subsidiary - Non-Redeemable 116,200 116,200
Common Shareholders’ Equity:
Common shares, $5 par value - authorized
225,000,000 shares; 175,924,694 shares issued
and 155,079,770 shares outstanding in 2007 and
. 175,420,239 shares issued and 154,233,141 shares
outstanding in 2004 879,623 877,101
Capital surptus, paid in 1,465,946 1,449,586
Deferred contribution plan - employee stock ownership plan 126,352) [34,764)
Retained earnings 946,792 862,660
Accumulated other comprehensive income 9,359 4,498
Treasury stock, 19,705,545 shares in 2007 and 19,684,249 shares in 2006 (361,533) (260,900)
Comman Shareholders’ Equity 2,913,835 2,798,179
Total Capitalization 6,513,634 5,874,814
Commitments and Contingencies [Note 8]
Total Liabilities and Capitalization $11,581,822 $11,303,236

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financiat staterients.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME/(LOSS)

For the Years Ended December 31,

(Thousands of Dollars, except share information) 2007 2006 2005
Operating Revenues $5,822,226 $6,877,687 $7.346,226
Operating Expenses:
Operation -
Fuel, purchased and net interchange power 3,350,673 4,630,798 5,528,600
Other 961,12% 1,113,032 1,003,776
Restructuring and impairment charges 154 8.502 36,103
Maintenance 211,589 193,706 178,225
Depreciation 245,297 240,559 224,815
Amortization 40,674 16,292 202,949
Armortization of rate reduction bonds 201,039 188,247 176,356
Taxes other than incormne taxes 252,188 250,580 247 555
Total operating expenses 5,282,745 6,641,716 7598379
Operating Income/(Loss) 539,481 235,97 {252,153
Interest Expense:
Interest on long-term debt 162,841 141.579 131,870
Interest on rate reduction bonds 61,580 74,242 87,439
Other interest 15,824 22,375 19,276
Interest expense, net 240,245 238,196 238,585
Other Income, Net 61,639 54,394 54,532
Incorne/{Lass) from Continuing Operations Before Incame Tax Expense/[Benefit) 350,875 62,16% (436,206}
Income Tax Expense/(Benefii) 109,420 (76,326) (184,862]
Income/f(Loss) from Continuing Operations Before Preferred Dividends of Subsidiary 251,455 138,495 1251,344)
Preferred Dividends of Subsidiary 5,559 5.55¢ 5,559
Income/[Loss] from Continuing Operations 245,896 132,936 [256,903)
Discontinued Operations (Note 3 )
Income from Discontinued Operations 435 31,321 11,720
Gaing/[Losses] from Sale/Disposition of Discontinued Operations 2,054 504,314 (1.123)
Income Tax Expense 1,902 197,993 6177
Income from Discontinued Operations 587 337,642 4,420
Income/(Loss] Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net of Tax Bznefit 246,483 470,578 (252,483}
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net of Tax Benefit of $489 - - 11,005}
Net Income/iLoss) $ 246,483 $ 470,578 $ (253,488
Basic Earnings/(Loss]) Per Common Share:
Income/[Loss| from Continuing Operations $ 1.59 $ 0.86 $ .95
Income from Discontinued Operations - 2.20 ¢.03
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net of Tax Benefit - — c.on
Basic Earnings/(Loss] Per Common Share $ 1.59 $ 3.06 $ 193
Fully Diluted Earnings/iLoss] Per Common Share:
Income/[Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 1.59 $ 0.86 $ (.95
Income from Discontinued Operations - 2.19 0.03
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, Net of Tax Benefit — - (0.01)
Fully Diluted Earnings/[Loss] Per Commaon Share $ 1.59 $ 3.05 $ .53
Basic Common Shares Qutstanding [weighted average) 154,759,727 153,767,527 131,638,953
Fully Diluted Common Shares Qutstanding {weighted average) 155,304,361 154,146,669 131,638,953
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/{LOSS)
Far the Years Ended December 31,
(Thousands of Dotlars) 2007 2006 2005
Net Income/iLoss) $ 246,483 $ 470,578 $ [253.488)
Other comprehensive income/[loss), net of tax:
Qualified cash flow hedging instruments (3,591) {12.340) 21,688
Unrealized (losses)/gains on securities 101l 718 {899]
Change in funded status of pension, SERP and other post retirement plans 8,553 - -
Minimum SERP liability — 379 418
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax 4,861 {11,243] 21,207
Comprehensive Income/(Loss) $ 251,344 $ 459.335 $ (232.281)

The accompanying netes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Aceumulated
[-apitat Deferred Qther
(Thausands of Doltars. Common Shares Surplus, Contributien Retained Comprehensive Treasury
exeept share infrmation] Shares Amount Paidln ~ Plan - ESOP Eamings (Loss)Income Stock Total
Balance as of
January 1, 2005 129,034,442 $756,155 $1.116,106  $(60,547) $845,343 $01,2200 $1359,126] $2.296711
Met loss for 2005 {253.488] (253,488
Dividends on common
shares - $0.675 per share (87.554) (87,554)
tssuance of common
shares, $5 par value 23,668,723 118,334 332,493 450,827
Allocation of benefits - ESQP 590,173 (2,161] 13,663 11,502
Change in restricted
shares, net [65.4468) 5,295 [1,084] 4,214
Tax deduction for stock
options exercised and
Employee Stock Purchase
Plan disqualifying dispositiens 348 368
Capital stock expenses, net (14,540) (14,540}
Other comprehensive income 21,207 21,207
Balance as of
December 31, 2005 153,225,892 874,489 1,437,961 {44,884 504,301 19,987 [360,210) 2,429,244
Net income for 2006 470,578 470,578
Gividends on common
shares - $0.725 per share (112,219 (112,219)
Issuance of common :
shares, $5 par value 522,535 2,612 6,882 9,494
Allocation of benefits - ESOP §23.452 [618) 12,118 11,500
Change in restricted
shares, net (38,738 4,293 {690) 3.603
Tax deduction for stock
optiens exercised and
Employee Stock Purchase
Plan disquatifying dispositions 1112 1112
Capital stock expenses, net 356 336
Adjustment to funded status
of pension, SERP and other
post retirement plans
[SFAS No. 158] (4,246) [4,246)
Other comprehensive loss {11,243} [11,243)
Balance as of
December 31, 2006 154,233,141 877.101 1,449,586 {34,768) 862,660 4,498 {360,900 2,798,179
Adaption of FIN 48 -
accounting for uncertainty
of income taxes [41,816) 141,814)
MNet income for 2007 246,483 244,483
Dividends on common
shares - $0.775 per share 120,535] 120,535)
Issuance of common
shares, $5 par value 504,455 2,522 6,534 9.054
Allocation of benefits - ESOP 343,470 2,129 8,414 10,543
Change in restricted shares, net  [21,104) 4,368 1627 3,741
Change in treasury stock f192) [ (6] -
Tax deduction for stock
options exercised and
Employee Stack Purchase
Plan disqualifying dispositions 3,183 3,183
Capital stock expenses, net 140 140
Other comprehensive income 4,861 4,861
Balance as of
December 31, 2007 155,079,770 $879,623 $1,465946 $(26,352) $946,792 $9.359 $(361,533] $2,913,835

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial stater ents.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31.

(Thousands of Dllars] 2007 2006 2005
Operating Activities:
Net income/{loss] $244,483 $470,578 $[253.488)
Adjustments to recancile to net cash flows provided by operating activities:
Pre-tax [gainsl/losses from sale/disposition of discontinued operations 12,054 (504,314) 1.123
Restructuring and impairment charges (2,304 (2,282) 67,181
Bad debt expense 29,140 29.366 27,528
Depreciation 265,297 243,822 237,463
Deferred income taxes 6,933 §204,212) (202,789
Amortization 40,674 16,292 202,949
Amortization of rate reduction bonds 201,039 188,247 176,356
Amortization of recoverable energy costs 11,715 15,609 39,914
Pension expense, net of capitalized portion 18,143 38,677 42,662
Wholesale contract buyout payments - — (186,531
Regulatory overrecoveries/lrefunds] 37,010 (96,560 165,236)
Derivative assets and liabitities 43,808) [98.485] 443,351
Deferred contractual obligations (41,950) (90,671] (89,464
Other non-cash adjustments 16,768) 22,675 45,112
Other sources of cash - 10,655 5,928
Other uses of cash (21,088) [10,134) -
Changes in current assets and liabilities:
Receivables and unbilted revenues, net 165,381) 605,366 (208.519)
Fuel. materials and supplies (33,727) 16,718 [17.848]
Investments in securitizable asseis 33,531 (158,451) {113,410)
Other current assets 3,878 58,350 46,462
Accounts payable 149,554) [399.384) 131,043
Counterparty deposits and margin special deposits 29,505 26,469 (86,229
Taxes [receivablel/accrued (392.611) 27477 156,630
Other current liabilities 115,670} 142,332 41,416
Net cash flows provided by operating activities 248,435 407,074 441,204
Investing Activities:
Investments in property and plant (1,114,824} (872,181) (775.355]
Net proceeds from sales of competitive businesses - 1,083,099 31,456
Cash payments related to the sale of competitive businesses (16,648} 132,359 -
Proceeds from sales of investment securities 254,832 193,459 137.099
Purchases of investment securities (261,771 [193,917) 142,260
Rate reduction bond escrow and other deposits 63,722 [50.686) 45,955
Other investing activities 7,229 19,649 3.560
Net cash flows lused in)/provided by investing activities [1,067,448) 117,064 [699,545)
Financing Activities:
Issuance of common shares 9,054 9,494 450,827
Issuance of long-term debt 655,000 250,000 350,355
Retirements of rate reduction bonds (259,722] [173,344) [195,988}
increase/(decrease) in short-term debt 79,000 (32.000) {148,000
Retirements of long-term debt 14,877) {28,843] 198,054]
Cash dividends on commen shares (120,988) (112,745) (87.554]
Other financing activities {5,245) (5711 (14,450
Net cash {lows provided by/lused in] financing activities 352,224 {88.009) 257.134
Net [decreaselfincrease in cash and cash equivalents (466,807) 436,129 11,207)
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 481,911 45,782 46,989
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $ 15,104 $481,911 $ 45782

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION

At December 31,

[Thousands of Dollars) 2007 2006
Common Shareholders’ Equity $2,913,835 $2,798.179
Preferred Stock:
CL&P Preferred Stock Not Subject to Mandatory Redemption -
$50 par value - authorized 9,000,000 shares in 2007 and 2006;
2,324,000 shares outstanding in 2007 and 2006;
Dividend rates of $1.90 to $3.28;
Current redemption prices of $50.50 to $54.00 116,200 116,200
Long-Term Debt:
First Mortgage Bonds:
Final Maturity Interest Rates
200%-2012 6.20% to 7.19% 71,429 78,714
2014-2017 4.80% to 6.15% 695,000 375,000
2019-2024 5.26% to 8.48% 209,845 209,845
2026-2037 5.35% to 8.81% 830,000 580,000
Total First Mortgage Bonds 1,806,274 1,240,559
Other Long-Term Debt:
Pallution Control Notes:
20146-2018 5.90% 25,400 25,400
2021-2022 Variable Rate and 4.75% te 6.0% 428,285 428,285
2028 5.85% to 5.95% 369,300 369,300
2031 3.35% until 2008 62,000 62,000
Other:
2007-2009 Variable Rate and 3.30% to 8.81% 195,000 150,591
2012-2015 5.00% to 2.24% 368,000 348,000
2034-2037 9.90% to 6.70% 90,000 50.000
Total Pollution Control Nates and Qther 1,537,985 1,453,576
Total First Mortgage Bonds, Pallution Control Notes and Other 3,344,259 2,694,135
Fees and interest due for spent nuclear fuel disposal costs 294,305 280,820
Change in fair value 4,172 [6.483)
Unamortized premium and discount, net (4,851) [3,160)
Total Long-Term Debt 3,637,885 2,965,312
Less: Amounts due within one year 154,286 4,877
Long-Term Debt, Net 3,483,599 2,960,435
Total Capitalization $6,513,634 $5.874,814

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial staterr ents.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. About Northeast Utilities

Consolidated: Northeast Utilities (NU or the company] is the parent
company of the regulated companies and NU Enterprises as defined
below. Untit February 8, 2006, NU was registered with the Securities
and Exchange Commission [SEC! as a hotding company under the
Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 [PUHCA). On February 8,
2006, PUHCA was repealed. NU is now registered with the Federal
Energy Regutatory Commission {FERC) as a public utility holding
company under the PUHCA of 2005. Arrangements among the regu-
lated companies, NU Enterprises and other NU companies, outside
agencies and other utilities covering intercannections, interchange of
electric power and sales of utility property are subject to regulation by
the FERC. The regulated companies are subject Lo further regulation
for rates, accounting and other matters by the FERC and/or applicable
state regulatery commissions.

Regulated Companies: The regulated companies furnish fran-
chised retail electric service in Cennecticut, New Hampshire and
Massachusetts through three companies: The Connecticut Light and
Power Compaﬁy (CL&P), Public Service Company of New Hampshire
(PSNHI and Western Massachusetts Electric Company (WMECO].
Another regulated company, Yankee Gas Services Company [Yankee
Gasl, owns and operates Connecticut’s largest natural gas distribution
system. The regulated companies include three reportabte business
segments: the electric distribution segment fwhich includes PSNH's
genleratiun activities], the gas distribution segment and the electric
transmission segment.

NU Enterprises: NU Enterprises, Inc. is the parent company of Select
Energy, Inc. [Select Energyl, the E. 5. Boulos Company {Boulos,
Northeast Generation Services Company [NGS) and Select Energy
Contracting, Inc. ISECI], which are coltectively referred to as NU
Enterprises. For information regarding NU's exit from these businesses,
see Note 3, "Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations,” to the
consolidated financial statements.

Several wholly-owned subsidiaries of NU provide support services

for NU's companies. Northeast Utilities Service Company (NUSCO]
provides centralized accounting, administrative, engineering, financial,
information technology, legal, operatienal, planning, purchasing, and
other services to NU's companies. Three other subsidiaries construct,
acquire or lease some of the property and facilities used by NU's
companies.

In 2007 and 2006, NU and its subsidiaries made aggregate discretionary
contributiens of $3 million and $25 mitlion, respectively, to the NU
Foundation, Inc. [Foundation), an independent not-for-profit charitable
entity designed to invest in projects that emphasize economic devel-
opment, workforce training and education, and a clean and healthy
environment. The board of directors of the Foundation consists of
certain NU officers. The Foundaticn is not included in the consolidated
financial statements of NU because the Foundation is a not-for-profit
entity and because the company does not have title to the Foundation's
assets and cannol receive contributions back from the Feundation. Any
donations made to the Foundation negatively impact NU's earnings.
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B. Presentation

The consolidated financial staterments of NU and its subsidiaries, as
applicable, include the accounts of all their respective subsidiaries.
Intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The preparation of consolidated financial staterments in conformity with
accounting principles generatly accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contin-
gent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Certain reclassifications of prior period data included in the accompa-
nying consolidated financial statements have been made to conform
with the current year's presentation.

NU's consolidated statements of income/lloss] for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 classify the following as discontin-
ued operations: ’

* Northeast Generation Company [NGCI, including certain compo-
nents of NGS,

* The Mt. Tom generating plant [Mt. Tom) previously owned by Holyoke
Water Power Company [HWP),

« Select Energy Services, Inc. [SESI) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
HEC/Tobyhanna Energy Project, Inc. and HEC/CJTS Energy Center
LLC,

+ A portion of the former Woods Electrical Co., Inc. [Woods Electricall,
* SECI linctuding Reeds Ferry Supply Co., Inc.}, and
* Woods Network Services, Inc. {Woods Natwork).

Fortions of SECI that were included in continuing eperations in prior
years have been reclassified to discontinued operations in the con-
solidated statements of income/[loss) for 2006 and 2005 as a result of
the winding down of SECI operations in 2007. The amounts of these
reclassifications are as follows:

For the Years

Ended December 31,
[Mitlions of Doltars} 2006 2005
(tperating revenue $6.7 $51.5
L.oss before income taxes {13.5) [12.8}
Gain from sale of discontinued operations 1.6 -
Incorne tax benefit (5.1 [2.9]
Met loss {6.8) (9.7}

For further information regarding discontinued operations, see
Mote 3, "Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations,” to the
consolidated financial statements.

C. Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted

Fair Value Measurements: On Septemnber 15, 2004, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board [FASB] issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards [SFAS) No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,”
vthich establishes a framework for identifying and measuring fair
value and is required to be implemented in the first quarter of 2008.
The statement defines fair value as the price that would be received o
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability [an exit price] in an orderly




transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
SFAS Na. 157 provides a fair vatue hierarchy, giving the highest priority
to quoted prices in active markets, and is applicable to fair value mea-
surements of derivative contracts that are subject to mark-to-market
accounting and to other assets and liabilities that are reported at fair
value or subject to fair value measurements.

SFAS No. 157 will be implemented prospectively with adjustments to
fair values of derivatives in Select Energy’s remaining portfolio reflect-
ed in earnings on January 1, 2008, similar to a change in estimate.
These adjustments are expected to increase derivative liabilities due
to the requirement to reflect the price that NU would expect to pay a
market participant to exit the contracts, partially offset by a reduction
in derivative liahilities to reflect the company’s nonperformance risk.
Management expects the pre-tax effect on earnings of implementing
this new standard to be less than $10 million.

Management is currently evaluating the effects of implementing SFAS
No. 157 on the consolidated balance sheet. These effects will include
adjustments to reflect the initial fair value of CL&P’s derivative contracts
that were in a gain or loss position at inception that was not recognized
under previous accounting standards. SFAS No. 157 requires these
adjustments to be recorded in retained earnings as of January 1, 2008.
However, the cost or benefit of the contracts is expected to be fully
recovered from or refunded to CL&P's customers. Therefore, adjust-
ments to reflect these previously unrecorded balances will be recorded
as regulatory assets or liabilities. In addition, updates to the fair values
of the NU requlated cormpanies’ previously recorded derivatives to reflect
their exit prices and nonperformance risk wilt also be recorded as regu-
latory assets or liabilities.

The Fair Value Option: On February 15, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 159, "The Fair Vatue Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities - including an amendment of FAS 1187 SFAS No. 159
allows entities to chaose, at specified election dates, to measure at
fair value eligibte financial assets and liabilities that are not otherwise
required to be measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effective in the
first quarter of 2008, with the effect of application to eligible iterns

as of January 1, 2008 required to be reflected as a cumulative-effect
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. if a company

elects the fair value option for an eligible itern, changes in that item’s
fair value at subsequent reporting dates must be recognized in earn-
ings. Management is currently evaluating whether or not to elect the
fair value option for NU's securities held in trust as of January 1, 2008.
As of January 1, 2008, securities held in trust for the Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan {SERP] and non-SERP benefit plans had
unrealized gains included in accumulated other comprehensive
income of approximately $3 million after taxes that would be recorded
as a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings if SFAS No. 15%
is implemented. Implementation of SFAS No. 159 for WMECQ's securi-
ties held in its prior spent nuclear fuel trust is not expecied to have a
material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

D. Revenues

Regulated Companies: The regulated companies’ retail revenues are
based on rates approved by the state regulatory commissions. In gen-
eral, rates can only be changed through formal proceedings with the

state regulatory commissions. However, certain regulated companies

~

utilize regulatory commission-approved tracking mechanisms to track
the recovery of certain incurred costs. The tracking mechanisms allow
for rates to be changed periodically, with overcollections refunded to
customers or undercallections cotlected from customers in future
periods,

Regulated Campanies™ Unbilled Revenues: Unbilled revenues repre-
sent an estimate of electricity or gas delivered to customers for which
customers have not yet been billed. Unbilled revenues are included in
revenue on the statement of income/{loss| and are assets on the bal-
ance sheet that are reclassified to accounts receivable in the following
month as customers are bilted. Such estimates are subject to adjust-
ment when actual meter readings become available or under other
circumstances.

The regulated companies estimate unbilled revenues monthly using
the daily load cycle (DLC) method. The DLC method altocates billed
sales to the current calendar month based on the daily load for each
billing cycle. The billed sales are subtracted fram total calendar month
sales to estimate unbilled sales. Unbilled revenues are estimated by
first allocating sales to the respective rate classes, then applying an
average rate to the estimate of unbilled sales.

Regulated Companies’ Transmission Revenues - Wholesale Rates:
Wholesale transmission revenues are based on formula rates that are
approved by the FERC. Most of NU's wholesale transmission revenues
are collected under the New England Independent System Operator
(I50-NE] FERC Electric Tariff Mo. 3, Transmission, Markets and
Services Tariff [Tariff No. 3). Taritf No. 3 includes Regional Network
Service [RNS) and Local Network Service |LNS] rate schedules to
recover transmission and other services. The RNS rate, administered
by 1SO-NE and billed to all New England transmission users, is reset
on June 1st of each year and recovers the revenue requirements
associated with transmission facitities that benefit the New England
region. The LINS rate, administered by NU, is reset on January 1st and
June 1st of each year and recovers the revenue requirements for local
transmission facilities and other transmission costs not recovered
under the RNS rate, including 50 percent of the CWIP that is included
in rate base on the remaining three southwest Connecticut projects
{Middletown-Norwalk, Glenbrook Cables and Long Island Replacement
Cablel. The LNS rate calculation recovers total transmission revenue
requirements net of revenues received from other sources fi.e., RNS,
rentals, etc.), thereby ensuring that NU recovers all regional and local
revenue requirements as prescribed in Tariff No. 3. Both the RNS and
LNS rates provide for annual true-ups to actual costs. The financial
impacts of differences between actual and projected costs are deferred
for future recovery from or refund to retail customers. At December 31,
2007, the LNS rates were in an underrecovery position of approximately
$23 million, which will be recovered from LNS customers in mid-
2008. NU believes that these rates will provide it with timely recovery
of transmission costs, including costs of its major transmission projects.

Regulated Companies” Transmission Revenues - Retail Rates: A
significant portion of the NU transmission segment revenue comes
from ISO-NE charges to the distribution segments of CL&P, PSNH
and WMECD, which recover these costs through rates charged to their
retail customers. CL&P and WMECO each have a retail transmission
cost tracking mechanism as part of their rates, and PSNH implemented
a transmission cost adjustment mechanism that was effective on a
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retroactive basis beginning or July 1, 2006 as part of its February 26,
2007 rate case settlement agreement. These tracking mechanisms
allow the companies to charge their retail customers for transmission
charges on a timety basis.

NU Enterprises: NU Enterprises’ revenues are recognized at different
times for its different business lines. Service revenues are recognized
as services are provided, often on a percentage of completion basis.
Up to and including the first quarter of 2005, wholesate marketing
revenues were recognized when energy was delivered. Subsequent to
March 31, 2005, as a result of applying mark-to-market accounting,
these revenues were recorded in fuel, purchased and net interchange
power. This net presentation of the mark-to-market and settlement
amounts is generally required when physical delivery of contract quan-
tities is no longer probable.

For further information regarding the recognition of revenue, see
Note 1E, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Derivative
Accounting,” to the consolidated financial statements.

E. Derivative Accounting

The accounting treatment for energy contracts entered into varies and

depends on the intended use of the particular contract and on whether
or not the contract is a derivative. Non-derivative contracts are record-
ed at the time of delivery or settlement.

The application of derivative acccunting under SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended, is complex and requires management judgment in the fol-
lowing respects: electicn and designation of the normal purchases and
sales exception, identification of derivatives and embedded derivatives,
identifying hedge retationships, assessing and measuring hedge inef-
fectiveness, and determining the fair value of derivatives. All of these
judgments, depending upen their timing and effect, can have a signifi-
cant impact on NU's consolidated earnings.

The fair value of derivatives is based upon the contract terms and con-
ditions and the underlying market price or fair value per unit. When
quantities are not specified in the contract, the company determines
whether it is a derivative by using amounts referenced in default
provisions and other relevant sections of the contract. The estimated
quantities to be served are updated during the term of the contract,
and such updates can have a material impact on mark-to-market
amounts.

The judgment applied in the election of the normal purchases and
sales exception [and resulting accrual accounting] includes the conclu-
sion that it is prebable at the inception of the contract and throughout
its term that it will result in physical delivery and that the quantities
will be used or sold by the business over a reasonable period in the
normal course of business, |f facts and circumstances change and -
management can no longer support this conclusion, then the normal
exception and accrual accounting is terminated and fair value account-
ing is applied.

Contracts that are hedging an underlying transaction and that qualify
as derivatives that hedge exposure te the variable cash flows of a fore-
casted transaction [cash flow hedges] are recorded on the consolidated
balance sheets at fair value with changes in fair value reflected in
accumulated other comprehensive incormne. Cash flow hedges include
forward interest rate swap agreements on proposed debt issuances.
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When a cash flow hedge is settled, the settlement amount is recorded
in accumulatad other comprehensive income and is amortized into
earnings over the term of the debt. In addition, cash flow hedges
impact earnings when hedge ineffectiveness is measured and recorded
or when the forecasted transaction being hedged is no lenger probabte
of occurring.

Most of the contracts that comprise or comprised Select Energy’s
whaolesale marketing and competitive generation activities are or were
derivatives, and many of our regulated company contracts for the
purchase or sale of energy or energy-related products are derivatives.
Certain of Select Energy’s retail marketing contracts with retail cus-
tomers were not derivatives, while virtually all contracts Select Energy
entered into to supply these customers were derivatives. Select Energy
cold those retail marketing and supply contracts to Hess Corporation
[Hess] on June 1, 2005.

The Emerging Issues Task Force [EITF] Issue No. 03-11, "Reporting
Realized Gains and Losses on Derivative Instruments That Are Subject
to FASB Statement No. 133 and Not Held for Trading Purposes as
defined in EITF Issue No. 02-3,” addresses income statement clas-
cification of derivatives that are not related to energy trading activities.
In accordance with EITF 03-11, the remaining wholesale marketing
contracts, which are marked-to-market derivative contracts are not
considered to be held for trading purposes, and sales and purchase
ectivity is reported on a net basis in fuel, purchased and net inter-
change power.

EITF Issue No. 02-3, "Issues Involved in Accounting for Derivative
Contracts Held for Trading Purposes and Contracts Involved in Energy
Trading and Risk Management Activities,” prohibits recerding the initial
cains and losses on derivative contracts if their estimated fair values
zre based on significant non-ohservable inputs. Based upon the sig-
r.ificance of non-observahle capacity prices to their valuation, the esti-
rrated initial fair values of CL&P's contracts for differences [CfDs) are
rot recorded on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2007,

For further information regarding the company’s derivative contracts,
and their accounting, see Note 5, "Derivative Instruments,” to the con-
solidated financial statements.

F. Regulatory Accounting

The accounting policies of the regulated companies conform to
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America applicable to rate-regulated enterprises and historically
reflect the effects of the rate-making process in accordance with SFAS
Mo. 71, "Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation.”

The transmission and distribution segments of CL&P, PSNH and
WMECO, along with PSNH's generation segment and Yankee Gas's
distribution segment, continue to be cost-cf-service, rate regulated.
Management believes that the applicaticn of SFAS No. 71 to those
segments continues to be appropriate. Management also believes it is
probable that NU's requlated cormpanies will recover their investments
in leng-lived assets, including requlatory assets. All material net
ragulatory assets are earning an equity return, except for securitized
ragulatory assets and the majority of deferred benefit costs, which
are not supperted by equity. Amartization and deferrals of regulatory
assets/[liabilities] are included on a net basis in amoertization expense
on the accompanying consolidated statements of income/(loss).




Regulatory Assets: The components of regulatory assets are as
follows:

At December 31,

[Millians of Dollars) 2007 2006
Securitized assets $ 907.0 $1,131.1
Deferred benefit costs 201.4 407.4
Income taxes, net 335.5 308.0
Unrecovered contractual obligations 189.9 2144
Requlatory assets offsetting regulated

company derivative liabilities 122.3 79.4
CL&P CTA and SBC undercotlections 90.6 100.5
Other regulatory assets 210.4 2123
Totals $2,057.1  $2.449.1

Additionally, the regulated companies had $11.¢ million and $11.2 million
of regutatory costs at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. that
were included in deferred debits and other assets - other on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. These amounts represent
regulatory costs that have not yet been approved for recovery by the
applicable regulatory agency. Management believes these costs are
recoverable in future cost-of-service regulated rates.

Securitized Assets: In March of 2001, CL&P issued $1.4 billion in rate
reduction certificates. CL&P used $1.1 billion of the proceeds from
that issuance to buyout or buydown certain contracts with independent
power producers [IPP). The unamortized CL&P securitized asset balance
was $468.6 million and $604.5 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, CL&P used the remaining proceeds from the issuance of
the rate reduction certificates to securitize a portion of its SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes,” regulatory asset. The securitized SFAS
No. 109 regulatory asset had an unamortized balance of $79.6 million
and $102.7 million at December 31, 2007 and 2004, respectively.

In April of 2001, PSNH issued rate reduction bonds in the amount of
$525 million. PSNH used the majority of the proceeds from that issuance
to buydown its affiliated power contracts with North Atlantic Energy
Corporation. The unamortized PSNH securitized asset balance was
$272.4 million and $314.7 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. In January of 2002, PSNH issued an additional $50 million
in rate reduction bonds and used the proceeds from that issuance to
repay short-term debt that was incurred to buyout a purchased-power
contract in December of 2001. The unamortized PSNH securitized
asset balance for the January of 2002 issuance was $0.8 millicn and
$10.9 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The January
2002 rate reduction bonds are expected te be paid in full in the first
quarter of 2008.

In May of 2001, WMECO issued $155 million in rate reduction certificates
and used the majority of the proceeds from that issuance to buyout

an IPP contract. The unamortized WMECO securitized asset balance
was $85.6 million and $98.3 millien at December 3%, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

Securitized regulatory assets, which are not earning an equity return,
are being recovered over the amortization period of their associated
rate reduction certificates/bonds. All outstanding CL&P rate reduc-
tion certificates are scheduled to fully amortize by December 30, 2010,
while PSNH rate reduction bonds are scheduled to fully amortize by
May 1, 2013, and WMECO rate reduction certificates are scheduted to
fully amortize by June 1, 2013.

Deferred Benefit Costs: On Decemnber 31, 2006, the company imple-
mented SFAS No. 158, "Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans.” SFAS No. 158 applies to
NU's Pension Plan, SERP, and postretirement benefits other than
pension {PBOP] Plan and requires an additional benefit liability to be
recorded with an offset to accumulated other comprehensive income in
shareholders™ equity, which is remeasured annually. However, because
the regulated companies are cost-of-service rate regulated entities
under SFAS No. 71, offsets were recorded as a regulatory asset of
$201.4 million at December 31, 2007 and $407.4 million at December 31,
2006 as these amounts have been and continue to be recoverable

in cost-of-service requlated rates. Regulatory accounting was also
applied to the portions of the NUSCO costs that suppoert the regulated
companies, as these amounts are also recoverable. The majority of the
deferred benefit costs are not in rate base. )

Income Taxes, Net: The tax eftect of temporary differences [differences
between the perieds in which transactions affect income in the finan-
cial statements and the periods in which they affect the determination
of taxable income, including these differences relating to uncertain
tax positions] is accounted for in accordance with the rate-making
treatment of the applicable regulatory commissions, SFAS No. 109
and FASB Interpretation No. [FIN) 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty

in Income Taxes - an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.”
Differences in income taxes between SFAS No. 109, FIN 48 and the
rate-making treatment of the applicable regulatory commissions are
recorced as requlatory assets which totaled $335.5 million and $308
million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. For further infor-
mation regarding income taxes, see Note 1G, "Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies - Income Taxes,” to the consolidated financiat
statements.

Unrecovered Contractual Obligations: Under the terms of contracts
with the Connecticut Yankee Atomic Power Company [CYAPCI, Yankee
Atomic Electric Company [YAEC), and Maine Yankee Atomic Power
Company [MYAPC] [Yankee Companies), CL&P, PSNH, and WMECO are
responsible for their propartionate share of the remaining costs of the
units, including decommissioning. A portion of these amounts, $18%.9
million and $214.4 miltion at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively, was recorded as unrecovered contractual obligations regulatory
assets. A portion of these obligations for CL&P was securitized in

2001 and was included in securitized regulatory assets. Amounits for
WMECQO are being recovered along with other stranded costs. Amounts
for PSNH were fully recovered by December 31, 2006.

Regulatory Assets Dffselting Regulated Company Derivative Liabilities:
The regulatory assets offsetting derivative liabilities relate to the fair
value of contracts used to purchase power and other related contracts
that will be collected from customers in the future. These amounts
totaled $122.3 million and $75.4 million at December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively. See Note 5, “Derivative Instruments,” tor further
information. This asset is excluded from rate base.

CL&P CTA and 58C Undercollections: The Competitive Transition
Assessment ICTA) allows CL&P to recover stranded costs, such as secu-
ritization costs associated with the rate reduction bonds, amortization

of regulatory assets, and IPP over market costs. The System Benefits
Charge [SBC) allows CL&P to recover certain regulatory and energy
public policy costs, such as public education outreach costs, hardship
protection costs, transition period property taxes and displaced workers
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prolection costs. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, CTA undercollections
totaled $54 million and $75.5 million, respectively. At December 31, 2007
and 2006, SBC undercollections totaled $36.6 million and $25 million,
respectively.

Other Regulatory Assets: Included in other regulatory assets are
the requlatory assets associated with the implementation of FIN 47,
“Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations - an inter-
pretation of FASB Statement No. 143,” totaling $40.6 million and
$46.4 mitlion at December 31, 2007 and 2004, respectively. Of these
amounts, $11.6 million and $13.7 million, respectively, have been
approved for future recovery. Management believes that recovery of
the remaining regulatory assets is probable.

At Decernber 31, 2007 and 2004, other regulatory assets also included
$28.8 million and $31.6 million, respectively, related to losses on
reacquired debt, $29.3 million and $32.6 million, respectively, related
to envirenmental costs, $16.1 miltion and $18.2 million, respectively,
related to the buyout and buydown of other PP contracts, and $95.6
million and $83.5 million, respectively, related to various other iterns,

Regulatory Liabilities: The components of regulatory liabilities are
as follows:

At December 31,

(Millians of Doltars) 2007 2006
Cost of removal $262.6 $290.8
Regulatory liabilities offsetting regulated

company derivative assets 330.4 294.5
CL&P GSC and FMCC overcollections 119.2 108.2
Other regulatory liabilities 139.6 115.8
Totals $851.8 $809.3

Cost of Remaval: NU's regulated companies currently recover amounts
in rates for future costs of removal of plant assets. These amounts,
which totaled $262.6 million and $290.8 million at December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively, are classiiied as regulatory liabilities on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. This liability is included in
rate base.

Regulatory Liabilities Offsetting Reguiated Company Derivative Assets:
The regulatory liabilities offsetting derivative assets relate to the fair
value of contracts used to purchase power and other related contracts
that will benefit ratepayers in the future. These amaounts totaled $330.4
rnillion and $294.5 miltion at December 31, 2007 and 2004, respectively.
See Note 5, "Derivative Instruments,” for further information. This
liability is excluded from rate base.

CL&P G5C and FMCC Overcollections: The Generation Service Charge
[G5C) allows CL&P to recover the costs of the procurement of energy
for standard service, which includes forward capacity market charges.
The Federally Mandated Congestion Charges {FMCC] mechanism
allows CL&P to recover the costs of power market rules by the FERC,
including Reliability Must Run [RMR] costs. At December 31, 2007 and
2006, GSC and FMCC overcollections totated $119.2 millien and $108.2
million, respectively.

Other Regulatory Liabilities: At December 31, 2007 and 2006, other
regulatory liabilities included $20.6 mitlion and $23.8 million, respec-
tively, of prepaid pension and other post employment benefits amounts
related to the purchase of Yankee Gas in March of 2000, a $25.6 million
tiabitity at December 31, 2006 related to transmission refunds to be
provided to customers as a result of the FERC ROE decision, $17.6
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million and $78.3 million, respectively, related to PSNH's energy service
overcollections, $21.4 miltion and $6.6 million, respectively, related to
CL&P’s 50 percent reserve for allowance for funds used during
construction (AFUDC] currently recovered in rate base as a result of
FERC approved transmission incentives, and $80 million and $41.5
million related to various other items at December 31, 2007 and 2004,
respectively.

G. Income Taxes

The tax effect of temporary differences is accounted for in accordance
with the rate-making treatment of the applicable requlatory commissions,
SFAS No. 109 and FIN 48, Detaits of income tax expense/lbenefit)
rzlated to continuing operations are as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

(Millions of Dollars] 2007 2006 2005
The comnponents of the federal and
state income tax provisions are:
Current income taxes:
Federal $ 89.3 $597 % 21.2
State 18.9 {19.1 6.6
Total current 108.2 40.6 27.8
Ceferred income taxes, nei:
Federal 26.2 [49.7) [158.8)
State 21.4) 14.2) (50.4)
Total deferred 4.8 (53.94 (209.0]
Investment tax credits, net (3.6) 163.0 [3.7)
Income tax expense/(benefit) $109.4 5763  $0184.9)

A reconciliation between income tax expense/[benefit] and the expected
tax expense/|benefit] at the statutory rate is as follows:

Fos the Years Ended December 31,

(Millions of Dollars, except percentages! 2007 2006 2005
Income/lloss) from continuing
operations before income tax
expense/|benefit] $360.9 $62.2  $l436.2)
Expected federal income
tax expense/[benefit) 126.3 21.7 (152,71
Tax effect of differences:
Depreciation (6.8 (4.0) (3.5]
Amortization of regulatory assets 0.2 13.3 1.8
Investment 1ax credit amortization
{including $59.3 miliion related
to the PLR in 2006) (3.6) (63.0 (3.7)
Other federal tax credits 13.1) (0.3 -
State income taxes, net
of federal impact {9.6) (16.8] [47.6)
Excess deferred income taxes - PLR  — [14.7) -
Deferred tax adjustment -
sale to affiliate - [6.0) -
Medicare subsidy (4.4) (5.5 (6.0)
Tax asset valuation
allowance/reserve adjustments 9.4 1.4 185
Other, net 0.8 (2.4) 8.3
Income tax expense/(benefit) $109.4 $076.31  $0184.9]
Effective tax rate 30.3% * 42.4%

* Not meaningiful.

NU and its subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return
and file state income tax returns, with some filing in more than one
state. These entities are also parties to a tax atlocation agreement
uader which taxable subsidiaries do not pay any more taxes than they
would have otherwise paid had they filed a separate company tax
return, and subsidiaries generating tax losses, if any, are paid for their
lcsses when utilized.




In 2000, GL&P requested from the Internal Revenue Service [IRS] a
Private Letter Ruling [PLR] regarding the treatment of unamortized
investment tax credits (UITC) and excess deferred income taxes (EDIT)
related to generation assets that were sold. [n 2006, the IRS issued

a PLR in response to CL&P's request for a ruling, which held that it
would be a violation of tax regulations if the EDIT or UITC are used to
reduce customers’ rates following the sale of the generation assets.
CL&P's UITC and EDIT balances related to generation assets that have
been sold totaled $59 million and $15 millien, respectively, and $74
mitlion combined. Later in 2004, the Connecticut Department of Publi:
Utility Control [DPUC) determined that the UITC and EDIT amounts
were no longer required to be held in their existing accounts. As a
result of this determination, the $74 million balance was reflected as
a reduction to CL&P’s 2006 income tax expense with an increase to
CL&P’s earnings by the same amount,

Included in 2006 amortization of regulatory assets above is $13 million
associated with PSNH's restructuring settlement agreement, which
was implemented in 2001, In accordance with the provisions of the
restructuring settlement, pre-tax amortization of PSNH non-deductible
acquisition costs were $38 million and $5 million in 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the current
and long-term net accumulated deferred tax obligations are as follows:

At December 31,

{Miltions of Doltars] 2007 2006
Deferred tax liabilities - current:
Change in fair value of energy contracts $ 219 $ 180
Other 52.2 420
Total deferred tax liabilities - current 741 - 60.0
Deferred tax assets - current:
Change in fair value of energy contracts 11.0 17.3
Other 22.7 265
Total deferred tax assets - current 33.7 43,8
Net deferred tax liabilities - current 404 16.2

Deferred tax liabilities - long-term:
Accelerated depreciation and other

plant-related differences 267.5 931.0
Employee benefits 147.8 126.7
Regulatory amounts:

Securitized contract termination costs 147.0 2003

Other regulatory deferrals 93.9 2381

Income tax gross-up 194.7 202.4

Derivative assets 111 99.5

Other 66.5 39.5

Total deferred tax liabilities - long-term 1,768.5 1,837.5
Deferred tax assets - long-term:
Regulatory deferrals 192.2 267.9
Employee benefits 280.3 308.0
Income tax gross-up . 34.0 39.23
Derivative liability 54.2 12.7
Other 164.6 133.7
Total deferred tax assets - long-term 725.3 761.¢
Less: valuation allowance 24.3 23%
Net deferred tax assets - long-term 701.0 738.1
Net deferred tax liabilities - long-term 1,067.5 1.099.4
Net deferred tax liabilities $1,107.9  $1,115.¢

At December 31, 2007. NU had state net operating loss {NOL] carry-
forwards of $434.1 million that expire between December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2027 and state credit carryforwards of $61.3 million that

expire by December 31, 2012. The NOL carryforward deferred tax asset
has been fully reserved by a valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2004, NU had state NOL carryforwards of $350 mitlion
that expire between December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2026 and
state credit carryforwards of $32.8 million that expire by December 31,
2011. The NOL carryforward deferred tax asset has been fully reserved
by a valuation allowance.

Effective on January 1, 2007, NU implemented FIN 48. FIN 48 applies
to all income tax positions previously filed in a tax return and income
tax positions expected to be taken in a future tax return that have been
reflected on the balance sheets. FIN 48 addresses the methodology

to be used prospectively in recognizing, measuring and classifying

the amounts associated with income tax positions that are deemed to
be uncertain, including related interest and penalties. Previously, NU
recorded estimates for uncertain tax positions in accordance with SFAS
No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies.”

As a result of implementing FIN 48, NU recognized a cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle of $41.8 mitlion as a reduction to
the January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings. The CL&P, PSNH
and WMECO reductions/[increases] to the January 1, 2007 balances of
retained earnings were $24 million, $(1.6] million and $(0.4] million,
respectively. Refer to the accompanying consalidated statements of
quarterly financial data (unaudited) that discusses a correction in the
company’s initial adoption of FIN 48.

interest and Penalties: Effective on January 1, 2007, NU's accounting
policy for the classification of interest and penalties related to FIN 48
is as follows:

« Interest on uncertain tax positions is recorded and classified as a
component of other interest expense. NU recorded accrued interest
expense of $19.4 million, which is included in the cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle. as of January 1, 2007. For the
year ended December 31, 2007, NU recorded interest expense of
$2.4 million. At December 31, 2007, $21.8 millien of accrued interest
expense was recognized on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet.

= No penalties have been recorded under FIN 48. If penalties are
recorded in the future, then the estimated penalties would be classi-
fied as a component of other income/(loss), net.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits: Upon adoption of FIN 48 on January 1,
2007, NU had unrecognized tax benefits totaling $86.1 million, of which
$69.5 million would impact the effective tax rate, if recognized. As of
December 31, 2007, NU's unrecognized tax benefits totaled $121.1 million.
of which $93 million would impact the effective tax rate, if recognized.

A reconciliation of the activity in unrecognized tax benefits from
January 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 is as follows:

[Millions of OolNars}

Batance at beginning of year $ 861
Gross increases - current year 25.0
Gross increases - prior year 10.6
Lapse of statute of limitations {0.8)

Balance at end of year $121.1
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Tax Positions: NU is currently working to resolve all open tax years. It
is reasonably possible that one or more of these open tax years could
be resolved within the next twelve months. Management estimates that
potential resolutions could result in a $2 million to $27 million decrease
in unrecognized tax benefits by NU. This estimated change is primarily
related to the timing of deducting expenses for book versus tax purposes,
which is not expected to have a material impact on earnings.

Tax Years: The following table summarizes NU's tax years that remain
subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions at December 31, 2007:

Description Tax Years

Federal 2002 - 2097
Connecticut 1997 - 2007
New Hampshire 2003 - 2007
Massachusetts 2004 - 2007

H. Other Investments

NU maintains certain other investments at December 31, 2007. These
investments included Acumentrics Corporation (Acumentrics], a devel-
oper of fuel cell and power quality equiprent, and BMC Energy LLC
[BMC], an operator of renewable energy projects.

Acumentrics: In July of 2006, Acumentrics was recapitalized and

its debt securities held by NU were converted into preferred stock.
NU's cost method investment in Acumentrics totaled $0.6 million at
both December 31, 2007 and 2004 and is included in deferred debits
and other assets - other on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets.

BMC: In 2007 and 2005, based on information that negatively impacted
undiscounted cash flow projections and fair value estimates, manage-
ment determined that the fair value of the note receivable from BMC
had declined and that the note was impaired. As a result, NU recorded
pre-tax investment write-downs of $0.5 million and $0.8 million in
2007 and 2005, respectively. At December 31, 2007, there was no
remaining balance related to BMC.

The BMC investment write-down is included in other income, net on
the accompanying consolidated statements of income/lloss). For further
information, see Note 1R, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
- Other Income, Net,” to the consolidaled financial statements.

|. Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation

The following table summarizes NU's investments in utility plant
at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the average depreciable life at
December 31, 2007:

Average At Gecember 31.
Depreciable Life 2007 2006

[Years) [Millions of Dotlars)
Distribution 325 $6,230.3 35,9504
Transmission 452 1,751.1 1,460.9
Generation 273 590.5 577.2
Compelitive energy 6.1 18.7 17.9
Other 15.2 291.8 2815
Total property, plant and equipment §,882.4 812879
Less: Accumulated depreciation [2,661.8] [2,615.1)
Net property, plant and equipment 6,220.6 5,672.8
Construction work in progress 1,009.3 569.4

Total property, plant and equipment, net $7,229.9 $6,2422
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The provision for depreciation on utility assets is calculated using the
straight-line method based on the estimated remaining useful lives of
depreciable plant in-service, adjusted for salvage value and removal
costs, as approved by the appropriate regulatory agency, where appli-
cable. Depreciation rates are applied to plant-in-service from the time
it is placed in service. When a plant is retired from service, the original
cost of the plant is charged to the accumulated provision for depre-
ciation which includes cost of removal less satvage, Cost of removal

is classified as a regutatory liability. The depreciation rates for the
several classes of utility plant-in-service are equivalent to a composite
rate of 3.2 percent in 2007, 2006, and 2005.

J. Equity Method Investments

Regional Nuclear Companies: At Becember 31, 2007, CL&P, PSNH
and WMECO owned common stock in three regional nuclear companies
[Yankee Companies). Each of the Yankee Companies owned a single
nuclear generating plant which has been decommissioned. NU's
ownership interests in the Yankee Companies at December 31, 2007,
which are accounted for on the equity method, were 49 percent of
CYAPC, 38.5 percent of the YAEC, and 20 percent of the MYAPC, The
total carrying value of NU's ewnership interests in CYAPC, MYAPC and
YAEC, which is included in deferred debits and other assets - other

67 the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the regulated
companies - eleciric distribution reportable segment, totaled $6.4
million and $9.2 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Earnings related lo these equity investments are included in other
ircome, net on the accompanying consolidated statements of income/
(lass). For further information, see Note 1R, “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies - Other Income, Net,” to the conselidated financial
statements.

For further information, see Note 8E, “Commitments and
Contingencies - Deferred Contractual Obligations,” to the
consolidated financial statements.

Hydro-Quebec: NU parent has a 22.7 percent equity ownership
interest in two companies that transmit electricity imported from the
Hydro-Quebec system in Canada. NU's investment, which is included
in deferred debits and other assets - other on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets, totated $7.6 million and $7.9 mitlion at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

K. Allowance for Funds Used During Construction

A=UDC is included in the cost of the regulated companies’ utility plant
and represents the cost of borrowed and equity funds used to finance
construction. The portion of AFUDC attributable to borrowed funds is
recorded as a reduction of ather interest expense, and the AFUDC
related to equity funds is recorded as other income on the accompany-
ing consolidated statements of incomefiloss].

For the Years Ended Dacember 31,

(M lligns of Dellars. except percentages) 2007 2004 2005

AFUDC:

Borrowed funds $17.5 $135 $10.1
Equity funds 17.4 13.6 12.3
Totals $34.9 $27.1 $22.4
Average AFUDC rates 7.6% 7.5% 7.2%




The regulated companies’ average AFUDC rate is based on a
FERC-prescribed formula that develops an average rate using the

cost of a company’s shert-term financings as well as a company’s
capitalization |preferred stock, long-term debt and commen equityl.
The average rate is applied te eligible construction work in progress
[CWIP) amounts to calculate AFUDC. Although AFUDC is recorded on
100 percent of CL&P's CWIP for its majar transrission projects in
southwest Connecticut, 50 percent of this AFUDC is being reserved as
a regulatory liability to reflect current rate base recovery for 50 percent
of the CWIP as a result of FERC approved transmission incentives.

L. Sale of Customer Receivables

CL&P Receivables Carparation [CRC}, a consolidated, wholly-owned
subsidiary of CL&P, is permitted to sell up to $100 miltion of an undi-
vided interest in CL&P's accounts receivable and unbilled revenues to
a financial institution. At Decernber 31, 2007, there were $20 million ir
sales. At December 31, 2006, there were no such sales.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, amounts sold te CRC by CL&P but
not sald te the financial institution totaling $308.2 miltion and $375.7
millien, respectively, were included in investments in securitizable
assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. These amounts
would be excluded from CL&P's assets in the event of CL&P's bankruptcs.

On July 3, 2007, CL&P extended the bank commitment under the
Receivables Purchase and Sale Agreement with CRC and the financial
institution through June 30, 2008 and extended the facility termination
date to June 21, 2012. CL&P's continuing involvement with the receiv-
ables that are sold to CRC and the financial institution is limited to the
servicing of those receivables.

The transfer of receivables to the financial institution under this
arrangement qualifies for sale treatment under SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishment of Liabilities - A Replacement of SFAS No. 125."

M. Asset Retirement Obligations

NU implemented FIN 47 on December 31, 2005. FIN 47 requires an
entity to recognize a liability for the fair value of an asset retirement
obligation [ARD) on the ebligation date if the liability's fair value can
be reasonably estimated and is conditional on a future event, FIN 47
provides that settlement dates and future costs should be reasonably
estimated when suificient information becomes avaitable and pro-
vides guidance on the definition and timing of sufficient infarmation
in determining expected cash flows and fair values. Management has
identified various categories of AROs, primarily certain assets contain-
ing asbestos and hazardous contamination. A fair value calculation,
refleciing expected probabilities for settlement scenarios, has been
performed.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, the earnings impact of this
implementation was recorded as a cumulative effect of accounting
change of $1 million, net of tax benefit, related to NU Enterprises.
These AROs were transferred with the assets of NGC and Mt. Tom with
the sale of the generation business on Movernber 1, 2006. Because the
regulated companies are cost-of-service, rate regulated entities, these
companies apply regulatory accounting in accordance with SFAS No.
71, and the costs associated with the regulated companies” AROs wers
included in other regulatory assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

The fair value of the AROs was recorded as a liability in deferred credits
and other liabilities ~ other with an offset included in property. plant
and equipment on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
ARQ assets are depreciated, and the ARQ liabilities are accreted over
the estimated life of the obligation with corresponding credits recorded
as accumulated depreciation and ARO liabilities, respectively. For NU's
regulated companies where recovery has not yet been formalized, both
the depreciation and accretion were recorded as increases to regutatory
assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at December 31,
2007 and 2006.

The following tabies present the ARD asset, the related accumulated
depreciation, the regulatory asset, and the ARO liabilities at December 31,
2007 and 2006:

At December 31. 2007
Accemelated

ARD Depreciation Regulatory e

[Millions of Dollars] Asset  of ARD Asset Asset Lizbilities

Asbestos $ 2.7 $(1.6) $19.6 $121.3)

Hazardous contamination 4.5 1.2 13.7 [17.3}

Other ARCs 6.8 i3.01 7.3 1.1
Total regulated

companies AROs $14.0 $15.8]  $40.6  $049.7)

At December 31, 2006
Accumulateg

ARD  Depreciation Regulatory ARG

[Millions of Dotlars! Asset  of ARD Asset Asset Liabilities

Asbestos $ 38 $(2.1) $20.1 ${22.1)

Hazardous contamination 6.5 (1.6 15.9 [20.7]

Other ARQs 1.8 15.5) 10.4 [16.9]
Totat regulated

companies’ AROs $22.1 ${9.2] $46.4 $(59.71

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending carrying amounts of
regulated companies” AROs is as follows:

[Mitlions of Doltars) 2007 2006
Balance at beginning of year $(59.7) $(50.21
Liabilities incurred during the year (2.8 (5.7
Liabitities settled during the year 7.3 1.6
Accretion 1.3) {0.6)
Changes in estimates 7.9 3.7
Revisions in estimated cash flows 1.1 1.5
Balance at end of year $149.71 $(59.7)

Changes in estimates and revisions in estimated cash flaws supperting
the carrying amounts of AROs include changes in estimated quantities
and removal costs, discount rates and inflation rates.

N. Materials and Supplies

Materials and supplies inctude materiats purchased primarily for ¢on-
struction, operation and maintenance [0&M] purposes. Materials and
supplies are valued at the lower of average cost or markel.

0. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash an hand and short-term cash
investments that are highly liquid in nature and have original maturi-

ties of three months or less. At the end of each reporting period, any

overdraft amounts are reclassified from cash and cash equivalents to
accounts payable.
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P. Special Deposits

To the extent counterparties require cotlateral from Select Energy, ¢cash
is held on deposit with unaffiliated counterparties and brokerage firms
as a part of the total collateral required based on Select Energy’s posi-
tion in the transaction. Select Energy’s right to use cash collateral is
determined by the terms of the related agreements. Key factors affect-
ing the unrestricted status of a portion of this cash collateral include the
financial standing of Select Energy and of NU as its credit supporter.

Special deposits paid to unaffiliated counterparties and brokerage
firms totaled $18.9 million and $48.5 million at December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively, These amounts are recorded as current assets and
are included as special deposits on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheeis.

NU also had amounts on deposit related to four special purpose
entities used to facilitate the issuance of rate reduction bonds and
certificates. These amounts totaled $43.5 million and $102.5 miltion
at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. In addition, the company
had $4.4 million and $11.2 million in other cash deposits held with
unaffiliated parties at Becember 31, 2007 and 2006, respactively,
primarily related to CL&F's transmission projects. These amounts
are included in deferred debits and other assets - ather an the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets,

Q. Other Taxes

Certain excise taxes levied by state or local governments are collected
by NU from its customers. These excise taxes are accounted for on a
gross basis with coltections in revenues and payments in expenses.
For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, gross receipts
taxes, franchise taxes and other excise taxes of $112.2 million, $114.1
million and $112.7 million, respectively, were included in operating
revenues and taxes other than income taxes on the accompanying
consalidated statements of income/(loss]. Certain sales taxes are also
collected by the regulated companies from their customers as agents
for state and local governments and are recorded on a net basis with no
impact on the accompanying consolidated statements of income/[loss].

R. Other Income, Net
The pre-lax compenents of other income/(lass) items are as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

[Milligns of Dollars) 2007 2006 2005
Other Income:
investment income $22.3 $24.9 $19.1
CL&P procurement fee — 1.0 17.8
AFUDC - equity funds 17.4 13.6 12.3
Energy Independence Act incentives 9.9 5.5 -
Conservation and load
management incentives 7.7 6.5 7.7
Equity in earnings of regional
nuclear generating and
transmission companies 4.0 0.3 3.3
Gain on sale of Globix investment - 31 -
Other 1.0 08 1.4
Total Other Income $2.3 65.7 51,6
Other Loss:
nvestment write-downs (0.5) — 16.9]
Loss on investment in receivables - [1.1] -
Other 0.2) (0.2) [0.2)
Total Other Loss (0.7} (1.3 7.9
Total Other Income, Net $61.6 $b4.4 $54.5
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Equity in earnings of regional nuclear generating and transmission
companies retates to NU's investment in the Yankee Companies and
the two Hydro-Quebec transmission companies.

The CL&P procurement fee represents compensation approved by the
DPUC associated with Transitionat Standard Offer (T50] supply pro-

curement. The conservation and load management incentives relate to
incentives earned if certain energy and demand savings goals are met.

The Energy Independence Act incentives relate to incentives earned
under the Act to encourage regulated companies to consiruct
distributed generation, new large-scale generation and implement
conservation and load management initiatives to reduce FMCC charges.

%. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
For the Years Ended December 31,

[Miltions of Dollars] 2007 20056 2005
Cash paid/ireceived| during the year for:
Interest, net of amounts capitalized $261.6  $277.2  $274.7
Income taxes $4962 $ 513 $056.1)
Mon-cash investing activities:
Capital expenditures
incurred but not paid $184.4  $1052 % 970

Cash paid during ihe year for income taxes increased as a result of
the payment of approximately $400 million in federal and state income
taxes in 2007 related to the 2006 sale of the competitive generation
business.

T. Marketable Securities

SERP/Non-SERP and Prior Spent Nuclear Fuel Trusts: NU currently
maintains two trusts that hold marketabte securities. The trusts are
used to fund NU's SERP/non-SERP and WMECO's prior period spent
nuclear fuel liability. NU's marketable securities are classified as avail-
able-for-sale, as defined by SFAS No. 115, "Accounting for Certain
Investments and Debt and Equity Securities.” At December 31, 2007,
changes in the fair value of securities in the SERP/non-SERP trust
relating to unrealized losses are considered other than temporary by
nature and have been recorded as a pre-tax loss. Changes related to
unrealized gains are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income. Realized gains and losses and unrealized losses related to the
SERP and non-SERP assets are inctuded in other income, net, on the
consolidated statements of income/[loss). Realized gains, net of real-
ized and unrealized losses, associated with the WMECO spent nuclear
fuel trust are recorded as an offset to the spent nuclear fuel trust
obligation.

Globix: In 2004, NEON Communications, Inc. [INEON] and Globix
Corporation [Globix] announced a merger agreement in which Globix,
an unaffiliated publicly owned entity, would acquire NEON for shares
of Globix common stock. in connection with the merger, NU recorded
a pre-tax write-down of $0.2 million in 2005. After the merger, NU's
investrment in Globix was recorded as a marketable security, and NU
recognized unrealized losses on its investment in accumulated other
comprehensive income, Also during 2005, the value of Globix common
stock declined. and management reviewed NU's investrnent in Globix,
considering the length and severity of its decline in value, other factars
about the company, and management's intentions with respect to
halding this irvestment. Based on these factars, management recorded
an additional pre-tax impairment charge of $5.9 million in 2005 to
reflect an other-than-temporary impairment.




On April 6, 2006, NU sold its investment in Globix. This sale resulted in,
net proceeds of approximately $6.7 million and a pre-tax gain of $3.1
million in 2006.

For information regarding marketable securities, see Note 10,
“Marketable Securities,” to the consolidated financial statements.

U. Provision for Uncollectible Accounts

NU maintains a provision for uncollectible accounts to record its
receivables at an estimated net realizable value. This provision is
determined based upon a variety of factors, including applying an
estimated uncollectible account perceniage to each receivable aging
category, historical collection and write-off experience and management
assessment of eollectibility from individual customers. Management
reviews at least quarterly the collectibility of the receivabtes, and if
circumstances change, collectibility estimates are adjusted accordingly.
Receivable balances are written-off against the provision for uncollectible
accounts when these balances are deerned to be uncollectible.

in November of 2006, the DPUC issued an order allowing CL&P

and Yankee Gas to accelerate the recovery of uncollectible hardship
accounts receivable outstanding for greater than 90 days. At December 37,
2007, CL&P and Yankee Gas had uncellectible hardship accounts
receivable reserves in the amount of $24 million and $8 million,
respectively, with corresponding regulatory assets as these amounts
are probable of recovery. At December 31, 2006, these amounts totaled
$17 million and $8 million, respectively. Prior to the order, any write-offs
of these amounts were deferred for recovery at the time of write-off.
The CL&P reserve offsets amounts sold to CRC by CL&P but not sold
to the financial institution, which are classified as investments in
securitizable assets on the accompanying consotidated balance sheets.
The Yankee Gas reserve offsets receivables.

2. Restructuring and Impairment Charges

NU Enterprises recorded $0.2 million, $27.6 million and $69.2 million
of pre-tax restructuring and impairment charges for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, relating to the
decision to exit NU Enterprises. The amounts related to continuing
operations are included as restructuring and impairment charges

on the consolidated statements of income/|loss) with the remainder
included in discontinued operations. These charges are included as
part of the NU Enterprises reportable segment in Note 16, "Segment
Information,” to the consolidated financial statements. A summary of
these pre-tax charges is as follows:

Years Enced December 31,

[Miltions of Dollars} 2007 2006 2005
Wholesale Marketing:

Impairment charges $— $ — $ 9.7

Restructuring charges - 03 6.7

Subtotal - 03 16.4
Retail Marketing:

Impairment charges - — 9.2

Restructuring charges - 6.6 -

Subtotal - 6.6 9.2
Competitive Generation:

impairment charges — 0.3 1.5

Restructuring charges — 15.8 -

Subtotal - 16.1 1.5
Energy Services and Other:

Impairment charges - — 391

Restructuring charges 0.2 4.6 3.0

Subtotal 0.2 4.6 42.1
Total restructuring and

impairment charges 0.2 27.4 69.2
Restructuring and impairment charges

included in discontinued operattons - 191 33

Total restructuring and impairment
charges included in

continuing operations $0.2 $85 $36.1

Wholesale Marketing: In 2005, $9.7 million of impairment charges
were recorded related to the impairment of plant assets and goodwitl
totaling $3.2 million related to Select Energy New York, Inc. [SENY]
operations. In 2006 and 2005, $0.3 million and $6.7 million, respectively,
of restructuring charges were recorded for consulting fees, legal fees
and employee-related and other costs.

Retail Marketing: In 2005, an exclusivity agreement intangible asset
totaling $7.2 million and a customer list asset totaling $2 million retating
to the retail marketing business were written off as a result of an
impairment analysis performed. In 2006, NU Enterprises completed
the sale of the retail marketing business and recorded restructuring
charges of $6.6 million for consulting fees, legal fees and employee-
related and other costs.

Competitive Generation: In 2005, $1.5 million of impairment charges
related to plant assets were recorded as a result of an impairment
analysis performed. In 2006, $0.3 million of impairment charges were
recorded for the competilive generation business related to certain
long-lived assets that were no longer recoverable. In 2006, restructuring
charges of $15.8 million were recorded for consulting fees, legal lees,
sale-related environmental fees and employee-related and other costs.

Energy Services and Other: In 2003, $29.1 million of goodwill, $9.2
million of intangible assets and $0.8 miltion of certain fixed assets
were impaired. In 2007, 2006 and 2005, $0.2 miltion, $3.6 million and
$3 million, respectively, of restructuring charges were recorded for
cansulting fees, legal fees and employee-related and other costs. In
addition, in 2006, restructuring charges included $1 million related to
the termination of NU parent’s guarantee of SES{’'s performance under
government contracts.

NORTHEAST UTILITIES 2007 ANNUAL REPORT

55



56

The following table summarizes the liabilities related to restructuring
costs which are recorded in accounts payable and other current liabilities
on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets since the decisicn
to exit NU Enterprises in 2005:

Employee-  Professional
Related and Other

[Millions of Dallars) Costs Fees Total
Restructuring liability

as of January 1, 2005 $ -~ $ - $ -
Costs incurred 23 7.4 9.7
Cash payments and other

deductions/reversals (0.5) (3.2) 13.7)
Restructuring liability

as of Decermnber 31, 2005 1.8 4.2 6.0
Costs incurred 3.3 24.0 27.3
Cash payments and other

deductions/reversals (3.7) [25.9) [29.4]
Restructuring liability

as of December 31, 2006 1.4 23 37
Costs incurred - 02 0.2
Cash payments and other

deductions/reversals (1.4] [2.2] (3.8}
Restructuring Liability

as of December 31, 2007 $ — $ 0.3 $03

3. Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

tn 2005, NU decided to exit the NU Enterprises businesses. A summary
of the NU Enterprises businesses held for sale status as of December 31,
2007 and 20086, as well as the discontinued operations status for all
years presented including date sold, is as follows:

Held far Sale Status as of
[ecember 31, December 31, Discantinued

2007 2006 Operations Sale Date

Wholesale Marketing No No No Not Sold
Retail Marketing Sold Sold No June 2006
NGC [including certain

components of NGS]  Sold Sold Yes November 2004
Mt, Tom Sold Sold Yes November 2006
NGS No No No Not Sold
SESI Sold Sold Yes May 2006
Former Woods Electrical -

portion sold Sold Sold Yes April 2006
Ferrmer Woeds Electrical - Wound Down

remaining contracts No No No in 2007
Woods Network Sold Sold Yes November 2005
Boulos No No No Not Sold
SECI - New Hampshire

location Sold Sold Yes November 2005
SEC! - Massachusetts

location Sold Sold Yes March 2006
SECI - remaining Wound Down

contracts No No Yes tn 2007

Assets Held for Sale: At Decernber 31, 2007, management continues
to believe the remaining wholesale marketing business, NGS, and
Boulos do not meet the held for sale criteria under applicable accounting
guidance and therefore continue to be included in continuing operations.
At December 31, 2006, Select Energy had current derivative assets and
liabilities totaling $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively, related

to administrative agreements for one remaining sourcing contract

and a small number of retail gas sales contracts, which are included
in assets held for sale and liabilities of assets held for sale an the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets,
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iscontinued Operations: In 2007, the remaining contracts of SECI were
wound down, and all of SECI meets the criteria requiring discontinued
operations presentation for all years presented. NU's consolidated
statements of income/lloss) present NGC, Mt. Tom, SESI, Woads
MNetwork, and a portion of former Woods Electrical as discontinued
cperations. These businesses, atong with the New Hampshire and
Massachusetts locations of SECI, were sold in 2006 and 2005. Under
ciscontinued aoperations presentation, revenues and expenses of the
businesses classified as discontinued operations are classified in
income from discontinued operations on the consolidated statements
¢f income/[loss), and all prior years are reclassified. In the second
cuarter of 2007, the remaining contracts of former Woods Electrical
vsere cempleted. The results of these contracts were not material for
ciscontinued operations presentation. The retail marketing business is
rot presented as discontinued operations because separate financial
information for certain periods is not available for this business.

Summarized financial information for the discontinued operations is
as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31.

{Hillians of Dotlars) 2007 2006 2005
Operating revenue $1.3 $180.7 $377.9
Income before income {axes 0.4 31.3 1.7
Giains/[losses) from sale/disposition of

discontinued operations 2.1 504.3 (1
Income tax expense 1.9 198.0 6.2
Met income 0.4 337.6 4.4

In 2007, gains/(lossesi from salefdisposition of discontinued operations
of $2.1 million primarily relates to the favorable resolution of legal and
contract issues from businesses sold of $4.2 million, partially offset by
charges related to the sale of the competitive generation business,
inctuding a $1.% mitlion charge resulting frem a purchase price adjust-
ment from the sale of the competitive generation business recorded

in the first quarter of 2007. The 2006 gains/(losses} on sale/disposition
of discontinued operations of $304.3 million relates to the gain on the
sale of NGC and Mt. Tom of $511.1 million and a $1.6 million gain on the
sale of the Massachusetts location of SECH, partially offset by an $8.4
million loss on the sale of SESI. The sale of a portion of the formear Woods
tlectrical had a de minimis impact on earnings in 2006. In addition, in
2006, NU recorded a pre-tax loss on the sale of SENY of $0.3 million,
which is recorded as other operating expenses as part of continuing
operations on the consolidated statement of income/[loss]. The 2005
less on sale/disposition of discontinued operations of $1.1 million
consists of $0.8 mitlion and $0.3 million in losses on the sales of
VWoods Network and the New Hampshire location of SECI, respectively.
Included in the 2004 discontinued operations is an approximately

$11 million pre-tax loss related to legal and contract issues from
businesses sold.

Included in the 2007 incomme tax expense amaount above is a $0.8 million
charge recognized to adjust the estimated income tax accrual for actual
taxes paid on the gains related to businesses sold in 2006.

No intercompany revenues were included in discontinued operations
for the year ended December 31, 2007. Included in discontinued
operations are $141 million and $222.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006%and 2005, respectively, of intercompany revenues
that are not eliminated in consolidation due to the separate presentation
of discontinued operations. Of these amounts, $160,7 million and
$209.7 million, respectively, represent revenues on intercompany




contracts between the generation operations of NGC and Mt. Tom and
Select Energy. NGC's and Mt. Tom's revenues and earnings related

to these cantracts are included in discontinued operations while Select
Energy’s related expenses and losses are included in continuing
operations. Select Energy’s abligation to NGC and Mt. Tom ended at
the time of sale in 2006,

At December 31, 2007, NU did not have or expect to have significant
ongoing involvernent or continuing cash flows with the entities presented
in discontinued operations.

4, Short-Term Debt

Limits: The amount of short-term borrowings that may be incurred by
the operating companies is subject to pericdic approval by either the
FERC or by their respective state regulators. On December 12, 2007,
the FERC granted authorization to allow CL&P and WMECO to incur
total short-term borrowings up to a maximum of $450 mitlion and
$200 mitlion, respectively, effective as of December 31, 2007, through
December 31, 2009, By rule, the FERC has exempted all holding
company money pools from active regulation.

Between January 1, 2007 and March 30, 2007, PSNH was authorized
by the New Hampshire Public Utilities Commission [NHPUC] to incur
short-term borrowings up to $100 million. In an order dated March 30,
2007, the NHPUC authorized PSNH to incur short-term borrowings
up to a maximum of 10 percent of net fixed plant plus an additional

3 percent through December 31, 2007. In an order dated August 3.
2007, the NHPUC increased the amount of short-term borrowings

to a maximum of 10 percent of net fixed plant plus a fixed amount of
$35 million through December 31, 2008, or until PSNH has utilized its
remaining long-term debt authorization. At December 31, 2007, this
amount totaled $162.1 million. As a result of this NHPUC jurisdiction
over short-term debt, PSNH is not currently required to obtain FERC
approval for its short-term borrowings.

The charter of CL&P contains preferred stock provisions restricting the
amount of unsecured debt that CL&P may incur: In Novernber of 2003,
CL&P obtained authorization from its preferred steckholders for a ter -
year period expiring in March of 2014 to issue unsecured indebtedness
with a maturity of less than 10 years in excess of the 10 percent of total
capitalization limitation in CL&P’s charter, provided that all unsecured
indebtedness would not exceed 20 percent of total capitalization. On
March 18, 2004, the SEC approved this change in CL&P’s charter. As

of December 31, 2007, CL&P was permitted to incur $765.7 million of
additional unsecured debt under this provision.

Regulated Companies Credit Agreement: CL&P, PSNH, WMECO, and
Yankee Gas are parties to a five-year unsecured revolving credit facility
for $400 million which expires on November 4, 2010. CL&P may draw
up to $200 million under this facility, with PSNH, WMECO and Yankee
Gas able to draw up to $100 million each, subject to the $400 million
maximum borrowing limit. This total commitment may be increased to
$500 million at the request of the borrowers, subject to lender approv-
al. Under this facility, each company may borrow on a short-term basis
or on a long-term basis, subject to regulatory approval. There were
$45 miltion of long-term borrowings by Yankee Gas outstanding unde -
this facility at Decernber 31, 2007. There were $10 mitlion and $27 million
in short-term borrowings by PSNH and Yankee Gas, respectively,
outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2007. The weighted-

aveérage interest rate on these short-term borrowings at December 31,
2007 was 7.25 percent. At December 31, 2006, there were no borrowings
outstanding under this facility.

NU Parent Credit Agreement: Effective December 31, 2006, NU

reduced the total commitments under its 5-year unsecured revolving !
credit agreement from $700 millien to $500 miltion, which may be
increased at NU's request to $400 million, subject to lender approvat. |
The decrease in the total commitment amount atso resulted in a
reduction in the letter of credit [LOC) commitment amount from $550
million to $500 million. Subject to the advances outstanding, LOCs
may be issued far periods up to 384 days in the name of NU or any of
its subsidiaries, including Select Energy. This agreement expires on
November &, 2010.

Under this facility, NU ¢an borrow either on a short-term or a long-
term basis. At December 31, 2007, NU had $42 million in borrowings
outstanding under this facility. The weighted-average interest rate on
amounts outstanding under these credit agreements on December 31,
2007 was 7.25 percent. At December 31, 2004, there were no borrowings
outstanding under this facility, There were $27 million and $67.5 million
in LOCs outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Under the regulated companies’ and NU parent credit agreements,

NU and the requlated companies may borrow at variable rates plus an |
applicable margin based upon the higher of Standard and Poor’s [S&P] |
or Moody’s Investors Service [Moody's| credit ratings assigned to the

borrower.

In addition, NU and the regulated companies must comply with certain
financial and non-financial covenants, including but not limited to, a
consolidated debt to capitalization ratio. As parties to the credit agree-
ments, NU and the requlated companies currently are and expect to
remain in compliance with these covenants.

Amounts outstanding under these credit facilities, excluding the

$45 million of long-term borrowings by Yankee Gas, are classified as
current liabilities as notes payable to banks on the accompanying
cansolidated balance sheets as management anticipates that all

borrowings under these credit facilities will be outstanding for no more
than 364 days at one time. |

Other Credit Facility: On May 14, 2007, Boulos renewed its $6 million

line of credit, which now expires an June 30, 2008. This credit facility

limits Boulos’ ability to pay dividends if borrowings are outstanding and

limits access to the NU Money Pool (Pooll for additional borrowings. '
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, there were no borrowings under this

credit facility.

5. Derivative Instruments

Contracts that are derivatives and do not meet the requirements to be
treated as a cash {low hedge or normal purchase or normal sale are
recorded at fair value with changes in fair value included in earnings.
For those contracts that meet the definition of a derivative and meet
the cash flow hedge requirements, including those related to initial
and ongoing documentation, the contract is recorded at fair value and
the changes in the fair value of the effective portion of those contracts
are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive incame. Cash flow
hedges include forward interest rate swap agreements on proposed
debt issuances. When a cash flow hedge is settled, the settlement
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ameunt is recorded in accurnulated other comprehensive income and
is amoriized into earnings over the term of the debt. Cash flow hedges
impact net income when the hedge ineffectiveness is measured and
recorded, or when the forecasted transaction being hedged is no
longer probable of occurring. Derivative contracts designated as fair
value hedges and the iterns they are hedging are both recorded at fair
value with changes in fair value of both items recognized in earnings.
Derivative contracts that meet the requirements of a normal purchase
or sale, and are so designated, are recognized in revenues or expenses,
as applicable, when the quantity of the contract is delivered. The change
in fair value of a normal purchase or sale derivative contract is not
included in earnings. )

The fair value of the company’s derivative contracts may not represent
amounts that will be realized. On the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets at December 31, 2007 and 2006. these amounts are
recorded as current or long-term derivative assels or liabilities and are
summarized as follows:

At December 3t. 2007

Assets Liabilities

[Mittioas of Doltars) Coment  Long-Term Curent  Long-Term  Het Total
NU Enterprises:

Wholesale $362 $ 7.2 51649 $ 17251 $(94.0)
Regulated Companies - Gas:

Supply Q.2 - -7 - 0.2

Interest Rate Hedging 0.9 — - - 0.9
Regulated Companies - Electric:

Supply/Stranded

Costs 5%.8  290.8 (671 113601 2079

Interest Rate Hedging 3.3 - - - 33
NU Parent:

Interest Rate Hedging 5.1 —_ - - 5.1
Totals $1055 $298.0 $(71.6) $(208.5) $123.4

At December 31, 2004
Assels Liabilities .

[Millions of Dollars) Current  Long-Term Curent  Llong-Term  Net Total
NU Enterprises:

Wholesale $43.6 % 223 $(823] $(110.1) $[126.5

Retail 0.2 - [0.1] - 0.1
Regulated Companies - Gas:

Supply 0.1 - 0.2 - 0.1)
Regulated Companies - Electric:

Supply/Stranded

Costs 45.0 249.5 {43.2) (3200 2193

NU Parent:

Interest Rate Hedging — - - 16.5] (6.5)
Totals $88.9 $271.8 301258 $0148.4) $ 863

The 2006 amounts in the table above include retail marketing current
derivative assets and liabilities of $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respec-
tively, which are included in assets held for sale and liabilities of assets
held for sale on the accompanying consolidated batance sheets.

For the regulated companies, except for existing interest rate swap
agreements, ofiseiting regulatory assets or liabilities are recorded for
the changes in fair value of their contracts, as these contracts were
part of the stranded costs or are current regulated operating costs,
and management believes that these costs will continue to be recov-
ered or refunded in cost-of-service, regulated rates.
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A summary of the mark-to-market amounts for NU Enterprises’
wholesale and retail marketing [through the June 2006 sale datel

and competitive generation businesses [through the November 2006
sale date| included on the accompanying conselidated statements of
income/(lossi for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is
as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

[Milligns of Dotlars) 2007 2006 2005
Cperaling revenues $ — $ 74  $173
Fuel, purchased and net

interchange power 6.4 247 420.0
Cther operating expenses - 47.6 -
Ciscontinued operations — 1.5 [15.5)

The business activities of NU Enterprises that result in the recognition
of derivative assets result in exposures to credit risk of energy marketing
and trading counterparties. At December 31, 2007, Select Energy had
$43.4 million of derivative assets from wholesale activities that are
exposed to counterparty credit risk, a significant portion of which is
cantracted with multiple creditworthy, rated public entities.

NU Enterprises - Wholesale: Certain electric derivative contracts are
part of the remaining wholesale marketing business. These contracts
include wholesale short-term and long-term electricity supply and
sales contracts, which include a contract to sell electricity to a utility
under full requirements contracts that expires on May 31, 2008 {four
other similar contracts expired on May 31, 2007), and a contract to
sall electricity to the New York Municipal Power Agency [NYMPA) (an
ajency that is comprised of municipalities) that expires in 2013. The
fair value of the contracts was determined using prices from external
sources through 2011 and for on-peak in 2012 and generally using
models based on naturat gas prices and a heat-rate conversicn factor
to electricity for off-peak in 2012 and subsequent periods.

Te decision to exit the wholesale marketing business changed
management’s canclusion regarding the likelihood that these whole-
sale marketing contracts would result in physical delivery to custom-
ers and resulted in a change in the first quarter of 2005 from accruat
accounting to mark-te-market accounting for the wholesale marketing
contracts. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,

NU recorded pre-tax charges of $7.4 million, $11.7 million and $425.4
miltion in fuel, purchased and net interchange power related to these
contracts. These charges are comprised of the following items:

» Charges of $7.4 million, $10.9 million and $419 million for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2004 and 2005, respectively, associated
with the mark-to-market on, and changes in, the fair vatue of certain
long-dated wholesale electricity contracts in New England, New York
and PJM and contracts to purchase generation products in New York.

* A charge of $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006
related to the fair value of certain asset-specific sales and forward
sales of electricity at hub points for generation contracts. These
contracts expired on December 31, 2006.

+ A benefit of $30 million for the vear ended December 31, 2005 asso-
ciated with contracts previously designated as wholesale that were
redesignated to support the retail marketing business.

« A charge of $36.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005
for contract asset write-offs and a contract termination payment in
March of 2005,




Included in the mark-to-market on tong-term wholesaie electricity
contracts is a $12.5 million pre-tax mark-to-market charge for the
year ended December 31, 2005 related to an intercompany contract
between Select Energy and CL&P. This contract was included in the
portfolio of contracts Select Energy assigned to a third-party whole-
sale power marketer, and Select Energy stopped serving CL&P on
Decernber 31, 2005. This contract was part of CL&P's stranded costs,
and benefits received by CL&P under this contract were provided to
CL&P's ratepayers in the form of lower-than-market standard offer
service rates.

A $2.8 million pre-tax mark-to-market charge in 2005 was recorded
as fuel, purchased and net interchange power by Select Energy for th.2
intercompany contract between Setect Energy and WMECO for defaul”
service from April to June of 2005. WMECQ's benefits under this con-
tract were provided to its ratepayers in the form of lower-than-market
default service rates. These charges were not eliminated in consolida-
tion because on a consolidated basis NU retained the over-market
obligation to the ratepayers of CL&P and WMECO.

In addition to the charges described above, NU recorded a benefit of
%1 miltion to fuet, purchased and net interchange power related to
wholesale marketing contracts for the year ended December 31, 200%
and $4.5 million and $8.5 million of charges related to wholesale and
retail marketing contracts, respectively, for the year ended December 31,
2004. Similar amounts for 2005 are a charge of $43.7 million and a
benefit of $12.7 million for wholesale and retail marketing contracts,
respectively.

Regulated Campanies - Gas - Supply: Yankee Gas's supply deriva-
tives consist of peaking supply arrangements to serve winter load
obligations and firm retail sales contracts with options to curtail
delivery. These contracts are subject to fair value accounting as these
contracts are derivatives that cannot be designated as normal pur-
chases and sales because of the optionality in the contract terms. An
offsetting regulatory liability and an offsetting regulatory asset were
recorded for these amounts as management believes that these costs
will be refunded/recovered in rates.

Regulated Companies - Gas - Interest Rate Hedging: In December
of 2007, Yankee Gas entered into a forward interest rate swap agree-
ment to hedge the interest cash outflows associated with its propose3
$100 million September of 2008 debt issuance. The interest rate swaz
is based on a 10-year LIBOR swap rate and matches the index used
for the debt issuance. As a cash flow hedge, at December 31, 2007, the
fair value of the hedge is recorded as a $0.9 million derivative asset cn
the consolidated batance sheet with an offsetting armount included in
accumulated other comprehensive income.

Regulated Companies - Electric - Supply/Stranded Costs: CL&P
has contracts with iwo independent power praducers [IPP) to purchase
power that contain pricing provisions that are not clearly and closely
related to the price of power and therefore do not qualify for the normal
purchases and sales exception. The fair values of these derivatives

at December 31, 2007 included a derivative asset with a fair value of
$311.2 million and a derivative liability with a fair value of $31.8 millior.
An offsetting regulatory liability and an offsetting requlatory asset
were recorded, as these contracts are part of stranded costs, and
management believes that these costs will continue te be recovered
or refunded in cost-of-service, regulated rates. At December 31, 20045,

the fair values of these derivatives included a derivative asset with a
fair value of $289.6 miltion and a derivative liability with a fair value of
$35.6 million.

CL&P has entered into Financial Transmission Rights centracts and
bilateral basis swaps to limit the congesticn costs associated with its
standard offer contracts. An offsetting requlatory asset or liability has
been recorded as management believes that these costs will be recov-
ered or refunded in rates. At December 31, 2007, the fair value of these
contracts was recorded as a derivative asset of $1.4 millien and a
derivative liability of $1.3 mitlion on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. At Decernber 31, 2006, the fair value of those contracls
was recorded as a derivative asset of $4.9 miltion and a derivative lia-
bility of $0.4 mitlion on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Pursuant to Public Act 05-0%, "An Act Concerning Energy Independence,”
in August of 2007 the DPUC approved two CL&P contracts associated
with the capacity of two generating projecis te be built er modified.
The DPUC also approved two capacity-related contracts entered

into by The United Illuminating Company (U}, one with a generating
project to be built and one with a new demand response project. The
total capacity of these four projects is expected to be approximately
787 megawatts IMW). The contracts, referred to as CiDs, abligate

the utilities” customers to pay the difference between a set capacity
price and the value that the projects receive in the 1ISO-NE capacity
markets for periods of up to 15 years beginning in 2009. CL&P has an
agreement with Ul under which it will share the costs and benefits of
these four CfDs, with 80 percent to CL&P and 20 percent to Ul. The
ultimate cost to CL&P under the contracts will depend on the capacity
prices that the projects receive in the ISO-NE capacity markets. Due
to the significance of the non-observable capacity prices associated
with modeting the fair values of these derivative contracts, their
initial negative fair values at inception of approximately $100 million
have not been reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial
staternents. At December 31, 2007, the changes in fair value of these
CiDs since inception are recorded as a $107.1 million derivative
liability on the cansolidated balance sheet. A derivative asset of $20.8
million has been recarded to reflect Ul's 20 percent share of these
amounts and the change in fair value of one of the CfD contracts. An
offsetting regulatary asset and liability for the remaining 80 percent
of the changes in fair value of the contracts since inception has been
recorded as management believes these amounts will be recovered
or refunded in cost-of-service, regulated rates. On October 5, 2007,
NRG Energy. Inc. [NRG) fited in New Britain Superior Court an appeal
of the DPUC’s decision selecting the CfDs. This appeal was taken into
consideration in valuing the CIDs and had the effect of reducing the net
negative derivative values by approximately $215 million at December 31,
2007. On February 13, 2008, the New Britain Superior Court judge
denied NRG's appeal. The effect of this denial will be reflected as an
increase in negative derivative values in the first quarter of 2008.

PSNH has electricity procurement contracts that are derivatives. The
fair value of these contracts is calculated based on market prices and
is recorded as derivative assets of $1.5 million and derivative liabilities
of $2.5 million at December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2004, the fair
value was recorded as a derivative liabitity of $28.4 million. An offset-
ting regulatory liability/asset was recorded as management believes
that these costs will be refunded/recovered in rates as the energy is
delivered.
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In 2007, PSNH entered into a contract tu assign transmission rights

to a Hydro-Quebec direct current line in exchange for two energy call
options which expire in 2010. These energy cail options are derivatives
that do not qualify for the normal purchases and sales exception and
are accounted for at fair value based on market prices. At December 31,
2007, the options were recorded as a short-term derivative asset of
$3.6 million and a long-term derivative asset of $12.1 million. An
offsetting requlatory liability was recorded, as the benefit of this
arrangement will be refunded to customers in rates.

At Becember 31, 2006, PSNH had a contract to purchase oil that was
a derivative, the fair value of which was recorded as a derivative
liability of $10.8 million. An offsetting regulatory asset was recorded
as management believes that this cost will be recovered in rates
through a deferral mechanism that tracks generation revenues and
costs. This contract expired in 2007.

Reguiated Companies - Electric - Interest Rate Hedging: In
December of 2007, CL&P entered into two forward interest rate swap
agreements to hedge the interest cash outflows associated with two
proposed debt issuances of $150 million each in Novernber of 2008.
Also, in December of 2007, PSNH entered into a forward interest rate
swap agreement to hedge the interest cash outflows asscciated with its
proposed $110 million March of 2008 debt issuance. The interest rate
swaps are based on a 10-year LIBOR swap rate and match the index
used for the debt issuances. As cash flow hedges, at December 31, 2007,
the fair value of these hedges was recorded as a $3.3 million derivative
asset on the consolidated balance sheet with an offsetting amount, net
of tax, included in accumulated ather comprehensive income.

NU Parent - Interest Rate Hedging: In March of 2003, to manage

the interest rate characteristics of the company’s long-term debt,

NU parent entered into a fixed to floating interest rate swap on its
$263 million, 7.25 percent fixed rate note that matures on Aprit 1,
2012. Under fair value hedge accounting, the changes in fair value of
the swap and the interest component of the hedged long-term debt
instrument are recorded in interest expense, which generally offset
each other in the consolidated staterment of income/(loss]. The cumu-
lative change in the fair value of the swap and the long-term debt is
recorded as a derivative asset and an increase to long-term debt of
$4.2 million at Decernber 31, 2007. At December 31, 2006, this amount
was recorded as a derivative liability and a decrease to long-term debt
of $6.5 million.

In December of 2007, NU parent entered into a forward interest rate
swap agreement to hedge the interest cash outflows associated with
its proposed debt issuance of $200 million in June of 2008. The interest
rate swap is based on a 5-year LIBOR swap rate and matches the index
used for the debi issuance. As a cash flow hedge at December 31, 2007,
the fair value of the hedge is recorded as a $0.9 million derivative asset
on the consolidated balance sheet with an offsetting amount included
in accumulated other comprehensive income.
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4. Employee Benefits

A. Pension Benefits and Postretirement Benefits

Other Than Pensions

On December 31, 2006, NU implemented SFAS No. 158, which applies to
NU's Pensien Plan, SERP, and PBOP Plan and required NU to record the
funded status of these plans based on the projected benefit obligation
(FBQ] for the Pension Plan and accumulated postretirement benefit
ohligation [APBOI for the PBOP Plan on the consolidated balance sheets
at Decemnber 31, 2007 and 2006, SFAS No. 158 requires the additionat
liability to be recorded with an offset to accumulated other comprehensive
income in shareholders’ equity. This amount is remeasured annually,

or as circumstances dictate. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, NU
recorded an after-tax benefit/(charge) totaling $8.6 millicn and $[4.4]
million, respectively, to accurmnulated other comprehensive income for its
unregulated subsidiaries, However, because the requlated companies
are cost-of-service, rate regutated entities under SFAS No. 71, regula-
tory assets were recorded in the amount of $201.4 million and $407.4
million, respectively, as these benefits expense amounts have been

and continue to be recoverable in cost-of-service, regulated rates.
Regulatory accounting was also applied to the portions of the NUSCO
costs that support the regulated companies, as these amounts are

atso recoverable.

Pznsion Benefits: NU's subsidiaries participate in a uniform non-
centributory defined benefit retirement plan [Pension Plan) covering
substantially all regular NUJ employees. Benefits are based on years
of service and the employees’ highest eligible compensation during
40 consecutive months of employment. NU uses a December 21st
measurement date for the Pension Plan. Pension expense affecting
ezrnings is as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
$17.1 $50.2 $54.2

(Millions of Deltars)

Total pension expense
tnzome/lexpense] capitalized

as utility plant 1.0 [11.5) (11.5]
Total pension expense, net of
amounts capitalized $18.1 $38.7 $42.7

Total pensicn expense above includes pension curtaiiments and
te-mination [benefits)/expense of $10.3] miltion, $(2.5) million and
$11.7 million in 2067, 2006 and 20059, respectively.

Pensian Curtailments and Termination Benefits: In December of
2005, a new program was approved allowing then current employees to
elect to receive retirement benefits under a new 401(k) benefit rather
than under the Pensicn Plan. The approval of the new plan resulted in
rezording an estimated pre-capitalization, pre-tax curtailment expense
of $6.2 million in 2005, as a certain number of employees were expected
to elect the new 401(k) benefit, resulting in a reduction in aggregate
estimated future years of service under the Pension Plan. Because

the predicted level of elections of the new benefit did not occur, NU
recorded a pre-capitalization, pre-tax reduction in the curtailment
exoense of $3.6 million in 2006.

As a result of its corporate reorganization in 2005, NU recorded a
combined pre-capitalization, pre-tax curtailment expense and related
termination benefits for the Pension Plan totating $5.5 million. Based
on a revised estimate of expected head count reductions in 2006, NU
recorded an adjustment to the curtaitment and related termination




benefits. This adjustment resulted in a pre-capitalization, pre-tax
reduction in the curtailment expense of $1.2 million and an increase in
termination benefits expense of $2.3 million totaling a net $1.1 million
in additional pension expense. NU recorded an additional pre-capital-
ization, pre-tax reduction in termination berefit expense of $0.3 millicn
in 2007.

Pension Plan COLA: On May 4, 2007, NU's Board of Trustees approved
a cost of living adjustment (COLA] that incressed retiree pension
benefits for certain participants in the Pension Plan. The COLA was
announced on May 8, 2007 at the annual meeting of NU's shareholders,
which resulted in a plan amendment in 2007 and a remeasurement of
the Pension Plan’s benefit obligation as of May 8, 2007.

The COLA increased the Pension Plan's benefit obligation by $40 millicn
and was reflected as a prior service cost and as & decrease in the
funded status of the Pension Plan. This amount will be amortized over
a 12-yesr period representing average remaining service lives of
employees.

Market-Related Value of Pension Plan Assets: NU bases the
actuarial determination of pension plan expense or income on a mar-
ket-related valuation of assets, which reduces year-to-year velatility.
This market-related valuation calculation recognizes investment gains
or losses over a four-year period from the year in which they occur.
Investment gains or losses for this purpose are the difference between
the expected return calculated using the market-related value of assets
and the actual return based an the fair value of assets and are included
in actuarial gains and losses. Since the market-related valuation
calculation recognizes gains or losses over a four-year period, the future
value of the market-related assets will be impacted as previously
deferred gains or losses are recognized.

SERP: NU has maintained a SERP since 1987. The SERP provides its
eligible participants who are officers of NU with benefits that would
have been provided to them under NU's retirement plan if certain
Internal Revenue Code and cther limitaticns were not imposed.

For information regarding SERP investments that are used to fund
the SERP liability, see Note 10, "Marketable Securities,” to the
consolidated financial statements.

PBOP: NU's subsidiaries provide certain health care benefits, primarily
medical and dental, and life insurance benefits through a PBOP Plan.
These benefits are available for employees retiring from NU who have
met specified service requirements. For current empioyees and certain
retirees, the total benefit is limited to two times the 1993 per retiree
healih care cost. These costs are charged to expense over the estimated
waork life of the employee. NU uses a December 315t measurement
date for the PBOP Plan.

NU annually funds postretirement costs through external trusts with
amounts that have been and will continue to be recovered in rates
and that are tax deductible. Currently, there are ne pending regulatory
actions regarding postretirement benefit costs.

PBOP Curtailments and Termination Benefits: NU recarded an esti-
mated $3.7 million pre-tax curtailment expense at December 31, 2005
relating to its corporate reorganization. NU also accrued a $0.5 million
pre-tax termination benefit at December 31, 2005 relating to certain
benefits pravided under the terms of the PBOP Plan. Based on refine-
ments to its estimates, NU recorded an adjustment to the curtailment
and related termination benefits in 2006, This adjustment resulted in a
pre-capitalization, pre-tax reduction in the curtailment expense of $2.2
million and an increase to termination benefits of $0.3 million in 2006.

The following table represents information on the plans’ benefit obligations, fair values of plan assets, and funded status:

At December 31,

Pension Benefits SERP Benéefits Postretirement Benefits
[Milligns of Dollars) 2007 2004 2007 2006 2007 2006
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $(2,304.4) $(2,286.2) $(34.0] $(35.1] $(469.9] $(493.8)
Service cost {#7.0) (49.4] (0.8} (1.1] (7.4) (8.3
Interest cost (136.4) (129.7] (1.91 (1.9] (25.7) (27.3)
Actuarial gain/[loss] 178.4 °8.3 2.6 2.3 3.3 23.4
Prior service cost [40.0) — - — - -
Federal subsidy an benefits paid - - — - (3.8) (3.2
Benefits paid - excluding lump sum payments 122.2 1161 2.0 2.0 439 39.9
Benefits paid - lump sum payments 0.2 - - - — -
Curtailment/impact of plan changes - (41.4) — — - (.3
Termination benefits 0.3 (2.3] - — - [0.3)
Benefit obligation at end of year $(2,256.9] $(2,334.4] $(32.1) $(34.0) $1459.6) $(469.9]
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 2,366.2 $21224 N/A N/A $ 266.6 $ 2229
Actual return on plan assets 2154 349.7 N/A " N/A 14.4 33.0
Employer contribution - - N/A N/A 41.0 50.6
Benefits paid - excluding lump sum payments (122.2) (114.1) N/A N/A (43.9] {39.9)
Benefits paid - lump sum payrments (0.2) - N/A N/A - -
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $2,459.4 $ 2.356.2 N/A N/A $ 2781 $266.6
Funded status at Decernber 31st $ 2025 $ 216 $(32.1) $(34.0] $(181.5) $(203.3]
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The amounts recognized on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets for the funded status above at December 31, 2007 and 2004 is as follows:

At December 31,
Pensior Benefits SERP Benefits Postretirement Benefits
[Millions of Dollzrs] 2007 2006 2007 2004 2007 2006
Prepaid pension $202.5 $21.6 $ — $ — $ - $ -
Other current liabilities — - [2.4) (2.0) - -
Other deferred credits and other liabitities - - (29.7] (32.0 — -
Accrued postretirement benefits — — — - (181.5) (203.3)

In 2005, as a result of the expected transition of employees into the
new 401(k) benefit and the company’s corporate reorganization, NU
reduced the Pension Plan’s obligation via a curtailment benefit related
to the reduction in the future years of service expected to be rendered
by plan participants. This overalt reduction in plan abligation served

to reduce the previously unrecognized actuarial losses, In 2005,
$41.4 million of this curtailment was reversed because actual levels
of elections of the new 4011k} benefit were much lower than expected
and is reflected above as an increase to the obligation. ’

For the Pension Plan, the company amortizes its transition obligation
over the remaining service lives of its employees as calculated on an
individual subsidiary basis and amortizes the prior service cost and

unrecognized net actuarial loss over the remaining service tives of its

ernployees as calculated on an NU consolidated basis. For the PBOP
Plan, the company amaortizes its transition abligation, prior service
cost, and unrecognized net actuarial loss over the remaining service
lives of its employees as calculated on an individual operating
company basis,

Although the SERP does not have any plan assets, NU supports
the SERP with earnings on marketable securities. See Note 10,

"Marketable Securities,” for further information regarding these
investments.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Pension Plan was $2 billion
and $2.1 billion at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and
$30.2 million and $31.4 million fer the SERP at December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

The following is a surnmary of amounts recorded as regulatory assets as a result of SFAS No. 158 at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the

changes in those amounts recorded during the years Imiltions of dotlars}:

At December 31.

Persion SERP PBOP

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Transition obligation at beginning of year $ 0.7 $ — $ — $ — $ 47.9 -
Amounts recorded upon adoption of SFAS No. 158 - 0.7 - — - &7.9
Amounts reclassified as net periodic benefit expense ta.2) — - — {11.3) —
Transition obligation at end of year $ 05 $ 07 $ - $ - % 56.6 $ 679
Prior service cost at beginning of year $ 38.1 $ - $0.4 $ - $ (3.9 $ -
Amounts reclassified as net periodic benefit [expensel/income (8.6) - {0.1) - 0.3 -
Prior service cost arising during the year [1] 37.7 Kl B - 0.6 - {39
Prior service cost at end of year $ 67.2 $ 381 $05 $0.6 $ 13.8] $ 1399
Net actuarial losses at beginning of year $184.7 $ — $5.0 $ — $114.3 $ -
Amaounts reclassified as net periodic benefit expense (19.9] - (0.6) - (12.00 -
Actuariai (gains)/losses arising during the year (1) (189.0] 184.7 (2.6] 5.0 0.3 114.3
Actuarial [gains)/losses at end of year $(24.2) $184.7 $1.8 $5.0 $102.6 $114.3
Total deferred benefit costs as regulatory assets $ 435 $223.5 $23 $5.6 $155.6 $178.3

1) Amounts arising for prior service cost and actuarial (gainslfiosses in 2006 relate to the nitial adoption of SFAS No. 158.
Estimated Expense in 2008

The estimates of the above amounts that are expected to be Pension SERP PBOP
recognized as portions of net periodic benefit expense in 2008 are Tri_ansitionpbligation $02 $ — $11.3
as follows [millions of dollars): Prior service cost 76 0.1 (0.3)
' Net actuarial loss 6.3 0.2 10.2

Total $16.1 $0.3 $21.2
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The following is a summary of amounts recorded in accumulated other camprehensive income, as a resutt of SFAS No. 158 at December 31, 2007
and 2006 and the changes in those amounts recorded during 2007 to other comprehensive income [millions of dollars):

At December 31.
Pension SERP PBOP
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Transition obligation at beginning of year $ - $ — $— $ - $1.5 $ -
Amounts recorded upon adoption of SFAS No. 158 - — - - - 1.5
Amounts reclassified as net periodic benefit expense - - - - [0.31 -
Transition obligation at end of year 5 - & — $— $ — $1.2 $1.5
Prior service cost at beginning of year $ 06 % — $— $— $— $ -
Amounts reclassified as net periedic benefit expense (0.2) - - - - -
Prior service cost arising during the year (1] 2.3 0.6 - - - -
Prior service cost at end of year $ 2.7 $0.6 $— $— $— $ —
Net actuarial losses at beginning of year $ 2% $ — $0.3 $ - $5.5 $—
Amounts reclassified as net periodic benefit expense (0.2] - — - (0.3) —
Actuarial {gains)/losses arising during the year (1) 115.8] 2.6 (0.1} 0.3 0.3 55
Actuarial [gains)/losses at end of year $117.4} $2.6 $0.2 $0.3 $5.5 $5.5
Totat Pension, SERP and PBOP in accumulated other

comprehensive income $(14.7) $3.2 $0.2 $0.3 $6.7 $7.0

{11 Amounts arising for prior service cost and actuarial [gains)ftosses in 2006 relzte to the initial adoption of SFAS No. 158.

The estimates of the above amounts that are expected to be recognizec
as portions of net periodic benefit expense in 2008 are as follows
[miltions of dollars]:

The following actuarial assumptions were used in calculating the plans’

year end funded status:

At December 31,
Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits and SERP

Estimated Expense in 2008 heet 2007 9 2007 2006
Pension  SERP  PBOp  ooance sheets 00
— — Discount rate 6.60% 5.90% §.35% 5.80%
Transition obligation $ - $— $0.3 Compensation/
Prior service cost 0.3 - . progression rate £.00% 4.00% N/A N/A
Net actuarial [gain)/loss (0.9) - 0.2 Health care cost trend rate  N/A N/A 8.50% 9.00%
Total $(0.6) $— $0.5
For further information, see Note 14, "Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Incoame/{Loss),” to the consolidated financial statements.
The components of net periodic benefit expense are as follows:
Far the Years Ended December 31,
Pension Benefits SERP Benefits Postretirement Benefits

{Miltions of Dollars] 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Service cost $ 47.0 $ 494 $ 48.7 $0.8 $1.1 $1.0 & 7.4 $ 83 $ 8.0
Interest cost - 136.4 129.7 125.6 1.9 1.9 1.9 25.7 27.3 25.2
Expected return on plan assets {195.2] (174.01 (172.0] - - - (18.2) [14.0 (12.3]
Net transition obligation cost/[asset) 0.2 (0.1] {0.3 - — - 11.6 1.6 11.8
Prior service cost 8.9 6.6 7.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 (0.3 0.3 (0.4)
Actuarial loss 201 411 33.4 0.7 0.9 0.6 12.2 17.8 17.5
Net periodic expense - before

curtailments and termination

(benefitsl/expense 17.4 52.7 425 3.6 4.1 3.7 38.4 50.7 498
Curtailment lbenefitsl/expense - (4.8] 8.9 - — - - (2.2) 3.7
Termination [benefitsl/expense 0.31 23 2.8 - - - — 0.3 0.5
Total curtailments and

termination (benefits)/expense 0.3 [2.5) 1.7 - - — - (1.9] 4.2
Total - net periodic expense $ 171 $ 50.2 $ 54.2 $3.6 $4.1 $3.7 $38.4 $48.8 $54.0
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The following assumptions were used to calcutate pension and postretirement benefit expense and income amounts:

for the Years Ended December 31.

Pension Bengits and SERP Postretirement Benafits

Statements of Income 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Discount rate 5.95% 1) 5.80% 6.00% 5.80% 5.65% 5.50%
Expected long-term rate of return 8.75% 8.75% 8.75% N/A N/A N/A
Compensation/progression rate 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% - N/A N/A N/A
Expected long-term rate of return -

Health assets, net of tax N/A N/A N/A 6.85% 6.85% 6.85%

Life assets and non-taxable health assets N/A N/A N/A 8.75% 8.75% 8.75%
(+] The 2007 discount rale for the SERP was 5.9 percent.
The following table represents the PBOP assumed health care cost E One Percentage  One Percentage
trend rate for the next year and the assumed ultimate trend rate: [illiens of Daltars) Point lncrease  Point Uecrease

- Eifect on total service and
Foli R
Yealzgn?imng Becegggéﬂ. interest cost components $1.0 $ (0.8
Effect on postretirement

Health care cost trend rate benefit obligation $13.0 $[11.4)

assumed for next year 8.50% 9.00%
Rate to which health care

cost trend rate is assumed

to decline [the ultimate trend rate) 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2015 201

At December 31, 2007, the health care cost trend assumption was
reset for 2008 at 8.5 percent, decreasing one half percentage point per
year to an ultimate rate of § percent in 2015.

Assumed health care cost irend rates have a significant effect on the
amounts reported for the health care plans. The effect of changing the
assumed health care cost trend rate by one percentage point in each
year would have the following eifects:

NU's investment strategy for its Pension Plan and PBOP Plan is to
maximize the long-term rate of return on those plans’ assets within
an acceptable level of risk. The investment strategy establishes target
altocations, which are routinely reviewed and periodically rebatanced.
NU’s expected long-term rates of return on Pension Plan assets and
P30F Plan assets are based on these target asset allocation assump-
tinns and related expected long-term rates of return. n developing its
expected long-term rate of return assumptians for the Pension Plan
and the PBOP Plan, NU also evaluated input from actuaries and
consultants, as well as long-term inflation assumptions and NU's
historical 25-year compounded return of approximately 11.8 percent.
The Pension Plan's and PBOP Plan's target asset atlocation assump-
tions and expected long-term rate of return assumptions by asset

category are as follows:

At December 31,
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2007 2006 2007 and 2006
Target Assumed Target Assumed Target Assumed
Asset Rate Asset Rate Asset Rate
Allocation of Return Allocation of Return Atlocation of Return
Equity Securities:
United States 40% 9.25% 45% 9.25% 55% 9.25%
Non-United States 17% 9.25% 14% 9.25% 1% 9.25%
Emerging markets 5% 10.25% 3% 10.25% 2% 10.25%
Private 8% 14.25% B% 14.25% - —
Bebt Securities: - )
Fixed income 25% 5.50% 20% 5.50% 27% 5.50%
High yield fixed income - - 5% 7.50% 5% 7.50%
Real Estate 5% 7.50% 9% 7.50% — —
At December 31,
The actual asset allocations at December 31, 2007 and 2006 Pensian Benefils Postretirement Benetits
approximated these target asset allocations. The plans’ actual 2007 2006 2007 2004
weighted-average asset allocations by asset category are as follows: Equity Securities:
United States 40% £6% 55% 54%
Nen-United States 17% 16% 14% 14%
Emerging markets 5% 4% 1% 1%
Private 7% 5% —_ —
Debt Securities:
Fixed income 26% 19% 29% 2%%
High yietd fixed income — 5% 1% 2%
Real Estate 5% 5% — -
Tctals 100% 100% 100% 100%
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments: The following benefit payments
which reftect expected future service, are expected to be paid/received]
for the Pension, SERP and PBOP Plans:

[Millions of Dollars]

Pension SERP Postretiement Government
Year Benefits Benefils Benefits Benefits
2008 $124.1 $24 $ 44,2 $ [3.7]
2009 128.9 2.3 44.7 [4.0]
2010 132.4 25 451 (4.3]
2011 136.0 2.6 451 t4.71
2012 140.8 27 45.0 (5.1
2013-2017 805.1 15.3 2241 (30.4]

The government benefits represent amounts expected to be received
from the federal government for the new Medicare prescription drug
benefit under the PBOP Plan related to the corresponding year's
benefit payments.

Contributions: Currently, NU's policy is to annually fund the Pension
Plan in an amount at least equal to that which will satisfy the require-
ments of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act and Internal
Revenue Code. NU does not expect to make any contributions to the
Pension Plan in 2008. For the PBOP Plan, it is currently NU's policy
to annually fund an amount equal to the PBOP Plan’s postretirement
benefit cost, excluding curtailment and termination benefits, NU
contributed $38 million for the year ended Decermber 31, 2007 to fund
the PBOP Plan and expects to make $36.2 million in contributions to
the PBOP Plan in 2008. Beginning in 2007, NU made an additional
contribution to the PBOP Plan for the amounts received from the
federal Medicare subsidy. This amount was $3 million in 2007 and is
estimated to be $4 miliion in 2008.

B. Defined Contributicn Plans

NU maintains a 401[k) Savings Plan for substantially all NU employees.
This savings plan provides for employee contributions up to specified
limits. NU matches employee contributions up to a maximum of three
percent of eligible compensation with one percent in cash and two
percent in NU common shares. The 401(k] matching contributions of
eash and NU cormmon shares made by NU were $10.7 million in 2007,
$11 million in 2006 and $10.7 million in 2005.

Effective on January 1, 2004, all newly hired, non-bargaining unit
employees, and effective on January 1, 2007 or as subject to collective

bargaining agreements, certain newly hired bargaining unit employees

participate in a new defined contribution savings plan called the K-
Vantage benefit. These employees are not eligible to participate in the
existing defined benefit Pension Plan. In addition, participants in the
Pension Plan at January 1, 2006 were given the opportunity to choose
to become a participant in the K-Vantage benefit beginning in 2007, in
which case their benefit under the Pension Plan would be frozen. NU
makes contributions to the K-Vantage benefit based on a percentage
of participants’ eligible compensation, as defined by the benefit
document. The contributions made by NU were $1.0 million and
$0.1 millien in 2007 and 20084, respectively.

C. Employee Stock Ownership Plan

NU maintains an Employee Stock Ownership Plan [ESOP] for purposes
of allocating shares to employees participating in NU's 401[k] Savings
Plan. Under this arrangernent, NU issued unsecured notes during

1991 and 1992 totaling $250 miltion, the proceeds of which were loaned
to the ESOP trust [ESOP Notes) for the purchase of 10.8 million newly
issued NU common shares {ESOP shares]. The ESOP trust is obligated
to make principal and interest payments to NU on the ESOP Notes

at the same rate that ESOP shares are allocated to employees. NU
makes annual contributions to the ESOP trust equal to the ESOP's
debt service, less dividends received by the ESOP. NU's contributions
to the ESOP trust totaled $4.2 million in 2007, $8.2 million in 20056 and
$11.2 millien in 2005. Interest expense on the unsecured notes was
$3.2 million and $3.3 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively. For the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, NU recognized $6.9
million, $7.4 miltion and $7.7 million, respectively, of expense related
to the ESOP, excluding the interest expense on the unsecured notes.
The $75 million Series B note was fully repaid in March of 2005. The
$175 million Series A note was fully repaid in December of 2004. As a
result, no further interest expense is being incurred for the ESOP.

All dividends received by the ESOP on unallocated shares were used to
pay debt service through December 31, 2006. Dividends on the ESOP
unallocated shares are not considered dividends for financial reperting
purposes. During the first and secand quarters of 2006, NU paid a
$0.175 per share quarterly dividend. During the third quarter of 2006
through the second quarter of 2007, NU paid a $0.1875 per share
quarterly dividend. NU paid a $0.20 per share dividend during the third
and fourth quarters of 2007.

In 2007 and 2006, the ESOP trust issued 363,470 and 523,452 of NU
comman shares, respectively, to satisfy 401(k} Savings Plan obligations
to employees. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, total allocated ESOP
shares were 7,660,806 and 9,297,335, respectively, and total unallocated
ESOP shares were 1,139,379 and 1,502,849, respectively. The fair market
value of the unatlocated ESOP shares at December 31, 2007 and 2006
was $35.7 million and $42.3 million, respectively.

D. Share-Based Payments

NU maintains an Employee Share Purchase Plan {ESPP] and other
long-term equity-based incentive plans under the Northeast Ulilities
Incentive Plan (Incentive Planl. In the first quarter of 2006, NU adopted
SFAS No. 123(R], "Share-Based Payments,” under the modified pro-
spective method. Adoption of SFAS No. 123[R] had an immaterial effect
on NU's financial statements and no effect on NU's income/ltoss| per
share. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, a tax benefit
in excess of compensation cost totaling $3.2 million and $1.1 million,
respectively, increased cash flows from financing activities.

SFAS No. 123(R] requires that share-based payments be recorded
using the fair value-based method based on the fair value at the date
of grant and applies to share-hased cornpensation awards granted on
or after January 1, 2006 or to awards for which the requisite service
period has not been completed. For prior periods, as permitted by
SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and related
guidance, NU used the intrinsic value method and disclosed the pro
forma effects as if NU recorded equity-based compensation under the
fair value-based method.
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Under SFAS No. 123[R], NU accounts for its various share-based plans
as follows:

» For grants of restricted shares and restricted share units [RSUs),
NU records compensation expense over the vesting period based
upon the fair value of NU's common shares at the date of grant but
records this expense net of estimated forfeitures.

» Dividend equivalents on RSUs are charged to retained earrings,
net of estimated forfeitures,

* NU has not granted any stock options since 2002, and no compensa-
tion expense has been recorded. All options were fully vested prior
to January 1, 2006.

» For shares sold under the ESPP, an immaterial amount of com-
pensation expense was recorded in the first quarter of 2006, and no
compensation expense will be recorded in future periods as a result
of a plan amendment that was effective on February 1, 2006.

Incentive Plan: Under the Incentive Plan, NU is authorized to grant
up to 4.5 million new shares for various types of awards, including
rastricted shares, RSUs, performance units and stock options to
eligible employees and board members, At December 31, 2007 and
2006, NU had 3,055,083 and 570,494 of common shares, respectively,
available for issuance under the Incentive Plan.

Restricted Shares and RSUs: NU has granted restricted shares under
the 2002 through 2004 incentive programs that are subject to three-
yzar and four-year graded vesting schedules. NU has granted RSUs
under the 2004 through 2007 incentive programs that are subject to
three-year and four-year graded vesting schedules. RSUs are paid in
shares, including amounts sufficient to satisfy withholdings, subse-
quent to vesting. A summary of restricted share and RSU transactions
for the year ended December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Weighted

Weighted Total Remaining Average

Average Grant - Date Compensation Remainirg

Restricted Grant ~ Date Fair Vatve Cost Period

Restricted Shares Shares Fair Value [Millions) [Millions) [Years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2004 65,674 $15.00
Granted - -

Vested (59.424) $14.14 $0.8
Outstanding at December 31, 2007 6,250 $18.45 $0.1 $— 0.2

The per share and total weighted average grant date fair value for restricted shares vested was $14.52 and $1.1 million, respectively, for the year
ended December 31, 2006 and $14.60 and $1.4 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2005.

The total compensation cost recognized for restricted shares was $58 thousand, net of taxes of approximately $39 thousand for the year ended
December 31, 2007, $0.6 miltion, net of taxes of approximately $0.4 miltion for the year ended December 31, 2006, and $0.7 million, net of taxes of

approximately $0.4 millian for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Weighted

Weighted Tatal Remaining Average

Average Grant - Date Compensation Remaining

RSUs Grant - Date Fair Valug Cost Period

RSUs [Units} Fair Yalue (Millions) [Millions] (Years

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 715,299 $19.41

Granted 330,785 $28.83 $ 95
Issued {161,137] $19.77 $ 3.2
Farfeited {53,947 $20.16 $ 10

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 831,000 $22.99 $19.1 $7.7 1.8

The per share and total weighted average grant date fair value for
RSUs granted was $19.87 and $7.4 million, respectively, for the year
ended December 31, 2006 and $18.89 and $5.8 million, respectively,
for the year ended December 31, 2005. The weighted average grant
date fair value per share for RSUs issued was $18.50 and $19.06 for
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The total
weighted average fair value of RSUs issued was $2.2 million and $1.9
million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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The total compensation cost recognized for RSUs was $3.6 million, net
of taxes of approximately $2.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2307, $2.8 million, net of taxes of approximately $1.9 million for the
yaar ended December 31, 2006, and $1.9 million, net of taxes of
approximately $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.




Stock Options: Prior to 2003, NU granted stock options to certain employees. These options were fully vested as of December 31, 2003, The fair
value of each stock option grant was estimated on the date of grant usir.g the Black-Scheles option pricing model. The weighted average remaining
contractuat lives for the options outstanding at December 31, 2007 is T years. A summary of stock option transactions is as follows:

Exercise Price Per Share

Optivns Range Weighted Average Intrinsic Yalue

[Millions)
Exercisable - December 31, 2004 1,877,575 $18.7778
Outstanding - December 31, 2004 1,993,742 $14.9375 - $22.2500 %18.7370

Exercised (38,1721 $12.7262 $0.7
Forfeited and cancelled (503,009 $18.1703
Outstanding and Exercisable - December 31, 2005 1,122,541 $14.9375 - $22.2500 $18.4484

Exercised [331,943) $18.3579 $2.0
Forfeited and cancelled [18,750) $20.8885
QOutstanding and Exercisable - December 31, 2004 771,848 $14.9375 - $22.2500 $18.4245

Exercised [372.148] $18.5005 $4.8
Forfeited and cancelled (2.500] $21.06300

Outstanding and Exercisable - December 31, 2007 397,180 $14.9375 - $21.0300 $18.3369 $5.2

A summary of the ranges of exercise prices of stock options outstanding
and exercisable as of December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Exercise Price Per Share

Dptions Range Weighted Average  Contractual Term [fears)
76,386  $14.9375 - $16.6800 $15.5435 0.8
320,794 $16.6900 - $21.0300 $19.0021 3.5
397,180 $14.9375 - $21.0300 $18.3369 KR

Cash received for options exercised during the year ended December 31,
2007 totated $6.9 millien. The tax beneiit realized from stock options
exercised totaled $1.9 mitlion for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Employee Share Purchase Plan: NU maintains an ESPP for atl eligible
employees, which allows for NU commen shares to be purchased by
employees at six-month intervals at ?5 percent of the closing market
price on the last day of each six-month period. Employees are permitted
to purchase shares having a value not exceeding 25 percent of their
compensation as of the beginning of the purchase period. The ESPP
qualifies as a non-compensatory plan under SFAS No. 123[R), and no
compensation expense will be recorded for ESPP purchases.

During 2007 and 2006, employees purchased 26,451 and 113,404 shares,
respectively, at discounted prices of $26.27 and $25.97 in 2007 and
$16.90 and $21.28 in 2006. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, 1,041,364
shares and' 1,067,815 shares remained available for future issuance
under the ESPP, respectively.

An income tax rate of 40 percent is used to estimate the tax effect on
total share-based payments determined under the fair value-based
methed for all awards.

E. Other Retirement Benefits

NU provides benefits for retiremnent and other benefits for certain
current and past company officers. The actuarially-determined liability
for these benefits, which is included in deferred credits and other
liabilities - other on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets,
was $46.4 million and $46.5 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respeciively. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, $8.4 millien, $5.6 million
and $4.5 million, respectively, was expensed related to these benefits,
These benefits are accounted for on an accrual basis and expensed

over the service lives of the employees in accordance with the
Accounting Principles Board Opinion [APB] No. 12, "Deferred
Compensation Contracts.”

7. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” requires that
goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives
be reviewed for impairment at least annually by applying a fair value-
based test. NU uses October 1st as the annuat goodwilt impairment
testing date. Goodwill impairment is deemed to exist if the net book
value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value and if the
implied fair value of goodwilt based on the estimated fair value of the
reporting unit is less than the carrying amount.

NU’s reporting units are consistent with the operating segments
underlying the reportable segments identified in Note 16, "Segment
Information,” to the consolidated financial statements. The only reporting
unit that maintains goadwill is the Yankee Gas reporting unit, which was
classified under the regulated companies - gas reportable segment.
The goodwill recorded related to the acquisition of Yankee Gas is not
being recovered from the customers of Yankee Gas. The goodwill balance
held by the Yankee Gas reporting unit at December 31, 2007 and 2004
is $287.4 million.

NU completed its impairment analysis of the Yankee Gas goodwill
balance as of October 1, 2007 and determined that no impairment
exists. In completing this analysis, the fair value of the reporting unit
was estimated using both discounted cash flow methodologies and an
analysis of comparable companies and transactions.

As a result of the 2005 decision to exit NU Enterrises. certain goodwill
balances and intangible assets were deemed to be impaired. The
goodwill balances in these businesses were determined to be impaired
in their entirety, and $32.3 million in write-offs were recorded in 2005.

The retail marketing business had an exclusivity agreement with an
unamortized balance of $7.2 million and a customer list asset with
an unamortized balance of $2 million that were also deemed to be
impaired and were written off in 2005. Additionally, the energy services
businesses intangible assets not subject to amortization were also
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impaired, and an $8.5 mitlion pre-tax write-off was recorded in 2005,

while an additicnal pre-tax $0.7 million of other intangible assets were
alse impaired. The charges related to continuing operations are included
in restructuring and impairment charges on the accompanying consol-
idated statements of income/lloss) and in the NU Enterprises reportable
segment in Note 16, “Segment Information,” to the consolidated financial
statements, with the remainder included in discontinued operations.

8. Commitments and Contingencies
A. Regulatory Developments and Rate Matters

Connecticut:

Procurement Fee Rate Proceedings: CL&P was allowed to cotlect

a fixed procurement fee of 0.50 mills per kiiowatt-hour [KWH) from
customers that purchased TS0 service from 2004 through the end of
2004. One mill is equal to one tenth of a cent. That fee coutd increase
to 0.75 mills per KWH if CL&P ocutperforms certain regional bench-
marks. CL&P submitted to the DPUC its proposed methodology to
calculate the variable incentive portion of the procurement fee and
requested approval of $5.8 million in incentive fees. On December 8,
2005, a draft decision was issued in this docket, which accepted the
methodology as proposed by CL&P and authorized payment of the
pre-tax $5.8 million incentive fee. On October 19, 2007, the DPUC
released a recommendation prepared by its consultant relative to
statistical adjustments to the incentive calculations. The DPUC has set
a new schedule allowing for rebuttal of the consultant’s report. The
new schedule calls for a draft decision in this docket to be issued on
March 7, 2008. Management continues to believe that final regulatory
approval of the $5.8 million pre-tax amount, which was reflected in
2005 earnings, is probable.

Purchased Gas Adjustment: On September 9, 2005, the DPUC issued
a draft decisien regarding Yankee Gas's Purchased Gas Adjustment
[PGA] clause charges for the period of September 1, 2003 through
August 31, 2004. The draft decision disallowed approximately $39 million
in previously recovered PGA revenues associated with two separate
Yankee Gas unbilled sales and revenue adjustments. At the request of
Yankee Gas, the DPUC reapened the PGA hearings on Septernber 20,
2005 and requested that Yankee Gas file supplernental informatien
regarding the two adjustments. Yankee Gas comptied with this request.
The DPUC issued a new decision an April 20, 2006 requiring an audit of
Yankee Gas's previously recovered PGA costs and deferred any conclusion
on the $9 miliion of previously recovered revenues until the completion
of the audit. In a subsequent draft decision regarding Yankee Gas PGA
charges for the period September 1, 2004 through August 31, 2005, an
additional $2 million related to previously recovered revenues was also
identified, bringing the total maximum amount at issue with regard to
PGA clause charges under audit ta approximately $11 million.

The DPUC hired a consulting firm which has concluded an audit of
Yankee Gas's previously recovered PGA costs and has submitted its final
report. A DPUC hearing was held on October 9, 2007. There is currently
no final schedule in this case. Management believes the unbilled sales
and revenue adjustments and resulting charges to customers through
the PGA clause for both periods were appropriate. Based on the facts of .
the case, the supplemental information provided to the DPUC and the
consultant’s final report, management believes the appropriateness of
the PGA charges to customers for the time period under review will be
approved, and has not reserved for any loss.
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Massachusetts:

Transition Cost Reconciliations: WMECO filed its 200% transition cost
rzconciliation with the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities
(DPU] on March 31, 2006 and filed its 2006 transition cost reconcilia-
tion with the DPU on March 31, 2007. The DPU opened a proceeding
for these filings, and evidentiary hearings were held on August 29, 2007.
The briefing process was completed during October of 2007. The timing
of the decision in this docket is uncertain. Management does not
expect the outcome of the DPU's review of these filings to have a
material adverse impact on WMECO's net income, financial position or
cash flows.

B. Environmental Matters

Ceneral: NU is subject to environmental taws and requlations intended
to mitigate or remove the effect of past operatiens and improve or
maintain the quality of the environment. These laws and requlations

*require the remeval or the remedy of the effect on the environment of

the disposal or release of certain specified hazardous substances at
current and former operating sites. As such, NU has an active environ-
mental auditing and training program and believes that it is substan-
tially in compliance with all enacted laws and regutations.

Environmental reserves are accrued when assessments indicate that
it is probable that a liability has been incurred and an amount can be
reasonably estimated. The appreach used estimates the liability based
on the most likely action plan from a variety of available remediation
opticns, including na actien required or several different remedies
ranging from establishing institutional controls to full site remediation
and monitoring.

These estimates are subjective in nature as they take into consider-
ation several different remediation options at each specific site. The
reliability and precision cf these estimates can be affected by several
factors, including new information concerning either the level of
contamination at the site, the extent of NU's responsibility or the extent
of remediation required, recently enacted laws and regulations or a
change in cost estimates due {o certain economic factors.

The amounts recorded as environmental lizbilities on the consolidated
balance sheets represent management's best estimate of the Lability
for enwiranmental costs, if reasonably estimable, and take inta con-
sideration site assessment and remediation costs. Based on currently
available information for estimated site assessment and remediation
costs at December 31, 2067 and 2006, NU had $25.8 million and
$26.8 million, respectively, recorded as environmental reserves. A
raconcitiation of the activity in these reserves at December 31, 2007
and 2006 is as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

(Millions of Dotlars) 2007 2006
Ealance at beginning of year $26.8 $30.7
Additions and adjustments 1.2 8.3
Fayments and adjustments (2.2) {12.2)
Ealance at end of year $25.8 $26.8

Cf the 53 sites NU has currently included in the environmental reserve,
27 sites are in the remediation or long-term monitoring phase, 20 sites
have had some level of site assessments completed, and the remain-
ing 6 sites are in the preliminary stages of site assessment.




These liabitities are estimated on an undiscounted basis and do not
assume that any amounts are recoverable from insurance companies
or other third parties. The environmental reserve includes sites at
different stages of discovery and remediation and dees not include any
unasserted claims.

At December 31, 2007, in addition to the 53 sites, there were 10 sites
for which there are unasserted claims; however, any related site
assessment or remediation costs are not probabte or estimable at this
time. NU’s enviranmental liability also takes into account recurring
costs of managing hazardous substances and poliutants, mandated
expenditures to remediate previously contaminated sites and any othe
infrequent and non-recurring clean up costs.

NU remains in the process of evaluating additional potential remediatio
requirements ai a river site in Massachusetts containing tar deposits.
HWP is at least partially responsible for this site, and substantial
remediation activities at this site have already been conducted. HWP
first established a reserve for this site in 1994. Since that time, HWP has
recorded charges of approximately $13 million, of which $12.4 million
has been spent leaving $0.6 million in the reserve. HWP's reserve is
based on its most recent site assessment and estimate of required
remediation costs. The ultimate remediation requirements will depen,
amang other things, on the level and extent of the remaining tar required
to be remaoved, and the extent of HWP's responsibility. These matters
are the subject of ongoing discussions with the Massachusetts
Department of Environmental Protection and may change from time-
to-time. HWP's share of the remediation costs related to this site is nat
recoverabte from ratepayers. At this time, management cannot predic*
the outcome of this matter or its ultimate effect on NU. Any additional
increase to the environmental remediation reserve for this site would
be recorded in earnings in future periods when it is prebable and
reasonably estimable, and potential increases may be material. There
were no changes to the environmental reserve for this site in 2007,

MGP Sites: Manufactured gas plant {MGPI sites comprise the largest
partion of NU's environmental liability. MGPs are sites that manu-
factured gas from coal which produced certain byproducts that may
pose a risk to human health and the environment. At December 31,
2007 and 2004, $23.6 million and $24.8 million, respectively, repre-
sent amounts for the site assessment and remediation of MGPs, At
December 31, 2007 and 2006, the five largest MGP sites comprise
approximately 68 percent and 45 percent, respectively, of the total
MGP environmental tiability.

For seven of the 53 sites that are included in the company’s liability fo-
envirenmental cosis, the information known and nature of the reme-
diation options at those sites atlow for the company to estimate the
range of losses for environmental costs. At December 31, 2007, $3.8
million had been accrued as a liability for these sites, which represents
management’s best estimate of the liability for environmental costs.
This amount differs from an estimated range of loss from zero to $18.4
millien. For the 46 remaining sites included in the environmental
reserve, determining an estimated range of loss is not possible at

this time.

CERCLA Matters: The federal Camprehensive Enviranmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 {CERCLA] and
its amendments or state eguivalents impose joint and several strict
liabilities, regardless of fault, upon generators of hazardous

substances resutting in removal and remediation costs and environ-
mental damages. Liabilities under these laws can be materiat and in
some instances may be imposed without regard to fault or for past
acts that may have been lawfut at the time they occurred. Of the 53
sites, five are superfund sites under CERCLA for which NU has been
notified that it is a potentially responsible party [PRP} but for which
the site assessment and remediation are not being managed by NU.
At December 31, 2007, a liability of $0.7 millien accrued on these sites
represents NU's estimate of its potentiat remediation costs with respect
to these five superfund sites.

It is possible that new information or future developments could require
a reassessment of the potential exposure to related environmental
matters. As this information becomes avaitable, management will continue
to assess the potential exposure and adjust the reserves accordingly.

Environmental Rate Recovery: PSNH and Yankee Gas have rale
recovery mechanisms for environmental costs. CL&P recovers a
certain level of environmental costs currently in rates but does not
have an environmental cost recovery tracking mechanism. Accordingly,
changes in CL&P’s environmental reserves impact CL&P’s earnings.
WMECQ does not have a separate regulatory mechanism to recover
environmental costs from its custemers, and changes in WMECO's
environimental reserves impact WMECQ's earnings. HWP does not
have the ability to recover environmentat costs in rates, and changes
in HWP's environrmental reserves impact HWP's earnings.

C. Spent Nuclear Fuel Disposal Costs

Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982 (the Act], CL&P and
WMECQ must pay the United States Department of Energy (DOE] for
the costs of disposal of spent nuclear fuel and high-level radioactive
waste for the period prior to the sale of their ownership in the
Millstone nuclear power stations.

The DOE is responsible for the selection and development of repositories
for, and the disposal of, spent nuclear fuel and high-level radicactive
waste. For nuclear fuel used to generate electricity prior to April 7,
1983 [Prior Period Spent Nuclear Fuel) for CL&P and WMECQ, an
accrual has been recorded for the full Liability, and payment must be
made by CL&P and WMECQD to the DOE prior to the first delivery of
spent fuel to the DOE. After the sale of Millstone, CL&P and WMECO
remained responsible for their share of the dispesal costs associated
with the Prior Period Spent Nuclear Fuel. Until such payment 1o the
DOE is made, the outstanding liability will continue to accrue interest
at the 3-month treasury bill yield rate. At December 31, 2007 and 2006,
fees due to the DOE for the disposal of Prior Period Spent Nuclear
Fuel, net of $0.4 million in interest income earned on the WMECO prior
spent nuclear fuel trust for the year ended December 31, 2007, are
included in long-term debt and were $294.3 million and $280.8 million,
respectively, including accumulated interest costs of $212.4 mitlion
and $198.7 million, respectively.

During 2004, WMECO established a trust, which holds marketable
securities to fund amounts due to the DOE for the disposal of WMECO's
Prior Period Spent Nuclear Fuel. For further information on this trust,
see Note 10, "Marketable Securities,” to the consolidated financial
statements.
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D. Long-Term Contractual Arrangements

Regulated Companies:

Estimated Future Annual Regulated Companies Casts: The estimated futu-e annual costs of the regulated companies’ significant long-term

contractual arrangements at December 31, 2007 are as follows:

[Millions of Doltars) 2008 2009 2010 201 2012 Thereafter Totals
VYNPC $ 280 $ 304 $ 292 $ 29.9 $ 72 $ - $ 1247
Supply/stranded cost contracts 2571 234.0 2123 224.0 250.1 1,500.9 2,678.4
Renewable energy contract — — 25 15.0 15.0 192.4 2249
Natural gas procurement contracts 54.7 53.9 52.7 51.4 46.0 128.3 387.0
Wood, coal and transportation contracts 132.2 88.7 83.5 73.9 47.4 - 425.7
PNGTS pipeline commitments 2.0 20 20 2.0 20 9.9 19.9
Hydro-Quebec 21.4 212 211 2.3 213 170.5 2768
Transmissicn segment project commitments 58%.4 52.5 100.7 278.7 2442 108.4 1,394.1
Yankee Companies billings 348 28.6 30.4 265 28.6 76.0 2229
Generation segment project commitmeants 11.8 9.0 5.0 4.0 20 1.0 328
Totals $1.131.4 $520.3 $539.4 $726.7 $681.8 $2,187.6 $6,787.2

VYNPC: CL&P, PSNH and WMECQO have commitments to buy approxi-
mately 16 percent of the Vermont Yankee Nuclear Power Corporation
{VWYNPC] plant's output through March of 2012 at a range of fixed prices.
The total cost of purchases under contracts with VYNPC amounted to
$25.6 million in 2007, $32.2 million in 2006 and $25.7 million in 2005.

Supply/Stranded Cost Contracts: CL&P, PSNH and WMECO have
entered into various IPP caontracts that extend through 2024 for the
purchase of electricity, including payment obligaticns resulting from
the buydown of electricity purchase contracts. The total cost of
purchases and obligations under these contracts amounted to $281.5
million in 2007, $331.9 miltion in 2006 and $275.3 miltion in 2005. The
majority of the contracts expire by 2014.

In addition, CL&P and Ul have entered into four CfDs for a total of
approximately 787 MW of capacity with three generation projects to
be built or modified and one new demand response project. The CfDs
extend through 2024 and obligate the utilities to pay the difference
between a set capacity price and the value that the projects receive
in the ISO-NE capacity markets. The contracts have terms of up to 15
years beginning in 200% and are subject to a sharing agreement with
Ul, whereby Ul will share 20 percent of the costs and benefits of these
contracts. The amount of CL&P's portion of the costs and benefits

of these contracts included in the above table is subject to changes
in capacity prices that the projects receive in the ISO-NE capacity
markets and will be paid by or refunded to CL&P’s customers.

These amounts do not include contractual commitments related to
CL&P's standard or TS0 service, PSNH's short-term power supply
management or WMECO's basic and default service.

Renewable Energy Contract: CL&P has entered inte an agreement
to purchase energy, capacity and renewable energy credits from a
biomass energy plant yet to be built. The contract, beginning in 2010,
is an operating lease for a 15-year period with no minimum lease
payments. Amounts payable under this contract are subject to a
sharing agreement with Ul, whereby Ul will share 20 percent of

the costs and benefits of this contract. CL&P's pertion of the costs
and benefits of this contract will be paid by or refunded to CL&P's
customers.

Natural Gas Procurement Contracts: Yankee Gas has entered into
long-term contracts for the purchase of a specified quantity of natural
gas in the normal course of business as part of its portfolio of supplies
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to meet its actual sales commitments. These contracts extend through
2322, The total cost of Yankee Gas's procurement portfolio, including
these contracts, amounted to $305.3 million in 2007, $275.1 millien in
2306 and $321.2 million in 2005.

Wood, Coal and Transportation Contracts: PSNH has entered into vari-
ous arrangements for the purchase of wood, coal and the transporta-
tion services for fuel supply for its electric generating assets

in 2008. PSNH's fuel and natural gas costs, excluding emissions
allowances, amounted to approximately $183.8 million in 2007,
$149.1 million in 2006 and $193.4 million in 2005.

PNGTS Pipeline Commitments: PSNH has a contract for capacity on
the Portland Natural Gas Transmission Systemn [PNGTS) pipeline which
ectends through 2018. The total cost under this contract amounted

to $3.1 million in 2007, $1.4 million in 2006 and $1.4 million in 2005.
These costs are not recovered from PSNH's retail customers.

Hydro-Quebec: Along with other New England utilities, CL&P, PSNH
and WMECO have entered into agreements to support transmission
and terminal facilities which were built to import electricity from the
Hydro-Quebec system in Canada. CL&P, PSNH and WMECO are
oiligated to pay, over a 30-year period ending in 2020, their propor-
tionate shares of the annual O&M expenses and capital costs of those
facilities. The total cost of these agreements amounted to $18.8 million
in 2007, $20.5 million in 2006 and $21.2 million in 2005.

Transmission Segment Project Commitments: These amounts
primarily represent commitments for various services and materials
assaciated with CL&P's Middletown to Norwalk, Glenbrook Cables
and Norwalk to Northport-Long Island, New York projects and cther
projects, including the New England East-West 115 KV and 345 KV
Overhead projects. The remaining amounts are for transmission
projects at PSNH and WMECO.

Yankee Companies Billings: NU has significant decommissioning and
plant closure cost obligations to the Yankee Companies. Each Yankee
Company has completed the physical decommissioning of its facility
and is now engaged in the long-term storage of its spent fuel. The
Yankee Companies collect decommissioning and closure costs through
wholesale, FERC-approved rates charged under power purchase
ajreements with several New England utilities, including NU's electric
utility companies. These companies in turn recover these costs from
their customers through state regulatory commission-approved retail




rates. The table of estimated future annual regulated companies costs.
includes the estimated decommissioning and closure costs for CYAPC,
MYAPC and YAEC.

See Note BE, "Commitments and Contingencies - Deferred Contractual
Obligations,” to the consolidated financial statements for information
regarding the collection of the Yankee Companies” decommissioning costs.

NU Enterprises:

Generation Segment Project Commitments: These amounts represent
commitments for engineering and program management services
associated with PSNH's coal-fired 440 MW Merrimack Station clean air
project, which alse includes the addition of a wet scrubber to reduce
mercury and sulfur dioxide emissions at Merrimack Station Units 1 and
2. The total cost under these contracts amounted to $1.9 million in
2007 and $0.9 million in 2006.

Estimated Future Annuat NU Enterprises Costs: The estimated futu ‘e annual costs of NU Enterprises’ significant contractual arrangements are

as follows:

[Mitlions of Dollars] 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter Totals
Select Energy purchase agreements $214.0 $29.7 $32.1 $31.2 $32.3 $32.1 $371.4
Contract assignment agreement 191 - — - — - 19.1
Totals $233.1 $29.7 $32.1 $31.2 $32.3 $32.1 $390.5

Select Energy Purchase Agreements: Select Energy maintains
long-term agreements to purchase energy as part of its portfolio of
resources to meet its actual or expected sales commitments. Most
purchase commitments are recorded at their mark-to-market value
with the exception of one non-derivative contract which is accounted
for on the accrual basis.

Contract Assignment Agreement: During the fourth quarter of 2005,
Select Energy settled a wholesale contract for $55.9 million with
monthly payments that commenced in January of 2004 and end in
December of 2008.

Select Energy’s purchase commitment amounts are reported on a net
basis in {fuel, purchased and net interchange power along with certain
sales contracts and mark-to-market amounts. Accordingly, the amount
included in fuel, purchased and net interchange power will be less than
the amounts included in the table above. Select Energy also maintains
certain energy commitments whose mark-to-market values have been
recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as derivative assets and
liabilities. These contracts are included in the table above.

The amount and timing of the costs associated with Setect Energy's
purchase agreements could be impacted by the exit from the NU
Enterprises’ businesses.

E. Deferred Contractual Obligations

NU has significant decommissioning and plant closure cost obligations
to the Yankee Companies, which have completed the physical
decommissioning of all three of their facilities and are now engaged

in the long-term storage of their spent fuel. The Yankee Companies
collect decommissioning and closure costs through wholesale, FERC-
approved rates charged under power purchase agreements with severa.
New England utilities, including NU's electric utility companies. These
companies recover these costs through state regulatory commission-
approved retail rates. A summary of each of NU’s subsidiary’s ownershia
percentage in the Yankee Companies at Decernber 31, 2007 is as follows:

CYAPC YAEC MYAPC
CL&P 34.5% 24.5% 12.0%
PSNH 5.0% 7.0% 5.0%
WMECD 9.5% 7.0% 3.0%
Totals 49.0% 38.5% 20.0%

NU’s percentage share of the obligation to support the Yankee
Companies under FERC-approved rate tariffs is the same as the
ownership percentages above,

CYAPC: Under the terms of the settlernent agreement between
CYAPC, the DPUC, the Connecticut Office of Consumer Counsel, and
Maine regulators, the parties agreed to a revised decommissioning
estimate of $642.% million {in 2006 dollars). Annual collections began
in January of 2007, and were reduced from the $93 million originally
requested for years 2007 through 2010 to lower levels ranging from
$37 million in 2007 rising to $46 million in 2015. The reduction to
annual coltections was achieved by extending the collection period

by 5 years through 2015 by reflecting the proceeds from a settlement
agreement with Bechtel Power Corporation, by reducing collections in
2007, 2008 and 2009 by $5 million per year, and making other adjust-
ments. NU believes CL&P and WMECO will recover their shares of
this obligation from their customers. PSNH has recovered its share of
these costs from its customers,

YAEC: On July 31, 2006, the FERC approved a settlement agreement
with the DPUC, the Massachusetts Attorney General and the Vermont
Department of Public Service previcusly fited by YAEC. This settlement
agreement did not materially affect the level of 2006 charges. Under
the settlement agreement, YAEC agreed to reduce its Novernber 2005
decommissioning cost increase from $85 mitlion to $79 million. Other
terms of the settlement agreement include extending the coltection
period for charges through December 2014, reconciling and adjusting
future charges based on actual decontamination and decommissioning
expenses and the decommissioning trust fund's actual investment
earnings. NU believes that its $24.9 million share of the increase in
decommissioning costs will ultimately be recovered from the customers
of CL&P and WMECO [approximately $19.4 million and $5.5 million
for CL&P and WMECD, respectivelyl. PSNH has recovered its share of
these costs from its customers.

MYAPC: MYAPC is collecting revenues from CL&P, PSNH, WMECO

and other owners that are adequate to recover the remaining cost of
decommissioning its plant, and CL&P and WMECG expect to recover
their respeclive shares of such costs through future rates. PSNH has
recovered its share of these costs from its customers.
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Spent Nuclear Fuel Litigation: In 1998, CYAPC, YAEC and MYAPC filed
separate complaints against the United States Department of Energy
[DOE] in the Court of Federal Claims seeking monetary damages
resulting from the DOE’s failure to begin accepting spent nuclear fuel
for disposal by January 31, 1998 pursuant to the terms of the 1983
spent fuel and high level waste disposal contracts between the Yankee
Companies and the DOE. [n a ruling released on October 4, 2005, the
Court of Federal Claims held that the DOE was liable for damages

to CYAPC for $34.2 million through 2001, YAEC for $32.9 million through
2001 and MYAPC for $75.8 million through 2002. The Yankee Companies
had claimed actual damages for the same periods as follows: CYAPC:
$37.7 million; YAEC: $60.8 million; and MYAPC: $78.1 miltion. Mest

of the reduction in the claimed actual damages related to disatlowed
spent nuclear fuel pool operating expenses.

The Court of Federat Claims, following precedent set in another case,
did not award the Yankee Companies future damages covering the
period beyond the 2001/2002 damages award dates. In December of
2007, the Yankee Companies filed lawsuits against the DOE seeking
recovery of actual damages incurred in the years foltowing 2001/2002.

In December of 2006, the DOE appealed the ruling, and the Yankee
Companies filed a cross-appeal. The refund to CL&P, PSNH and
WMECO of any damages that may be recovered from the DOE will be
realized through the Yankee Companies’ FERC-approved rate settiement
agreements, subject to final determination of the FERC. The appeal

is expected to be argued in 2008 with a decision {rem the Court of
Appeals to follow.

CL&P, PSNH and WMECQ's aggregate share of these damages is
$44.7 miltion. Their respective shares of these damages are as
follows: CL&P: $29 mitlion; PSNH: $7.8 million; and WMECO: $7.9
million. CL&P, PSNH and WMECO cannot &t this time determine the
timing or amount of any ultimate recovery from the DOE, through the
Yankee Companies, on this matter. However, NU does believe that any
net settlement proceeds it receives would be incorporated into FERC-
approved recoveries, which would be passed on to its customers,
through reduced charges.

F. NRG Energy, Inc. Exposures

Certain subsidiaries of NU, including CL&P and Yankee Gas, entered
into transactions with NRG and certain of its subsidiaries. On May 14,
2003, NRG and certain subsidiaries of NRG filed voluntary bankruptcy
petitions, and ¢n December 5, 2003, NRG emerged from bankruptcy.
NU's NRG-related exposures as a result of these transactions retate
to 1) the refunding of approximately $28 mitlion of congestion charges
previously withheld fram NRG prior to the implementation of standard
market design [SMDJ on March 1, 2003, 2] the recovery of approximately
$30.2 million of CL&P's station service biltings from NRG, which is
currently the subject of an arbitration, and 3] the recovery of, among
other claimed damages, approximately $17.5 million of capital costs
and expenses incurred by Yankee Gas related to an NRG subsidiary’s
generating plant construction project that has ceased.

On July 20, 2007, the United States District Court for the District of
Connecticut issued a ruling granting CL&P’s motion for summary
judgment against NRG in the pre-SMD congestion litigation. In this
decision, the court held that NRG was contractually obligated to pay
for congestion charges imposed during the term of the October 29,
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1999 standard cffer service wholesale sales agreement between CL&P
and NRG and found in favor of CL&P and against NRG on each of
NRG's four counterclaims. NRG did not appeal the judgment and the
matter is closed.

On January 8, 2008, CL&P and NRG filed a proposed confidential
settlement with the DPUC, which would settle the pending dispute
concerning the scope of NRG's responsibility to pay for certain delivery
service charges to CL&P, as well as the claim for recovery of costs
related to the ceased generating plant project. On January 28, 2008,
the DPUC issued a final decision in CL&P’s rate case proceeding in
which it also approved the settlement between CL&P and NRG. The
payment that CL&P will receive from NRG under the settlement and
the rate relief approved in the January 28, 2008 DPUC decision essentially
reimburses CL&P for its net station service and generating ptant
construction costs receivables from NRG. This settlement was signed
by NRG, CL&P and Yankee Gas in February of 2008, which brought a
conclusion to all outstanding matters mentioned above. The settlement ‘
d d not and will not have an adverse effect on NU's consolidated net
ircome, financial position or cash flows for the years ended December 31,
20007 and 2008, respectively.

G. Consolidated Edison, Inc. Merger Litigation

Certain gain and loss contingencies exist with regard to the merger
ajreement between NU and Consclidated Edison, Inc. (Con Edison)
aad the related litigation.

In 2001, Con Edison advised NU that it was unwilling to close its merger
with NU on the terms set farth in the 1999 merger agreement (Merger
Agreement). In March of 2001, NU filed suit against Con Edison seeking
damages in excess of $1 billion.

In a 2005 opinion, a panel of three judges at the Second Circuit held
that NU shareholders had ne right to sue Con Edison for its alleged
b-each of the parties’ Merger Agreement. This ruling left intact the
remaining claims between NU and Con Edison for breach of contract,
which include NU's claim for recovery of costs and expenses of
asproximately $32 million and Con Edison’s claim for damages of at
least $314 millien. Any damage award would include pre-judgment
interest from the date of the filing of the claim. NU's request for a
rehearing was denied in 2006. NU opted not to seek review of this
ruling by the United States Supreme Court. In April of 2006, NU filed
its motion for partial summary judgment on Con Edison’s damage
c.aim. On January 31, 2008, the trial judge denied a series of motions
by both NU and Con Edison that had been pending for more than one
year, including NU's motion for an order dismissing Con Edison’s
synergy damage claim. The judge ordered the parties to be trial ready on
four days’ notice beginning March 21, 20GB. It is not possible for NU to
predict either the outcome of this matter or its ultimate effect on NU.

H. Guarantees and Indemnifications

NU provides credit assurances on behalf of subsidiaries in the form of
gJarantees and letters of credit (LOCs] in the normal course of business.
MU has also provided guarantees and various indemnifications on
behalf of external parties as a result of the sales of SESI, the retail
marketing business and the competitive generation business. The
following table summarizes NU's maximum exposure at December 31,
2307, in accordance with FIN 45, "Guarantor’s Accounting and




Disclosure Reguirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” expiration dates, and fair value of

amounts recorded.

Fair Value
Maximurn of Amounts
Exposure Expiration Recorded

Company Description lin millions) Datel(s) lin millions)
On behalf of external parties:
SESI General indemnifications in cannection Not Specified [1] None $—

with the sale of SESI including completeness

and accuracy of information provided,

compliance with laws, and various claims

Specific indemnifications in cannection Mot Specified Through project $0.2

with the sale of SESI for estimated costs completion

to complete or modify specific projects

Indemnifications to lenders far payrient of $2.0 2017-2018 $0.1

shortfalls in the event of early termination

of government contracts

Surety bonds covering certain projects $77.2 Through project $—

completion (2)

Hess General indemnifications in conneciion with Not Specified [} Nene $—
(Retail Marketing Business) the sale including compliance with laws, validity

of contract information, completeness and

accuracy of information provided, ahsence of

default on contracts, and various claims
ECP General indemnifications in connection with Not Specified (11 None $—
(Competitive the sale of NGC and the generating assets
Generation Business] of Mt. Tom including compliance with laws,

validity of contract information, corr pleteness

and accuracy of information provided, absence

of default on contracts, and various claims
On behalf of subsidiaries:
Regulated Companies Surety bonds, primarily for self-insurance $15.3 None N/A

Letters of credit $25.0 2008 N/A
Rocky River Realty Company Lease payments for real estate $11.2 2024 N/A
NUSCO Lease payments for fleet of vehicles $9.1 None NfA
Boulos Surety bonds covering ongoing projects $66.2 Through project N/A

completion

SECI Surety bonds covering projects $8.7 N/A 18) N/A
NGS Performance guarantee and insurance bonds $23.9 13 2020 (3 N/A
Select Energy Performance guarantees and surety bonds $5.3 141 None (5] N/A

for retail marketing contracts

Performance guarantees for wholecale contracts $97.4 14] 2013 N/A

Letters of credit $2.0 2009 N/A

K]

threshold.
2
13

There is no specified maximum exposure included in the related sale agreements. For retail marketing business guarantees, all claims are subject to a $0.3 million

The company expects appropriate acknowiedgment of project completion for the majority of these surety bonds by the end of the second quarter of 2008,

Included in the maximum exposure is $22.7 million related to a performance g sarantee of NGS's obligations for which there is no specified maximum exposure in the
agreement. The maximum exposure is calculated as of December 31, 2007 based on limits of NGS's liability contained in the underlying service contract and assumes
that NGS will perform under thai contract through its expiration in 2020. The re maining $1.2 million of maximum exposure relates to insurance bonds with no expiration
date which are billed annually on their anniversary date.

1
(5
(6

Maximum exposure is as of December 31, 2007; however, exposures vary with underlying commaodity prices and for certain contracts are essentially unlimited.

NU does ot currently anticipate that these remaining guarantees on behall of Select Energy will result in significant guarantees of the performance of Hess.

The company expects appropriate acknowledgment of project completion for these surety bonds in 2008,
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Many of the underlying contracts that NU guarantees, as well as certain
surety bonds, contain credit ratings triggers that would require NU to
post collateral in the event that NU's credit ratings are downgraded
below investment grade.

In July of 2006, under its former SESI guarantee, NU was required to
purchase contract payments relating to the only quaranteed SES| project
that was financed and behind schedule. NU recorded $0.5 million

and $1.1 million in losses in 2007 and 2006, respectively, to reduce

the carrying vatue of the contract payments purchased to the amount
expected to be received from refinancing through SESI's completion

of the project. The carrying value of these assets is $8.8 million at
December 31, 2007 and is included in other deferred debits on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. NU may record additional
losses associated with this transaction, the amount of which will depend
en changes in interest rates used to determine SESI's refinancing
proceeds, the amount of project cash available to offset NU's costs,
and other factors.

I. Transmission Rate Matters and FERC Regulatory Issues

As a result of an order issued by the FERC on October 31, 2004 relating
to incentives on new transmission facilities in New England (FERC ROE
decision], NU recorded an estimated regulatory liability for refunds

of $25.6 million as of December 31, 2004. In 2007, NU completed

the customer refunds that were calculated in accerdance with the
compliance filing required by the FERC ROE decision, and refunded
approximately $23.9 million to regional, local and localized transmission
customers. The $1.7 million positive pre-tax difference ($1 million
after-tax] between the estimated regulatory liability recorded and the
actual amount refunded was recognized in earnings in 2007.

Pursuant te the October 31, 2006 FERC ROE decisicn, the New England
transmission owners submitted a compliance filing that calculated the
refund amounts for transmission customers for the February 1, 2005

to October 31, 2006 time period. Subsequently, on July 26, 2007, the
FERC disagreed with the ROEs the transmission owners used in their
refund calculations for the 15-month period between June 3, 2005

and Septernber 3, 2006, rejected a pertion of the compliance filing,

and required another compliance filing within 30 days. On August 27,
2007, NU and the other New England transmission owners submitted a
revised compliance filing, which outlined the regional refund process to
comply with the FERC’s July 26, 2007 order. In addition, the transmission
owners filed a request for rehearing claiming that the FERC improperly
set the floor for refunds based on the lower rates that the FERC approved
in its October 31, 2004 order, rather than the last approved rates, for the
period from June 3, 2005 to September 3, 2006. The FERC denied this
request on January 17, 2008, and the transmission owners have until
March 17, 2008 to appeal, if they so choose.

NU¥'s transmission companies refunded approximately $2.2 million of
revenues and interest related to the July 28, 2007 order [approximately
$1.4 million after-tax]. NU's distribution companies received a net after-
tax benefit of approximately $0.3 million as a result of these refunds.
The refunds and benefits totaling $1.1 million after-tax were recorded

in 2007,
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J. Other Litigation and Legal Proceedings

MU and its subsidiaries are involved in other legal, tax and regulatory
proceedings regarding matters arising in the ordinary course of
business, some of which involve management’s best estimate of probable
loss as defined by SFAS No. 5. The cempany records and discloses
losses when these losses are probable and reasonably estimable in
accordance with SFAS No. 5, discloses matters when losses are probable
but not estimable, and expenses legal costs related tc the defense of
loss contingencies as incurred.

9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following methods and assurnptions were used to estimate the fair
value of each of the following financial instruments:

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Special Deposits: The carrying
amounts approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these
cash items.

SERP and Non-5ERP Investments: investments held for the benefit of
the SERP and non-SERP are recorded at fair market value based upon
quoted market prices. The investments having a cost basis of $63.7
mitlion and $5%.7 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2004, respec-
tively, held for benefit of the SERP and non-SERP were recorded at
their fair market vaiues of $68.4 million and $65 million at December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively. For further information regarding the SERP
liabilities and retated investments, see Note 6A, "Employee Benefits -
Fension Benefits and Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,” and
Mote 10, "Marketable Securities,” to the consolidated financial statements.

Frior Spent Nuclear Fuel Trust: During 2004, WMECQO established a
trust to fund the amounts due to the DOE for its prior spent nuclear
fuel obligation. These investments having a cost basis of $55.4 million
and $53.4 million for 2007 and 2006, respectively, were recorded at
their fair market value of $55.7 million and $53.4 million at December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively. For further information regarding these
investments, see Note 10, "Marketable Securities,” to the consolidated
financial statements.

Preferred Stock, Long-Term Debt and Rate Reduction Bonds: The
fair value of NU's fixed-rate securities is based upon quoted market
prices for those issues or similar issues. Adjustable rate securities are
assumed tc have a fair value equal to their carrying value. The carrying
amounts of NU's financial instruments and the estimated fair values
are as follows:




At December 31, 2007

Carrying Fair
[Millions of Dettars) Amaunt Value
Preferred stock not subject
to mandatory redemption $ 1162 $ 882
Long-term debt -
First morigage bonds 1,806.3 1,792.4
Other long-term debt 1,832.3 1,867.4
Rate reduction bonds $17.4 975.2

At Decembes 31, 2006

Carrying Fair
[Millions of Doltars) Amount Value
Preferred stock not subject
to mandatory redemption $ 1162 $ 924
Long-term debt -
First mortgage bonds 1.240.6 1.268.8
Other long-term debt 1,734.4 1,775.9
Rate reduction bonds 1.177.2 1,235.4

Other long-term debt includes $294.3 million and $280.8 miltion
of fees and interest due for spent nuclear fuet disposal costs at
December 31, 2007 and 2004, respectively.

Other Financial Instruments: The carrying value of other financial
instruments included in current assets and current liabilities, including
investrents in securitizable assets, approximates their fair value due
to the short-term nature of these instruments.

10. Marketable Securities

The following is a surnmary of NU's available-for-sale securities
related to NU's SERP and nan-SERP assets and WMECQ's prior spent
nuclear fuel trust assets, which are recorded at their fair values and
are included in current and long-term marketable securities on the
accempanying censolidated balance sheets.

At December 31,
[Millions of Daliars) 2007 2006
SERP and non-SERP securities $ 684 $ 65.0
WMECO prior spent nuclear fuel trust 55.7 53.4
Totals $124.1 $£118.4

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, marketable securities are comprised

of the {ollowing:

Al December 31. 2007
Pre-Tax Pre-Tax

bross Gtoss
Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized  Estimated
{Millions of Dollars] Cost Gains losses  Fair Value
United States equity securities  $ 23.5 $4.3 $— $ 278
Non-United States equity
securities 8.3 — — 8.3
Fixed income securities 87.5 0.5 — 88.0
Totals $119.3 $4.8 $—  $1241
At December 31, 2006
Pre-Tax Pre-Tax
Gross Gross
Amortized  Umrealized  Unrealized  Estimated
[Millions of Dollars] Cost Gains  Losses  Fair Value
United States equity securities  § 21.2 $50  $[0.3] % 259
Non-United States equity
securities 7.2 0.7 - 7.9
Fixed income securities 84.7 0.4 (0.5] 84.6
Tatals $113.1 %61 $(0.8] $118.4

For the year ended Yecember 31, 2007, MU recorded a $1.9 miltion
pre-tax charge related to the unrealized losses on securities in the
SERP portfolio, and a $0.6 million offset to the spent nuclear fuel
obligation in long-term debt related to the unrealized losses on securities
in the WMECO spent nuclear fuel trust. For the year ended December 31,
2006, unrealized losses of $0.8 million were recorded on these securities,
of which $0.2 million of this amount reflected loss positions greater
than twelve months.

For information related to the change in net unrealized holding gains
and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income, see
Note 14, "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss).” to the
consolidated financial statements,

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, realized gains
and losses recognized on the sale of available-for-sale securities are
as {ollows:

Realized Realized  Net Realized
{Millions of Dollais) Gains Losses  Gains/[Losses)
2007 $2.8 $(1.0) $1.8
20046 5.2 (1.3) 39
2005 13 (7.1] (5.8]

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, net realized
losses of $40 thousand, $0.3 million and $0.4 miltion, respectively, were
recorded relating to the WMECO spent nuclear fuel trust. For the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, all other net realized gains/
[losses) totaled $1.9 million, $4.2 million and $(5.4) million, respectively,
and are included in other income, net on the accompanying consolidated
statements of income/(toss). Included in the realized gains/[losses] is
a pre-tax gain of $3.1 million and a pre-tax loss of $4.1 million for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 20095, respectively, related to NU's
investment in Globix, which was sold on April 6, 2006.

NU utilizes the specific identification basis method for SERP and
non-SERP securities and the average cost basis method for the WMECO
prior spent nuclear fuel trust to compute the realized gains and losses
on the sale of available-for-sale securities.

Proceeds from the sale of these securities, including proceeds from
short-term investments, totaled $254.8 million, $193.5 million and
$137.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003,
respectively.

At December 31, 2007, the contractual maturities of the available-for-
sale securilies are as follows:

Amortized Estimated
[Miltions of Dultars) Cost Fait Valve
Less than one year $ 345 $ 347
One to five years 27.1 27.2
Six to ten years 6.7 5.8
Greater than ten years 1% 193
Subtotal 87.4 88.0
Equity securities e 361
Total $119.3 $124.1

For further information regarding marketable securities, see Note 1T,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Paolicies ~ Marketable Securities,”
to the consolidated financial statements.
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11. Leases

Various NU subsidiaries have entered into lease agreements, some

of which are capital leases, for the use of data processing and office
equipment, vehicles, and office space. The provisions of these lease
agreements generally cantain renewal options. Certain lease agreements
contain contingent lease payments. The contingent lease payments are
based on various factors, such as the commercial paper rate plus a
credit spread or the consumer price index.

Capital lease rental payments were $2.9 million in 2007, $3.3 million in
2004 and $3.4 million in 2005. Interest included in capital lease rental
payments was $2 million in 2007, and $1.9 million in both 2006 and 2005.
Capital lease asset amortization was $0.9 million in 2007, $0.9 million
in 2006 and $0.8 millien in 2003.

Cperating lease rental payments charged to expense were $19.6 million
in 2007, $10.9 million in 2006 and $15.6 millior in 2005. These
amounts include $C.7 million and $1.1 million included in income
from discontinued operations on the accompanying consolidated
statements of income/lloss] for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively. The capitalized portion of operating lease payments
was approximately $10.5 million, $10 million and $9.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

Future minimum rental payments excluding executory costs, such as
property taxes, state use taxes, insurance, and maintenance, under
long-term noncancelable leases, at December 31, 2007 are as fotlows:

Capital (perating
[Miliions of Doltars] Leases Leases
2008 $ 35 $ 305
2009 3.4 215
2010 1.8 24.1
201 1.9 19.1
2012 20 14.5
Thereafter 17.4 47.3
Future minimum lease payments $30.2 $163.0
Less amount representing interest (15.5]

Present value of future minimum lease payments $14.7

In 2007, NU entered into certain contracts for the purchase of energy
that qualify as leases under Emerging Issues Task Force [EITF] No.
01-8, "Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease.”
These contracts de not have minimum lease payments and therefore
are not included in the table above. See Note 80, "Commitments and
Contingencies - Long-Term Contractual Arrangements,” for further
infermation regarding these contracts.
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12. Long-Term Debt

L.ong-term debt maturities and cash sinking fund requirements on
tlebt outstanding at December 31, 2007, for the years 2008 through
2012 and thereafter, which include fees and interest due for spent
nuclear fuel disposal costs, net unamortized premiums or discounts
and other fair value adjustments at December 31, 2007, are as follows
[millions of dollars):

Year
<008 $ 1543
2009 99.3
2010 43
2 4.3
202 2473
Thereafter 2,814.8
Fees and interest due for spent nuclear

fuel disposal costs 2943
Net unamortized premiums and discounts

and cther fair value adjustments [0.7)
Total $3,637.9

Essentially all utility plant of CL&P, PSNH and Yankee Gas is subject to
the liens of each company’s respective first mortgage bond indenture.

CL&P has $315.5 million of tax-exempt Pollution Control Revenue
Bonds (PCRBs] secured by second mortgage liens on transmission
assets, juntor to the liens of its first mortgage bond indentures.

PSNH has $89.3 million of MBIA-insured tax-exermpt PCRBs that are
remarketed in an auction rate mode every 35 days. In addition, CL&P
has $62 million of tax-exempt PCRBs secured by bond insurance and
first mortgage bonds. For financial reporting purposes, this debt is not
considered to be first mortgage bonds unless CL&P fails to meet its
obligations under the PCRBs.

PSNH entered into financing arrangements with the Business Finance
Authority {BFA) of the state of New Hampshire, pursuant (o which the
BFA issued five series of PCRBs and loaned the proceeds to PSNH. At
both Decermnber 31, 2007 and 2004, $407.3 million of the PCRBs were
outstanding. PSNH's obligation to repay each series of PCRBs is secured
hy first mortgage bonds and bend insurance as it applies to the 2001
Series A, B and C. Each such series of first mortgage bonds contains
similar terms and provisions as the applicable series of PCR8s. For
financial reporting purposes, these first mortgage bonds would not
be considered cutstanding unless PSNH failed to meet its obligations
under the PCRBs.

NU's long-term debt agreements provide that certain of its subsidiaries
must comply with certain financial and non-financial covenants as are
customarily included in such agreements, including but not limited to,
tlebt service coverage ratios and interest coverage ratics. The parties
to these agreements currently are and expect to remain in compliance
with these covenants.




The weighted average effective interest rate on PSNH's Series A variable-
rate pollution control notes was 3.87 percent for 2007 and 3.50 percent
for 2006. The CL&P pollution control note due in 2031 has an interest
rate of 3.35 percent effective through October 1, 2008, at which time
the bonds will be remarketed and the interest rate witl be adjusted.

Long-term debt - First Mortgage Bonds on the accompanying
consolidated statements of capitalization at December 31, 2007
includes the issuance of $500 million and $70 millicn at CL&P and
PSNH, respectively.

Other long-term debt - other on the accompanying consolidated
statements of capitalization at December 31, 2007 includes a senior
unsecured note issuance of $40 million at WMECQ and an unsecured
floating rate long-term debt issuance of $45 million at Yankee Gas.

For information regarding fees and interest due for spent nuclear fuel
disposal costs, see Note 8C, "Commitments and Centingencies -
Spent Nuctear Fuel Disposal Costs,” to the consolidated financial
statements.

The change in fair value totaling a pesitive $4.2 million and a negative
$6.5 million at December 31, 2007 angd 2006, respectively, on the
accompanying consolidated statements of capitalization, reflects the
NU parent 7.25 percent amortizing note, due 2012 in the amount of
$262 million that is hedged with a fixed to floating interest rate swap.
The change in fair value of the interest component of the debt was
recorded as an adjustment to long-term debt with an equal and
offsetting adjustment to derivative assets and liabilities for the change
in fair value of the fixed to floating interest rate swap.

13. Dividend Restrictions

NLF's ability to pay dividends is not regulated under the Federat Power
Act, but may be affected by certain siate statutes, the leverage restnction
tied to its ratio of consclidated total debt to total capitalization in its
revolving credit agreement and the ability of NU's subsidiaries to pay
dividends to it. The Federal Power Act limits the payment of dividends
by CL&P, PSNH and WMECQO to their retained earnings balances, and
PSNH is required to reserve an additional amount under its FERC
hydroelectric license cenditions. In addition, ceriain state statutes may
impose additional limitations on such companies and on Yankee Gas.
CL&P, PSNH, WMECO and Yankee Gas also have a revolving credit
agreement that imposes leverage restrictions, also including but not
limited to their ratios of consolidated total debt to total capitalization.
The $947 million retained earnings balance is subject to these teverage
restrictions. Approximately $11 mitlion of PSNH's retained earnings is
subject to restriction under its FERC hydroelectric license conditions.

14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/([Loss]
The accumulated balance for each other comprehensiva income/|loss],
net of tax, item is as follows:

Lurrent
‘ December 31, Periog  December 31,
[Millions of Dollars) 2004 Change 2007
Qualified cash flow hedging
instruments $5.9 $(3.4) $2.3
Unrealized gains cn securities 3.0 (0.1) 2.9
Pension, SERP and other
postretirement plans benefit
obligations [SFAS No. 158 (5.4] 8.6 4.2
Accumulated other
comprehensive income %45 $4.9 $9.4
Current
December 31. Perind  Cecember 31,
[Milligns of Dollars] 2005 Change 2006
Qualified cash flow hedging
instruments $18.2 $112.3) $5.9
Unrealized gains on securities 23 0.7 3.0
Minimum SERP liability (1] [0.9) 0.5 —

Pension, SERP and other
postretirement plans benefit
obligations [SFAS No. 158) - {4.4) (4.4]

Accumulated other

comprehensive income/{loss} $20.0 $[15.5) $4.5

{1) The 2006 change of $0.5 million related to the minimum SERP liability includes
$0.3 million to reduce the additional minimum SERP Liability before the adop-
tion of SFAS Na. 158 and $0.2 mitlion to reverse the remaining balance as part
of the adoption of SFAS No. 158. See Note 6A, "Employee Benefits - Pension
Benelits and Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,” for additional
information regarding the adoption of SFAS No. 158.

The chanées in the components of other comprehensive income/iloss)
are reported net of the foltowing income tax effects:

[Millions of Dollars} 2007 2006 2005
Cualified cash flow hedging

instruments $25 $ 69 $(13.4]
Unrealized gains on securities 0.1 (0.5] 0.6

Minimum SERP liabitity

Pension, SERP and other
postretirement plans benefit
obligations {SFAS No. 158) (9.8) 6.1 -

(03] (0.3]

Accumulated other

cormprehensive income/lloss) $17.2) $12.2 $£13.1]
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Fair value adjustments included in accumulated other comprehensive
income/lloss! for NU's qualified cash flow hedging instruments are as

follows:
At December 31,

(Millions of Doliars, Net of Tax) 2007 2006
Balance at beginning of year $5.9 $18.2
Hedged transactions recognized into earnings 0.2 23
Amount reclassified into earnings due to the

discontinuation of cash flow hedges — (14.1]
Change in fair value of hedged '

transactions delivered - (4.5)
Cash flow transactions entered intc far period (3.8 40
Net change associated with hedging transactions  (3.6) (12.3)
Total fair value adjustments included in ’

accumnulated other comprehensive income $2.3 $ 59

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, $0.2 million and
$2.3 million, respectively, net of tax, was reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive income into earnings in connection with the
consummation of interest rate swap agreements and the amortization
of existing interest rate hedges.

In December of 2007, NU parent, CL&F, PSNH and Yankee Gas each
entered into a forward interest rate swap agreement associated with their
respective pianned 2008 long-term debt issuances. As a result, $3.1
million, net of tax, was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
incorne with a corresponding pre-tax offset to derivative assets for the
fair value of the derivative instruments as of December 31, 2007. For
further information, see Note 5, "Derivative Instruments,” to the
consolidated financial statements.

In July of 2007, CL&P enterad into two forward interest rate swap
agreements to hedge the interest rates associated with $50 million of
its $100 million, 10-year fixed rate long-term debt issuance and with
$50 million of its $100 million, 30-year fixed rate long-term debt issuance.
Under the agreements, CL&P had a LIBCR swap rate of 5.718 percent
for the 10-year hedge and 5.865 percent for the 30-year hedge, both
based on the notional amounts of $50 million in long-term debt that
was issued in July of 2007. On July 16, 2007, the hedge was settled and
a net-of-tax charge of $4.7 million [$7.7 million pre-tax] was recorded
in accumulated other comprehensive inccme to be amortized into
earnings over the terms of the long-term debt. In addition, a net of tax
charge of $67 thousand [$110 thousand pre-tax] was recorded related
to ineffectiveness incurred upon termination of the hedge.

Also, in July of 2007, WMECO entered intc a forward interest rate swap
agreement to hedge the interest rate associated with its $40 millicn,
30-year fixed rate long-term debt issuance. Under the agreement,
WMECQ had a LIBOR swap rate of 5.882 percent based on the notional
amount of $40 mitlion in long-term debt that was issued in July cf 2007.
On August 15, 2007, the hedge was settled and a net of tax charge of
$0.6 million {$1 million pre-tax] was recorded in accumulated other
cemprehensive income o be amortized into earnings over the term of
the long-term debt.
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In February of 2007, CL&P entered into two forward interest rate swap
agreements to hedge the interest rates associated with $75 million of
its $150 million, 10-year fixed rate long-term debt issuance and with
$75 million of its $150 million, 30-year fixed rate long-term debt issuance.
Under the agreements, CL&P had a LIBOR swap rate of 5.229 percent
for the 10-year hedge and 5.349 percent for the 30-year hedge, both
based on the notionail amaounts of $75 million in long-term debt that
was issued in March of 2007. On March 27, 2007, the hedge was settled
and a net of tax charge of $1.6 million ($2.6 million pre-tax] was
recerded in accumulated other comprehensive income to be amortized
into earnings over the terms of the long-term debt.

'n March of 2006, CL&P entered inte a forward interest rate swap
agreement to hedge the interest rate associated with $125 million of
its planned $250 million, 30-year fixed rate long-term debt issuance.
Under the agreement, CL&P had a LIBOR swap rate of 5.322 percent
based on the notional amount of $125 million in long-term debt that
was issued in June of 2006. On June 1, 2006, the hedged transaction
was settled, and as a resuit $4.6 million, net of tax {$7.8 million
pre-tax], was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income
to be amortized into earnings over the term of the long-term debt.

In the first quarter of 2006, $14.1 million was reclassified from accu-
mulated other comprehensive income into earnings [and included

in other operation expenses| due to discontinuing cash flow hedge
accounting and the conclusion that the retail marketing contracts
hedged beyond June 1, 2006 were no longer probable of physical
delivery due to the retail business being sold.

It is estimated that a charge of $0.3 million will be reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive income as & decrease to earnings
over the next 12 months as a result of amortization of the interest
rate swap agreements which have been settled. This amount will be
impacted by the settlement of forward interest rate swap agreements.
At December 31, 2007, it is estimated that a pre-tax $0.1 million included
in the accumulated other comprehensive income balance will be
reclassified as an increase to earnings over the next 12 months related
te Pension, SERP and other postretirerent benefits adjustments.




15. Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share {EPS] is computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, excluding unallocated ESOP
shares, during each year. Diluted EPS is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding ptus the potential
dilutive effect if certain securities are converted into comman stock. In 20016 and 2005, 2,500 options and 1,122,541 options, respectively, were excluded
from the following table as these options were antidilutive. In 2007, there were no antidilutive options outstanding. The following table sets forth the
cornpenents of basic and diluted EPS:

{Millions of Datlars, except share information] 2007 2006 2005
income/lloss) from continuing operations ] $245.9 $132.9 $(256.9)
Income {rom discontinued operations 0.6 337.7 4.4
Income/lloss] before cumulative effect of accounting change 246.5 470.6 [252.5)
Cumulative eifect of accounting change, net of tax benefit - - 1.0
Net income/[loss} $246.5 $470.6 $1253.5]
Basic common shares outstanding (average) 154,759,727 153,767,527 131,638,953
Dilutive effect 544,634 379,142 N/A
Fully dituted common shares outstanding (average) 155,304,361 154,146,669 131,638,953
Basic EPS:

Income/[toss] from continuing operations $ 1.59 $ 0.86 $ 11.95)
Income from discontinued operations - 2.20 0.03
Cumutative effect of accounting change, net of tax benefit - - {0.01}
Net income/|loss) $ 1.59 $ 3.06 $ (1.93)
Fully Diluted EPS:

Income/floss! fram continuing operations $ 1.59 $ 0.86 $ [1.95)
Income from discontinued operations - 219 0.03
Curnulative effect of accounting change, net of tax benefit - - (0.01)
Net income/[loss) $ 1.59 $ 3.05 $ (1.93)

RSUs are included in basic commen shares outstanding when shares are both vested and issued. The dilutive effect of RSUs granted but not
issued is calculated using the treasury stock method. Assumed proceeds of RSUs under the treasury stock method consist of the remaining

compensation cost to be recognized and a theoretical tax benefit. The thearetical tax benefit is calculated as the tax impact of the intrinsic value
of the RSUs [the difference between the market value of RSUs using the average market price during the year and the grant date market valuel.

The dilutive effect of stock options is alse calculated using the treasury stock method. Assumed proceeds for stock options consist of remaining
compensation cost te be recognized, cash proceeds that would be received upon exercise, and a theoretical tax benefit. The theoretical tax
benefit is calculated as the tax impact of the intrinsic value of the stoci options [the difference between the market value of the average stock
aptions outstanding for the year using the average market price and the grant price].

Atlocated ESOP shares are inctuded in basic common shares cutstanding in the above table.
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16. Segment Information

Presentation: NU is organized between the requlated companies

and NU Enterprises businesses based on a combination of factors,
including the characteristics of each business products and services,
the sources of operating revenues and expenses and the regulatery
environment in which each segment aperates. Cash flows for total
investments in plant included in the segment information below are
cash capital expenditures that do not inciude amounts incurred but not
paid, cost of removal, AFUDC and the capitatized portion of pension
expense ar income. Segment informaticn for all years presented has
been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation, except
as indicated. ’

The regulated companies segment, including the electric distribution,
generation and transmission segments, as well as the gas distribu-
tion segment {Yankee Gas), represents approximately 99 percent, 87
percent and 75 percent of NU's total revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. CL&P's, PSNH's and
WMECO's complete consolidated financial statements are included in
NU's report on Form 10-K. PSNH’s distribution segment includes gen-
eration activities. Also included in NU's report on Form 10-K is detailed
infermation regarding CL&P’s, PSNH's, and WMECQO's transmission
segments.

At December 31, 2007, the NU Enterprises business segment includes
the following legal entities: 1] Select Energy [whalesale contractsl, 2|
NGS, 3] Boulos, and 4] NU Enterprises parent.

Other in the segment tables primarily consists of 1) the resulis of NU
parent, which includes other income retated to the equity in earnings
of NU parent’s subsidiaries and interest income frem the NU Money
Pool, which are both eliminated in consolidation, and interest income
and expense related to the cash and debt of NU parent, respectively, 2)
the revenues and expenses of NU's service companies, most of which
are eliminated in consolidation, and 3] the results of other subsidiaries,
which are comprised of the Rocky River Realty Company and the
Quinnehtuk Company [real estate subsidiaries], Mode 1 Communicaticns,
Inc. and the results of the non-energy-related subsidiaries of Yankee
Energy System, Inc. [Yankee Ener:gy Services Company, Yankee Energy
Financial Services Company, and NorConn Properties, Inc.].

Effective on January 1, 2007, financial infermation for the remaining
operations of HWP that were not exited as part of the sale of the
competitive generation business was included as part of the Other
reportable segment as these operations were no longer considered
part of NU Enterprises subsequent to the sale. Accordingly, HWP's
remaining operations have been presented as part of the Other
reportable segment for the year ended December 31, 2007,

As a result of the sale of NU Enterprises’ retail marketing and
competitive generation businesses, the financial infermation used

by managerment was reduced to the remaining wholesale contracts,
the operations of the remaining energy services businesses and NU
Enterprises parent. As a result of exiting these businesses in 2008,
the operations of NU Enterprises have been aggregated and presented
as one reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005.
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NU's consclidated staterments of incomef{loss) for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 present the operations for NGC,
including certain components of NGS, Mt. Tom, SESI, a portion of the
former Woods Electrical, SECI and Woods Network as discontinued
operations. For further information and information regarding the
exit from these businesses, see Note 3, "Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations,” to the consolidated financial staterments.

Intercompany Transactions: Total Select Energy revenues from CL&P
represented approximately $6.1 million and $53.4 million of total NU
Enterprises’ revenues for the years ended Decernber 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively. Total CL&P purchases from Select Energy retated to
nontraditional standard offer coniracts are eliminated in consolidation.
“here were no such transactions in 2007.

“otal Select Energy revenues from WMECO represenied $0.9 mitlion
and $36.3 million of total NU Enterprises” revenues for the years ended
(december 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Total WMECO purchases
from Select Energy are eliminated in consolidation. There were no
such transactions in 2007.

Select Energy purchases from NGC and Mt. Torn represented $160.7
million and $209.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2005, respectively. On November 1, 2006, NU completed the sale of its
00 percent ownership in NGC stock and Mt. Tom.

Customer Concentrations: Select Energy billings related to contracts
with NSTAR companies represented $296.7 milkion of total NU Enterprises’
hillings for the year ended December 31, 2005. There were no billings
to NSTAR for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2004. Select
Energy provided basic generation service in the New Jersey market
through 2007. In 2006 and 2005, Select Energy also provided service in
the Maryland market. Select Energy billings related to these contracts
represented $114.1 million, $404.4 million and $530 million for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, of total
NU Enterprises’ billings. No other individual customer represented in
excess of 10 percent of NU Enterprises’ billings for the years ended
[December 31, 2007, 2004 and 2005. As these contracts expire, billings
under g long-term contract with NYMPA will likely exceed 10 percent
of NU Enterprises’ billings in future periods.

Select Energy reported the settlement of all derivative contracts of
the wholesale marketing business, including full requirements sates
contracts and intercompany revenues, in fuel, purchased and net
interchange power. This net presentation is a result of applying mark-
lo-rarket accounting to those contracts due to the decision to exit the
wholesate marketing business.

Regulated companies revenues from the sale of electricity and natural
gas primarily are derived from residential, commercial and industrial
customers and are not dependent on any single customer.




NU's segment infermation for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows [some amounts may not agree between the
financial statements and the segment schedules due to rounding:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007
Regulated Companies

Distributicn [1)
U
[Millions of Dollars) Electric Gas_ Transmission Enterprises Other  Eliminations Totat
Operating revenues $4,930.8 $ 5144 $298.7 $97.7 % 3898 $ [408.9) $ 5.822.2
Restructuring and impairment charges - — - (0.2) — - (0.2]
Depreciation and amortization (428.5) (24.71 (37.4) (0.5 {16.7] 0.8 [507.0I
Other aperaling expenses 14,192.5] (437.11 (115.5) (77.7 (358.31 405.4 (4,775.5)
Operating income 309.8 52.3 145.8 19.3 14.8 (2.5) 539.5
Interest expense, net of AFUDC [167.9) 9.0l (36.7) (8.9] (33.31 25.4 1240.2)
Interest income 8.0 - 38 2.4 34.3 [26.8) 19.9
Other income, net 27.6 1.2 13.0 - 158.3 (158.4) 4.7
Income tax expense (47.9] 11.9) (41.8] (1.7} (3.0 13.1) 1109.4)
Preferred dividends (4.0 - (1.6 - - - [5.6)
Income from continuing operations 123.6 22.6 82.5 1.1 1711 [165.0) 245.9
Income from discontinued operations — - - 0.6 - — 0.6
Net income $ 1236 § 2246 $ 825 $11.7 % 1711 % {16500 $ 2465
Total assets 12] $9.977.1  $1,309.1 $ — $150.6  $4.154.3  $(4,009.3) $11,581.8
Cash flows for total investrments in plant (3) $ 3723 § 574 $668.9 $ 09 & 151 % — $ 11148
For the Year Ended December 31, 2006
Fegulated Companies
Distributicn 1)
KU
[Millions of Dollers) Electric Gas_ Transmission Enterprises Other  Eliminations Total
Operating revenues $52360 § 4539 $216.0 $901.8 % 355.0 $ 1385.00 % 6.877.7
Restructuring and impairment charges - — - (8.5 - — (8.5}
Depreciation and amortization (387.2] [22.7) (29.8) 10.7) (18.8) 14.1 [445.1})
Other operating expenses (4,652.5] (401.0] (93.6]  {1,068.3] (335.9] 363.2 (6.188.1}
Operating incomeflloss) 296.3 30.2 92.6 (175.7] 0.3 7.7 236.0
Interest expense, net of AFUDC (160.1] (15.5] [22.4) 126.9] (37.1] 248 (238.2)
Interest income B.4 - 04 5.1 328 (28.3) 18.4
Other income, net 319 1.4 6.8 0. 205.2 [199.5) £5.9
Income tax benefit/fexpensel 13.4 (3.2 (16.4] 78.1 5.0 [0.6] 76.3
Preferred dividends 14.3} - (1.2) - - - {5.5)
Income/{loss] frem continuing operations 185.% 11.9 59.8 (119.3) 206.2 (211.3) 132.9
Income from discontinued operations - - - 330.6 - 7.1 337.7
Met income $ 1856 § 119 $ 59.8 $211.3 % 2062 % (20621 $ 4704
Total assets (2] $9.223.3 $1.212.6 $ - $276.8 $5.100.2  %{4509.7) $11,303.2
Cash flows for total investments in plant (3 $ 3058 § 876 $430.9 $258 % 221 % - % 8722

i1

Includes PSNH generation activities.

[2] Informatien for segmenting total assets between electric distribution and trans mission is not available at December 31, 2007 and 20056. On a NU consolidated basis,
these distribution and transmission assets are disclosed in the electric distribt tion columns above.

(3

cost of removal, AFUDC, and the capitalized portion of pension expense or inccme.
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Regulated Companies

Distribution (1)
Nl

[Miltigns of Datiars) Electrie Cas  Trangmissign Enterprises Other Eliminationg Total
Operating revenues $4,836.5 $503.3 $167.5 $1.912.1 $353.0 $(426.2) $7.346.2
Restructuring and impairment charges — - - (36.1} - - [36.1)
Depreciation and amortization (549.2] (22.0) 124.0) (4.7 (17.8] 13.6 (604.1)
Other operating expenses (4,012.8) [441.7) 80.7)  12.494.8) (355.1) 4269 (6,958.2]
Operating incorme/(loss) 274.5 39.6 62.8 [623.5) (19.9] 14.3 (252.2)
Interest expense, net of AFUDC [169.5) 17.1) 115.0) (17.8] [34.9] 15.7 (238.6)
Interest income 3.6 0.3 0.6 49 17.0 {19.2) 7.2
Other income, net 41.7 0.6 4.6 0.4 150.6 {152.5) 474
Income tax [expensel/benefit 141.1) 16.1) (12.5] 234.4 18.4 (8.2) 184.9
Preferred dividends (4.2) - [1.4] — - - (5.6]
Income/(loss) from continuing operations 105.0 17.3 411 [501.8) 131.2 (149.9] (256.9)
Income from discontinued operations - - — 4.4 - — 4.4
Income/{loss] before eumulative

effect of accounting change 105.0 17.3 411 (397.2) 131.2 (149.9] (252.5)
Cumulative effect of accounting

change, net of tax benefit - - - {1.0] - — (1.0
Net income/{loss] $ 105.0 $ 173 L AR $ 1398.2) $131.2 $0149.9) % (253.5)
Cash flows for total investments in plant i2) $ 4009 $ T4b $247.0 $ 232 % 297 T — % 7794

[i] Includes PSNH generation activities.

[2] Cash flows for total investments in plant included in the segment information above are cash capital expenditures that do not include amounts incurred but not paid,
cost of removal, AFUDC, and the capitalized portion of pension expense or income.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarter Ended (a) (b]

(Thousands of Dollars. except per share information) Maich 31. June J0. September 30, +Jecember 31,
2007
Operating Ravenues $1,703,518 $1,391,771 $1,450,978 $1,275,959
Operating Income 155,733 114,808 123,340 143,580
Income fram Cantinuing Operations 76,407 46,012 50,182 73,295
(Loss)/incame from Discontinued Operations 1,313 2,541 (58] (583)
Net Incorne 75,094 48,553 50,124 72,712
Basic Earnings/[Loss] Per Common Share:

Income from Continuing Operations $ 050 % 030 $ 032 % 0.47

[Loss)/Income from Discontinued Operations (0.01) 0.01 — —

Net tncome $ 049 $ 031 $ 032 $ 0.47
Fully Diluted Earnings/{Loss| Per Comman Share:

Income {rom Continuing Operations $ 0.49 % 0.30 $ 032 % 0.47

[Lossl/Income from Discontinued Operations (0.01} 0.01 - -

Net income $ 048 $ 1 I3 032 % 0.47
2006
Operating Revenues $£2,143599 $1,65%9.671 $1,590,982 $1,483,435
Operating Incorme 7,079 76,194 79.331 73,365
[Less)/Income from Continuing Operations (20,389} 15,353 104,429 33,543
Income from Discontinued Operations 10,283 6,889 7.020 313,450
Net [Lossl/Income (10,106} 22,242 111,449 346,993
Basic [Lossl/Earnings Per Common Share:

ILosslfincome from Continuing Operations % 0.14] $ 0.10 % 067 % 0.22

income from Discontinued Operations 0.07 0.04 0.05 203

Net [Loss)/income $ (0.07] $ 014 % 072 % 2.25
Fully Diluted [Loss)/Earnings Per Common Share:

(Loss)/Income from Continuing Operations $ 0.14] $ 010 % 067 % 0.2

Income from Discontinued Operations 0.07 0.04 0.05 203

Met [Loss)/Income $ (0.07] % 0.14 % 072 % 2.24

lal The summation of quarterly EPS data may not equal annual data due to rounding.

[b] Amounts differ irom those previously reported as a result of SECI meeting the c¢riteria requiring discontinued operation presentation in the fourth quarter of 2007.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, NU determined that there was an error in certain assumptions supporting the initial FIN 48 adoption amounts
recorded in the first quarter of 2007. The correction of the error resulted in the increase of the initial retained earnings reduction amount from
$32.5 million to $41.8 million. This correction of the initial FIN 48 adcption accounting, which also affected certain liability balances reported
in prior interim periods, did not have an effect on the income tax provision for 2007 and did not have a material impact on NU's consolidated
financial statements far the quarterly periads ending March 31, 2007, June 30, 2007 and September 30, 2007,
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

{Thousands of Dollars, except percentages and share information) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Balance Sheet Data:
Preperty, Plant and Equipment, Net $ 7,229945 $ 6242186 % 6417230 % 584161 % 5429916
Total Assets 11,581,822 11,303,236 12,567,875 11,638,394 11,216,487
Tota! Capitalization [a] 6,667,920 5,879,691 5,295,405 5,293,644 4,926,587
Obligattons Under Capital Leases la) 14,743 14,425 13.987 14,806 15,938
fncome Data:
QOperating Revenues $ 5822226 $ 6877687 $ 7346226 % 6,480,684 $ 5.897.074
Income/[Loss] from Continuing Operations 245,876 132,936 [256,903) 70,423 77,105
Income from Discontinued Operations 587 337,642 4,620 46,165 44,047
Income/(Loss! Before Cumulative Effects of
Accounting Changes, Net of Tax Benefits 246,433 - 470,578 {252,483 116,588 121,152
Cumulative Effects of Accounting Changes,
Net of Tax Benefits — - (1.005) — {4,741]
Net {ncome/|Loss) $ 266483 $ 470578 % [253,488] $ 116588 0§ 116417
Common Share Data:
Basic Earnings/[Loss| Per Comman Share:
Income/{Loss) from Continuing Cperations 3 159 % 0.8 % 1951 % 055 % 0.61
Income from Discontinued Operations - 2.20 0.03 0.36 0.34
Cumulative Effects of Accounting Changes,
Net of Tax Benefits - - (0.01] - [0.04}
Net Income/[Loss] $ 159 % 306 % 1930 % 091 % 0.91
Fully Diluted Earnings/[Loss) Per Common Share:
Income/(Loss] from Continuing Operations $ 159 % 08 % [1.95] % 055 % 0.61
Income from Discontinued Cperations — 2.19 0.03 0.3 0.34
Cumulative Effects of Acceunting Changes,
Net of Tax Benefits - - [0.01} — {0.04)
Net Income/[Loss) $ 159 § 305 % .53 $ 091 % 0.91
Basic Common Shares Qutstanding (Average] 154,799,727 153,767,527 131,638,953 128,245,860 127,114,743
Fully Diluted Comman Shares Outstanding [Averagel 155,304,361 154,146,669 131,638,953 128,396,076 127,240,724
Dividends Per Share % 0.78 % 073 % 0.68 §% 0.63 % 0.58
Market Price - Closing [highl [b) $ 3353 % 2881 % 2179 % 2010 % 20.17
Market Price - Closing [low) [b) $ 2693 % 1924 % 1761 % 1730 % 13.38
Market Price - Closing lend of year] (o) $ nn % 2816 % 1969 % 1885 % 207
Book Value Per Share [end of year] % 18.79 % 18.14 % 585 % 1780 % 17.73
Tangible Book Value Per Share [end of year] $ 1693 § 1628 % 1398 % 1517 % 15.05
Rate of Return Earned on Average Common Equity (%) 8.6 18.0 [10.7] 5.1 5.2
Market-to-Book Ratio [end of year] 1.7 1.6 1.2 1.1 11
Capitalization:
Commcn Shareholders” Equity 44% 48% 43% 44% 46%
Preferred Stock 2 2 2 2 2
Long-Term Debt (a) 54 50 55 54 52
100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

lal Includes portions due within one year, but excludes rate reduction bonds.

[bl Market price information reflects closing prices as reflected by the New York Stock E.cchange.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED SALES STATISTICS (UMAUDITED)

2007 2004 20065 2004 2003
Revenues: [Thousands]
Regulated companies:
Residential $2,558,547 $2,409.414 $2.080,395 $1,707.434 $1.669,199
Cormmercial 1,735,923 1,977 444 1,727,278 1,429,608 1,411,881
Industrial 412,381 589,742 577,834 513,999 514,076
Wholesate 392,675 388,635 411,364 344,254 405,120
Streetlighting and Railreads 45,880 52,853 47,769 41,978 44,977
Miscellaneous and eliminations 84,043 133,925 159,402 143,431 [61,564]
Total Electric 5,229,449 5,952,013 5,004,039 4,180,702 3.983.689
Total Gas 514,185 453,894 503,303 407,812 361,470
Total - Regulated companies $5,743,634 $6,005,907 $5,507,342 $4,588,514 $4,345,159

NU Enterprises:

Retail $ - % 583.829 $1.212.176 $ B57,355 % 460,145
Wholesale 25,992 20,163 644,541 1,722,403 1.684 448
Generation — 258,178 210,833 196,191 185,493
Services 68,324 39,887 102,327 117.500 26,963
Miscellaneous and eliminations 3,354 {243) [257.750) [245,745) (223,440
Total - NU Enterprises $ 97470 $ 901,814 $£1,912,127 $2.647.904 $2.403,609
Other miscellaneous and eliminations (19,078) [30,034) [73,243) (755,734) (851,694)
Totat $5,822,226 $6,877 687 $7,346,226 $6,480,4684 $5.897.074
Requlated campanies - Sales: [KWH - Millions)

Residential 15,051 14,652 15,518 14,866 14,824
Commercial 15,103 14,886 15,234 14,710 14,471
Industrial 5,635 5,750 6.023 6,274 6,223
Wholesale 3,855 8,777 4,855 5.787 6,813
Streetlighting and Railroads 353 332 348 348 348
Total 39.997 44397 41,979 41,985 42,679
Regulated companies - Custormers: [Average

Residential 1,697,073 1,686,169 1,674,563 1,659,419 1,631,582
Commercial 189,727 188,281 195,844 194,233 186,792
Industriat 7.291 7,406 7.638 7,792 7.644
Streetlighting and Railroads 3,855 3,873 3912 3,930 3.858
Total Electric 1,897,946 1,885,729 1,881,957 1,865,334 1,829,876
Gas 202,743 199,377 196,870 194,212 192,816
Total 2,100,689 2,085,106 2,078,827 2,059,546 2,022,692
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TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS AS CF FEBRUARY 29, 2008

Northeast Utilities Trustees

Richard H. Booth

Chairman, HSB Group, Inc., a specialty
insurer and reinsurer, and Chairman,
Hartford Steam Boiler Inspection &
Insurance Company, a provider of
insurance and engineering services
and investments

Cotton M. Cleveland
President, Mather Associates,
a leadership and development
consulting firm

Sanford Cloud, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
The Cloud Company, LLC

James F. Cordes
Retired. Former Executive Vice
President, The Coastal Corporation

E. Gail de Plangque
President, Strategy Matters, tnc..
a consulting firm

John G. Graham
Retired; Former Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer, GPU, Inc.

Elizabeth T. Kennan

President Emeritus,

Mount Holycke College and Partner,
Cambus-Kenneth Farm

Kenneth R. Leibler
Founding Partner, Boston Options
Exchange

Robert E. Patricelli

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Women's Health USA, Inc., a provider
of women's health care services,

and Evolution Benefits, Inc., a pravider
of payment services for consumer-
directed benefits

Charles W. Shivery

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer,
Northeast WMilities

John F. Swope

Attorney

Northeast Utilities Officers

Charles W. Shivery

Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Dfficer

Leon J. Olivier

Executive Vice President - Operations

Gregory B. Butler

Senior Vice President and
Generat Counsel

David R. McHale

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Kerry J. Kuhtman

Vice President and Secretary

Shirley M. Payne
Vice President - Accounting and
Controtler

Randy A. Shoop
Vice President and Treasurer

0. Kay Comendul
Assistant Secretary

Patricia C. Cosgel
Assistant Treasurer - Finance

Northeast Utilities Service
Company Officers

Charles W. Shivery

Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer

Leon J. Olivier

Executive Vice President - Operations

Gregory B. Butler

Senior Vice President and

General Counsel

David R. McHale

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

James A. Muntz

Senior Vice President - Transmission

James B. Robb
Senior Vice President -
Enterprise Planning and Development

Michael F. Ahern
Vice President - Utility Services

Laurie E. Aylsworth
Vice President - Transmission
Projects, Engineering and Maintenance

David H. Boguslawski
Vice President - Transmissign
Strategy and Operations

Cameron M. Bready
Vice President - Finance

Peter J. Clarke
Vice President - Shared Services

Jeffrey R. Kotkin

Vice President - Investor Relations
Kerry J. Kuhlman

Yice President and Secretary

Jean M. LaVecchia
Vice President - Human Resources

Margaret L. Morton

Vice President - Governmental Affairs
Shirley M. Payne

Vice President - Accounting and
Controller

Paul E. Ramsey

Vice President - Customer Service
Integration

Randy A. Shoop

Vice President and Treasurer

Lisa J. Thibdaue

Vice President - Requiatory and
Governmental Affairs

Marie T. van Luling

Vice President - Communications
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Etectric & Gas Operating
Company Officers

CL&P - The Connecticut Light
and Power Company

PSNH - Public Service Company
of New Hampshire

WMECO - Western
Massachusetts Electric
Company

‘fankee - Yankee Gas Services
Company

Charles W. Shivery
Chairman, CL&P, PSNH, WMECO
and Yankee

l.eon J. Olivier
Chief Executive Officer, CL&P, PSNH,
WMECO and Yankee

Gary A. Long
President and Chief Operating Officer,
PSNH

Raymond P. Necci
President and Chief Operating Officer,
CL&P and Yankee

Redney 0. Powell

President and Chief Operating Officer,
'WMECO

i3regory B. Butler

Senior Vice President and General
Counsel, CL&P, PSNH, WMECO
and Yankee

David R. McHale

3enior Vice President and Chief
rinancial Officer, CL&P, PSNH,
'WMECO and Yankee

James A. Muntz

Senior Vice President - Transmission
CL&P, PSNH and WMECO

‘aurie E. Aylsworth

‘fice President - Transmission
Projects, Engineering and
Maintenance, CL&P, PSNH
and WMECQO

Javid H. Boguslawski
Yice President - Transmission

Strategy and Operations, CL&P, PSNH

and WMECO

Xenneth B. Bowes

/ice President - Customer O,r;erations.
CL&P and Yankee

2eter J. Clarke
ice President - Shared Services,
CL&P, PSNH, WMECO and Yankee

4erry J. Kuhlman

Vice President and Secretary, CL&P,
PSNH and Yankee; Vice President,
Secretary and Clerk, WMECQ

Jana L. Louth

vice President - Energy Delivery
Services, CL&P and Yankee
John M. MacDonald

Vice President - Energy Delivery and
Generation, PSNH

Shirley M. Payne

Vice President - Accounting and
Controller, CL&P, PSNH, WMECO
and Yankee

William J. Quinlan

Vice President - Field Maintenance,
CL&P and Yankee

Randy A. Shoop

Vice President and Treasurer,
CL&P, PSNH, WMECO and Yankee

Competitive Company
Officers

NUEI - NU Enterprises, Inc.
Select - Select Energy, Inc.
Richard J. Cohen

President and Secrelary,
NUEI and Select
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Northeast Utilities

Northeast Utilities operates New England’s largest energy delivery
system with approximately 1.9 million electric customers in
Connecticut, New Hampshire and Massachusetts and approximately
200,000 natural gas custemers in Connecticut. NU is the parent
company of several companies, including the fotlowing public
utility companies: The Cennecticut Light and Power Comgaoy,
Public Service Company of New Hampshire, Western Massachuselts
Electric Comnpany and Yankee Gas Services Company.

Shareholders

As of February 29, 2008, there were 47,633 common shareholders
of record of Nertheast Utitities holding an aggregate of 155,325,594
cornmon shares.

Common Share Information

The common shares of Northeast Utilities are listed on the Hew
York Stock Exchange. The ticker symbol is "NU; although it s
frequently presented as "Noeast Util” and/or "NE Util” in various
financiat publications. The high and low daily closing prices and
dividends paid for the past two years, by quarters, are showr in
the chart below.

Quarterly Dividend

Year Guarter High Low per Share

2007 Fourth $32.83 $27.98 $0.20
Third $29.42 $26.93 $0.20
Second $33.53 $27.37 $0.1875
First $32.77 $27.40 $0.1875

2004 Fourth $28.81 $23.38 $0.1875
Third $23.57 $20.84 $0.1875
Second $20.97 $19.24 $0.175
First $20.21 $19.25 $0.175

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The Bank of New Yark
Sharecwner Services

480 Washington Boulevard
Jersey City, NJ 07310-1700
1-800-999-72469

Investor Relations
You can contact our Investor Relations Department:

Jeffrey Kotkin: 860-665-5154
Barbara MNieman: B40-4665-3249
www.nu.com/investors

Shareholder Account Access

We have partnered with BNY Mellon Shareowner Services to offer
you enline access to your important shareowner communicaZions in
a single secure place. As an Investor ServiceDirect® (ISDJ registered
user, you may also enroll in MLinkS™, which offers you immediate
online access to your shareowner correspondence. Simply log in

to ISD at www.hnymetlon.com/sharecwner/fisd. Step by step
instructions will prompt you through guick and easy enrollment.
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Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Northeast Utilities offers a dividend reinvestment plan called
BuyDIRECT. This plan is sponsored by the stock transfer agent
and not only offers the reinvestment of dividends but provides both
registered shareholders and interested first-time investors an
affordable alternative for buying and selling NU shares. To request
an enrollment package, please call 1-800-999-72469 or log on to
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd.

Direct Deposit for Quarterly Dividends

Direct deposit provides the convenience of automatic and
immediate access to yeur funds, while eliminating the possibility
of mail delays and lost, stolen or destroyed checks. This service
is free of charge to you. Please call 1-800-999-7249 to request
an enrollment form.

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Northeast Utilities will be
held at 10:00 a.m. on May 13, 2008, at the offices of Public Service
Company of New Hampshire, Energy Park, 780 No. Commercial
Street, Manchester, New Hampshire, 03101.

Compliance with New York Stock Exchange Corporate
Governance Rules

The Company’s Annuat Repori on Form 10-K for 2007 contained the
certifications required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, and on June 7, 2007, the Cornpany’s Chief Executive Officer
provided the New York Stock Exchange with the reguired annual
written certification that he was not aware of any violations by the
Company of the Exchange's corporate gevernance listing standards.

Form 10-K

Northeast Utilities will provide shareholders a copy of its 2007

Annual Report on Foerm 10-K, including the financial statements
and schedules thereto, without charge, upon receipt of a written
request sent to: !

0. Kay Comendul

Assistant Secretary

Northeast Utilities

P.0. Box 270

Hartford, Connecticut 06141-0270

Option to receive your annual report and proxy
materials electronically

In 2005, NU shareholders approved a change to the Declaration of
Trust which allows us to offer electronic delivery of annual meeting
materials. Shareholders interested in this option may log on to
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd. It would be helpful to have
your NU Investor 1D number on hand when you go online. Your
Investor ID number can be found on the correspondence recently
mailed to you by The Bank of Mew York or by calling 1-800-999-7269.
NU will donate $5 to The American Chestnut Feundation, an
organization devoted to restoring the American Chestnut tree to
our forests, for every registered shareholder who signs up for
electronic delivery of cur 2009 annual meeting materials.
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